





APPLIED ECONOMICS CONFERENCE: LABOUR, HEALTH, EDUCATION AND WELFARE









APPLIED ECONOMICS CONFERENCE: LABOUR, HEALTH, EDUCATION AND WELFARE

BOOK OF ABSTRACTS

Editors

Lara Lebedinski Dejana Pavlović Sunčica Vujić

International scientific conference: APPLIED ECONOMICS CONFERENCE: LABOUR, HEALTH, EDUCATION AND WELFARE

> October 28-29, 2021 Belgrade, Serbia

Publisher:

Institute of Economic Sciences

Zmaj Jovina 12, Belgrade, Serbia Tel. (+381 11) 2622-357, 2623-055 Fax. (+381 11) 2181-471 www.ien.bg.ac.rs office@ien.bg.ac.rs

For publisher: Dr Jovan Zubović, Director

Printed by Donat Graf, Belgrade

Circulation 80

Image on the cover page: Designed by Stefan Jelić Mariokov

ISBN 978-86-89465-59-4

This Book of Abstracts is co-financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of Republic of Serbia.

Copyright© 2021 by Institute of Economic Sciences Belgrade. All rights reserved.

SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE

- Lara Lebedinski, PhD, President of the Scientific Committee, Institute of Economic Sciences. Serbia
- **Dejana Pavlović, PhD**, Vice-President of Scientific Committee, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia
- **Sunčica Vujić, PhD**, Vice-President of Scientific Committee, University of Antwerp, Belgium
- Marianna Battaglia, PhD, University of Alicante, Spain
- Dragan Bjelica, PhD, Faculty of Organization Sciences, Serbia
- Mihajlo Đukić, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia
- Gunes Gokmen, PhD, Lund University, Sweden
- **Giuseppe Migali, PhD**, Lancaster University and Magna Graecia University, UK and Italy
- Annaïg Morin, PhD, Copenhagen Business School, Denmark
- Ognjen Obućina, PhD, Institut national d'études démographiques, France
- Kosovka Ognjenović, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia
- Dragan Stanojević, PhD, Institute for Sociological Research, Serbia
- Marko Vladisavljević, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia
- Jovan Zubović, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia

ORGANIZING COMMITTEE

- Marija Antonijević, MA, President of the Organizing Committee, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia
- Jelena Banović, MA, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia
- Valentina Vukmirović, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Serbia

Contents

Parallel Sessions I	7
Stream A: Labour 1	7
Stream B: Welfare - Family, Children and Social Expenditures	15
Stream C: COVID-19 and NEET in Western Balkans	29
Parallel Sessions II	43
Stream A: Interventions in Education and Returns to Education	43
Stream B: Labour 2	55
Stream C: Welfare, Institutions and Policies	67
Parallel Sessions III	81
Stream A: Health and Labour 1	81
Stream B: Youth and Low-skilled Labour Markets	93
Stream C: Education (or the lack of thereof) and the Labour Marke Western Balkans	
Parallel Sessions IV	121
Stream A: Gender Differences	121
Stream B: Immigration and Discrimination	141
Parallel Sessions V	151
Stream A: Infant Health and Child Developement	151
Stream B: Health and Labour 2	163
Stream C: Health and Inequality in Western Ralkans	175

Stream A: Labour 1

DIGNITY BY DECREE? THE OCCUPATIONAL CONSEQUENCES OF ITALY'S TEMPORARY JOBS REFORM

Marco Guido Palladino¹

Sciences Po (Department of Economics), Paris, France

Matteo Sartori²

CEMFI, Madrid, Spain

MOTIVATION

Temporary employment contracts are controversial: supporters claim that they provide sizable employment gains; detractors maintain that they constitute a precarious form of work. Moreover, temporary contracts are used with different frequency across different social and gender groups, thereby contributing to some key dimensions of social inequality. We study the Dignity Decree (D.D.), a first-inits-kind 2018 reform that increased the strictness of temporary jobs regulation in Italy.

POLICY RELEVANCE

When during the 1980s and '90s unemployment rates started to pick up in many European countries, policymakers in these countries started to reform their body of Employment Protection Legislation (EPL). Rather than embarking in the politically costly endeavor of reforming the legislation covering permanent employment contracts, many governments opted for facilitating the use of temporary employment contracts. The D.D. is the first reform to invert this long trend of labor market liberalizations in Europe.

¹ E-mail address: marco.palladino@sciencespo.fr

² E-mail address: matteo.sartori@cemfi.edu.es

RESEARCH QUESTIONS

Context Specific:

Did the D.D. cause the switch from temporary to permanent starting in 2018? Who are the winners and losers of the policy?

How did the different policy levers affect the observed outcomes?

Counterfactuals:

Do regulatory interventions that go in opposite directions have specular effects?

Would such a reform produce similar effects during a different phase in the business cycle?

METHODOLOGY

We produce reduced form evidence of the policy effects using a regression model. We rely on an event-study design with a continuous treatment: running different regressions for different contract types, we compared the change in our outcomes (gross and net labor flows, turnover, ...) for firms that were more exposed to the policy to those firms that were less exposed. We measured policy exposure using long-run reliance on temporary employment in the years up to 2017.

RESULTS

Higher exposure to the D.D. triggered lower gross hiring and lower net employment flows for temporary contracts and a parallel increase in employment flows for permanent contracts, driven principally by a surge in conversions from temporary to permanent contracts in the aftermath of the policy intervention. We document larger slowdown in total employment growth for the high-exposure group of firms, which does however not appear large enough to bring overall occupational growth into negative territory.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes to two main strands of literature. First, it adds to the restricted set of works studying the effects of partial employment protection reforms, that is, interventions on labor market flexibility enacted only through changes in the regulation of temporary contracts. Second, it links with the very

broad set of works on two-tier labor markets, which concentrates on the divide between temporary and permanent jobs and the effects of this divide for different groups of workers.

KEY WORDS

Labor market structure, employment creation, temporary jobs, employment protection legislation

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J08, J41, J48, J63

- 1. Bentolila, S., Dolado, J. J., & Jimeno, J. F. (2020). Dual Labor Markets Revisited. *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Economics and Finance*. February, 1–34. doi: 10.1093/acrefore/9780190625979.013.502.
- 2. Blanchard, O., & Landier, A. (2002). The perverse effects of partial labour market reform: fixed-term contracts in France. *The Economic Journal*, *112*(480), F214-F244. doi: 10.1111/1468-0297.00047.
- 3. Boeri, T., & Garibaldi, P. (2007). Two tier reforms of employment protection: a honeymoon effect?. *The Eonomic Journal*, *117*(521), F357-F385. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0297.2007.02060.x.
- 4. Booth, Alison L., Francesconi, M., & Frank, J. (2002). Temporary Jobs: Stepping Stones or Dead Ends?. *The Economic Journal*, 112(480), F189–F213. doi:10.1111/1468-0297.00043.
- 5. Cahuc, P., Charlot, O., & Malherbet, F. (2016). Explaining the spread of temporary jobs and its impact on labor turnover. *International Economic Review*, *57*(2), 533-572. doi: 10.1111/iere.12167.
- 6. Cahuc, P., Charlot, O., Malherbet, F., Benghalem, H., & Limon, E. (2020). Taxation of temporary jobs: good intentions with bad outcomes?. *The Economic Journal*, *130*(626), 422-445. doi: 10.1093/ej/uez062.
- 7. Cappellari, L., Dell'Aringa, C., & Leonardi, M. (2012). Temporary employment, job flows and productivity: A tale of two reforms. *The Economic Journal*, *122*(562), F188-F215. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0297.2012.02535.x.
- 8. Daruich, D., Di Addario, S., & Saggio, R. (2020). The effects of partial employment protection reforms: Evidence from Italy. Development Working Papers 463. Centro Studi Luca d'Agliano, University of Milano.
- 9. Faccini, R. (2014). Reassessing labour market reforms: Temporary contracts as a screening device. *The Economic Journal*, *124*(575), 167-200. doi: 10.1111/ecoj.12072.
- 10. Saint-Paul, G. (1996). Dual labor markets: a macroeconomic perspective. MIT press.

11. Sestito, P., & Viviano, E. (2018). Firing costs and firm hiring: evidence from an Italian reform. *Economic Policy*, *33*(93), 101-130. doi: 10. 1093/epolic/eix018.

THE IMPACT OF ROBOTS ON LABOUR MARKET TRANSITIONS IN EUROPE

Ronald Bachmann¹

Rheinisch-Westfälisches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung (RWI), Essen, Germany

Myrielle Gonschor²

Rheinisch-Westfälisches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung (RWI), Essen, Germany

Piotr Lewandowski³

Institute for Structural Research (IBS), Warsaw, Poland

Karol Madon⁴

Institute for Structural Research (IBS), Warsaw, Poland

MOTIVATION

In 2000-2016 robot intensity, measured by the number of robots per 1000 workers, has quadrupled in Europe. In high-income countries, robot adoption increased GDP, labour productivity and wages. It has also ignited fears of job losses. The evidence is mixed: robot adoption had negative effects on the employment in the US, but in Germany the decline in manufacturing employment was offset by an increase in the service sector. The reasons for such cross-country differences remain largely unexplored.

RESEARCH QUESTION

What is the effect of increased robot exposure on job separation and job finding rates in European countries? Which factors can explain the cross-country variation in the effects of robots (labour costs, institutions)? Which worker groups are particularly affected?

METHODOLOGY

As robot adoption may be endogenous to economic conditions in a sector/country we use control function approach. We instrument robot exposure in particular

¹ E-mail address: bachmann@rwi-essen.de

² E-mail address: myrielle.gonschor@rwi-essen.de

³ E-mail address: piotr.lewandowski@ibs.org.pl

⁴ E-mail address: karol.madon@ibs.org.pl

country and sector with the average robot exposure in the same industries in other Western European countries in our sample. Instrument is standardized by 1995 employment levels to provide additional exogeneity.

RESULTS

First, robot adoption had a significant but small, negative effect on the probability of job separations and small, positive effect on the probability of job findings in EU countries. Second, the effects of robot adoption are the most pronounced among workers in occupations intensive in non-routine manual tasks. Third, we find a noticeable cross-country heterogeneity of the effects of robot adoption on the probability of job separations in countries at various development level.

CONTRIBUTION

First, we focus on labour market flows, rather than employment stocks. This is a vital aspect of the labour-market effects of robots, as both job security and unemployment duration (proxied by the transition rates) are crucial determinants of the well-being of workers. Second, we are able to identify the effect of robotization at the individual level for a large number of European countries. Third, differences in labour costs and institutions can explain cross-country differences to an extent.

KEY WORDS

Robots, technological change, tasks, labour market effects

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J24, O33, J23

- Acemoglu, D., & Autor, D. (2011). Skills, Tasks and Technologies: Implications for Employment and Earnings. In: Card, D., Ashenfelter, O. (Eds.), Handbook of Labor Economics. 1043–1171.
- 2. Acemoglu, D., Lelarge, C., Restrepo, P. (2020). Competing with Robots: Firm-Level Evidence from France. AEA Papers and Proceedings, *110*, 383–388.
- 3. Acemoglu, D., Restrepo, P. (2019). Robots and Jobs: Evidence from US Labor Markets. *Journal of Political Economy*, *128*, 2188–2244.

- Acemoglu, D., Autor, D. (2011). Skills, Tasks and Technologies: Implications for Employment and Earnings. In: Card, D., Ashenfelter, O. (Eds.), Handbook of Labor Economics. 1043–1171.
- 5. Acemoglu, D., Lelarge, C., & Restrepo, P. (2020). Competing with Robots: Firm-Level Evidence from France. AEA Papers and Proceedings, *110*, 383–388.
- 6. Acemoglu, D., & Restrepo, P. (2019). Robots and Jobs: Evidence from US Labor Markets. *Journal of Political Economy*, *128*, 2188–2244.
- 7. Bachmann, R., Baumgarten, D., & Stiebale, J. (2014). Foreign direct investment, heterogeneous workers and employment security: Evidence from Germany. *Canadian Journal of Economics/Revue canadienne d'économique*, 47, 720–757.
- 8. Bachmann, R., & Felder, R. (2020). Labour market transitions, shocks and institutions in turbulent times: a cross-country analysis. *Empirica*.
- 9. Blanchard, O., & Wolfers, J. (2000). The Role of Shocks and Institutions in the Rise of European Unemployment: the Aggregate Evidence. *The Economic Journal*, 110, 1–33.
- 10. Dauth, W., Findeisen, S., Suedekum, J., & Woessner, N. (2021). The Adjustment of Labor Markets to Robots. *Journal of the European Economic Association*.
- 11. de Vries, G.J., Gentile, E., Miroudot, S., & Wacker, K.M. (2020). The rise of robots and the fall of routine jobs. *Labour Economics*, *66*, 101885.
- 12. Domini, G., Grazzi, M., Moschella, D., & Treibich, T. (2020). Threats and opportunities in the digital era: Automation spikes and employment dynamics. *Research Policy*, 104137.
- 13. Ebenstein, A., Harrison, A., McMillan, M., & Phillips, S. (2014). Estimating the Impact of Trade and Offshoring on American Workers Using the Current Population Surveys. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 581–595.
- Goos, M., Manning, A., & Salomons, A. (2014). Explaining Job Polarization: Routine-Biased Technological Change and Offshoring. *American Economic Review*, 104, 2509–2526.
- 15. Graetz, G., & Michaels, G. (2018). Robots at Work. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 100, 753–768.
- 16. Klenert, D., Fernandez-Macias, E., & Anton, J.-I. (2020). Do robots really destroy jobs? Evidence from Europe (No. 2020–01), JRC Working Papers on Labour, Education and Technology.
- 17. Koch, M., Manuylov, I., & Smolka, M. (2019). Robots and firms (No. 7608), CESifo Working Paper Series.
- 18. Lewandowski, P., Keister, R., Hardy, W., & Górka, S. (2020). Ageing of routine jobs in Europe. *Economic Systems*, *44*, 100816.
- 19. Visser, J. (2019). ICTWSS: Database on institutional characteristics of trade unions, version 6.0, wage setting, state intervention and social pacts in 34 countries between 1960 and 2018. Amsterdam, Netherlands: University of Amsterdam.

20. Wang, Z., Wei, S.-J., Yu, X., & Zhu, K. (2017(. Measures of Participation in Global Value Chains and Global Business Cycles, NBER working paper series. National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, Mass.

Stream B: Welfare - Family, Children and Social Expenditure

PARENTAL TIME INVESTMENTS AND INSTANTANEOUS WELL-BEING IN THE UNITED STATES

Steven J. Bosworth¹

University of Reading, Reading, UK

Almudena Sevilla²

University College London, London, UK

J. Ignacio Gimenez-Nadal³

University of Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

MOTIVATION

In most developed countries, more educated mothers tend to do more child care (Guryan et al., 2008), despite the higher opportunity cost of their time. Theories which explain this phenomenon by arguing that education gives mothers a higher marginal return to their time in human capital production (e.g. Ramey and Ramey, 2010; Doepke and Zilibotti, 2017; Chiappori et al., 2015) are found wanting on empirical grounds (Cunha et al., 2010; Agostinelli and Wiswall, 2020).

RESEARCH QUESTION

We investigate whether the positive education/childcare gradient arises from purely hedonic considerations or from differing patterns of socialization across class lines. I.e. do more educated mothers prefer to spend more time in child rearing activities because they like it more, or because they face more social pressure?

¹ E-mail address: s.j.bosworth@reading.ac.uk

² E-mail address: a.sevilla@ucl.ac.uk

³ E-mail address: ngimenez@unizar.es

METHODOLOGY

We use the Well-being Modules of the American Time Use Survey to document the levels of instantaneous well-being during childcare activities for mothers of various education levels. We furthermore propose an Identity Economics model (Akerlof and Kranton, 2000) to instead explain the education/childcare gradient in terms of a competition for social status. Two social identity categories are proposed: one with high prestige but intense scrutiny and another with lower prestige and relaxed scrutiny.

RESULTS

Despite spending about 30 minutes more in childcare per day, higher educated mothers report lower levels of instantaneous well-being during these activities. Our results hold after controlling for a wide set of confounds, including life satisfaction. Our model provides a suggestion as to why: mothers with more education choose an identity which places high value on human capital outcomes. This confers high social prestige but requires costly investments to maintain a separating equilibrium.

CONTRIBUTION

We contribute to the literature on socioeconomic status and parenting styles by 1) bringing evidence on the hedonic experiences of mothers and 2) proposing a model which explains the stylized facts without appealing to increasing returns to human capital production or ad-hoc preference assumptions. As the extra time that educated mothers spend with their children is a likely vector for the intergenerational perpetuation of inequality (Kalil and Ryan, 2020), social policy options are suggested.

KEY WORDS

Intensive parenting, instantaneous well-being

JEL CLASSIFICATION

D13, I21, I31, J13, J60

- 1. Agostinelli, F., & Wiswall, M. (2020). Estimating the technology of children's skill formation. *NBER Working Paper*, *No 22442*.
- 2. Akerlof, G. A., & Kranton, R. (2000). Economics and identity. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 115(3), 715-753.
- 3. Chiappori, P.-A., Salanié, B., & Weiss, Y. (2015). Partner choice, investment in children, and the marital college premium. *American Economic Review*, *107*(8), 2109-2167.
- 4. Cunha, F., Heckman, J., & Schennach, S. (2010). Estimating the technology of cognitive and noncognitive skill formation. *Econometrica*, *78*(3), 883-931.
- 5. Doepke, M., & Zilibotti, F. (2017). Parenting with style: Altruism and paternalism in intergenerational preference transmission. *Econometrica*, 85(5), 1331-1371.
- 6. Guryan, J., Hurst, E., & Kearney, M. S. (2008). Parental education and parental time with children. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *22*(3), 23-46.
- 7. Kalil, A., & Ryan, R. (2020). Parenting practices and socioeconomic gaps in childhood outcomes. *The Future of Children*, *30*(1), 29-54.
- 8. Ramey, G., & Ramey, V. A. (2010). The rug rat race. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, Spring. 129-176.

WELFARE EFFECTS OF THE LABOR INCOME TAX CHANGES ON MARRIED COUPLES

Egor Malkov¹

University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, USA Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis, Minneapolis, USA

MOTIVATION

Taxation of couples is of crucial importance for the policymakers. First, the scope is significant. For example, married couples account for almost a half of all the U.S. households. Second, positive assortative mating between spouses, as one of the driving forces of income inequality, creates the scope for redistribution through the tax and transfer system. Finally, tax systems in many countries, e.g. Germany and the U.S., create strong disincentive effects for the married women's labor supply.

RESEARCH QUESTION

In this paper, I ask the following research questions. What are the welfare effects on married couples from labor income tax reforms? How are the welfare gains and losses distributed across the couples? To get the quantitative results, I apply my framework to four tax reforms implemented in the United States: the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993, the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001, and the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.

METHODOLOGY

I build a static model of joint household labor supply and derive a sufficient statistic formula that maps empirically estimable objects into the measure of the reform-induced changes in deadweight losses. Next, I apply this framework to four tax reforms implemented in the United States, using the Current Population Survey data and NBER TAXSIM tax calculator. Finally, I derive the analytical expressions for bias in marginal deadweight loss resulting from linearizing the tax function for couples.

¹ E-mail address: malko017@umn.edu

RESULTS

First, I find that the reforms created welfare gains ranging from -0.16% to 0.60% of the aggregate labor income. Furthermore, I highlight the quantitative importance of accounting for spousal cross-elasticities. Second, I show that the aggregate welfare measures mask significant heterogeneity. For example, TRA 1986 reform creates almost 81% winners and 16% losers. Moreover, the welfare gains are increasing in labor income. Finally, I calculate the linearization bias in the U.S. to be 9.05%.

CONTRIBUTION

My contributions are twofold. First, I extend the framework of Eissa et al. (2008) and study the welfare effects of tax policy by modeling the households as couples rather than singles. Quantitatively, I show that the same reform may have different effects on couples and singles. Second, I extend the framework of Blomquist and Simula (2019) and derive the expressions for marginal deadweight loss under nonlinear tax functions and resulting linearization bias when households are modeled as couples.

KEY WORDS

Taxation of Couples, tax reforms, welfare analysis, labor supply, linearization bias

JEL CLASSIFICATION

D61, E62, H31, J22

- 1. Auerbach, A.J. (1985). The Theory of Excess Burden and Optimal Taxation. *Handbook of Public Economics*, 1, 61-127.
- 2. Auerbach, A. J., & Hines, J.R. (2002). Taxation and Economic Efficiency. *Handbook of Public Economics*, *3*, 1347-1421.
- 3. Bar, M., & Leukhina, O. (2009). To Work or Not to Work: Did Tax Reforms Affect Labor Force Participation of Married Couples? *The BE Journal of Macroeconomics*, 9, 1-30.
- 4. Bick, A., & Bruggemann, B. & Fuchs-Schundeln, N. & Paule-Paludkiewicz H. (2019). Long-Term Changes in Married Couples' Labor Supply and Taxes: Evidence from the US and Europe since the 1980s. *Journal of International Economics*, 118, 44-62.

- 5. Bick, A., & Fuchs-Schundeln, N. (2017a). Quantifying the Disincentive Effects of Joint Taxation on Married Women's Labor Supply. *American Economic Review: Papers & Proceedings*, 107, 100-104.
- 6. Bick, A., & Fuchs-Schundeln, N. (2017b). Taxation and Labour Supply of Married Couples Across Countries: A Macroeconomic Analysis. *Review of Economic Studies*, *85*, 1543-1576.
- 7. Blau, F.D., & Kahn, L.M. (2007). Changes in the Labor Supply Behavior of Married Women: 1980–2000. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 25, 393-438.
- 8. Blau, F.D., & Kahn, L.M. (2013). Female Labor Supply: Why is the US Falling Behind. American Economic Review: Papers & Proceedings, 103, 251-256.
- 9. Blomquist, S., & Simula, L. (2019). Marginal Deadweight Loss when the Income Tax is Nonlinear. *Journal of Econometrics*, *211*, 47-60.
- 10. Borella, M., & De Nardi, M. & Yang, F. (2020). Are Marriage-Related Taxes and Social Security Benfits Holding Back Female Labor Supply? *Opportunity & Inclusive Growth Institute Working Paper No. 41*.
- 11. Eissa, N., & Hoynes, W.H. (2004). Taxes and the Labor Market Participation of Married Couples: The Earned Income Tax Credit. *Journal of Public Economics*, *88*, 1931-1958.
- 12. Eissa, N., & Kleven, H.J. & Kreiner, C.T. (2008). Evaluation of Four Tax Reforms in the United States: Labor Supply and Welfare Effects for Single Mothers. *Journal of Public Economics*, *92*, 795-816.
- 13. Feenberg, D., & Coutts, E. (1993). An Introduction to the TAXSIM Model. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 12, 189-194.
- 14. Guner, N., & Kaygusuz, R. & Ventura, G. (2012). Taxation and Household Labour Supply. *Review of Economic Studies*, *79*, 1113-1149.
- 15. Heathcote, J., & Storesletten, K. & Violante, G. (2017). Optimal Tax Progressivity: An Analytical Framework. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *132*, 1693-1754.
- 16. Heim, B.T. (2007). The Incredible Shrinking Elasticities: Married Female Labor Supply, 1978–2002. *Journal of Human Resources*, *42*, 881-918.
- 17. Kleven, H.J., & Kreiner, C.T. (2006). The Marginal Cost of Public Funds: Hours of Work versus Labor Force Participation. *Journal of Public Economics*, *90*, 1955-1973.

SOCIAL EXPENDITURE COMPOSITION AND INEQUALITY IN OECD COUNTRIES: DO WELFARE STATE REGIMES MATTER?

Miguel Ferreira¹

University of Coimbra, Faculty of Economics, Coimbra, Portugal

Marta Simões²

University of Coimbra, CeBER, Faculty of Economics, Coimbra, Portugal

MOTIVATION

One of the main roles of the welfare state is to influence income inequality, with however inequality on the rise in many developed countries at least since the 1980s (Anderson et al. (2017)). According to Solt (2020), the average Gini coefficient for the OECD countries has been gradually increasing since the 1980s, recording a value of 29 in 1980 and 31.1 in 2015, where the USA and the United Kingdom stand out with Ginis going from 31.6 to 38.1 and from 27.1, to 32.9.

RESEARCH QUESTION

What difference do welfare state regimes make for social expenditure and respective composition influences income inequality? The aim of this paper is to answer this research question focusing on OECD countries over the period 1990-2015, investigating how the different welfare arrangements that characterize the sample of countries under analysis mediate the impact of the composition of the welfare state, defined based on the OECD Social Expenditure database, plus education, on income inequality.

METHODOLOGY

The empirical fixed effects panel model considers the Gini coefficient as dependent variable and as explanatory variables of interest ten different components of social spending, alongside a set of control variables identified in previous literature. The mediating role of welfare state regimes is assessed by introducing interaction terms

¹ E-mail address: miguelasmf@gmail.com

² E-mail address: mcsimoes@fe.uc.pt

between the social expenditure variables and a dummy for each specific welfare model (Nordic, Continental, Anglo-Saxon, Mediterranean, CEEC and Others).

RESULTS

The components of social expenditure that reveal a statistically significant association with inequality are old age pensions, health, housing and family benefits. However, the sign of the association varies with the welfare state regime and only in the residual welfare regime that we designated as Others are the former components of social spending always inequality reducing, while in the remaining cases some components increase inequality.

CONTRIBUTION

Our work paves the way for future research that sheds light on the differences found across regimes based on a more detailed analysis of the characteristics of welfare models that render social policy a design more effective in reducing income inequality.

KEY WORDS

Social expenditure, welfare programs, income inequality, welfare state regimes, OECD

JEL CLASSIFICATION

H1, I38, P5

ACKOWLEDGEMENTS

This research received financial support from COMPETE 2020, Portugal 2020 and the European Union [POCI-01-0145-FEDER-029365]; and from the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia I.P./MCTES through national funds (PIDDAC) [PTDC/EGE-ECO/29365/2017]. This research was also supported by a grant from FCT reference UIDB/05037/2020.

- 1. Anderson, E., Jalles D'Orey, M.A., Duvendack, M., & Esposito, L. (2017). Does Government Spending Affect Income Inequality? A Meta-Regression Analysis. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *31*(4), 961-87.
- 2. Aspalter, C. (2006). The East Asian Welfare Model. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 15, 290-301.
- 3. Auguste, D. (2018). Income Inequality, Globalization, and the Welfare State: Evidence from 23 Industrial Countries, 1990–2009. *Sociological Forum*, *33*(3), 666-89.
- 4. Bergqvist, K., Yngwe, M.A., & Lundberg, O. (2013). Understanding the Role of Welfare State Characteristics for Health and Inequalities an Analytical Review. *BMC public health*, 13, 1234-34.
- 5. Cammeraat, E. (2020). The Relationship between Different Social Expenditure Schemes and Poverty, Inequality and Economic Growth. *International Social Security Review*, 73(2), 101-23.
- 6. Cyrek, M. (2019) Government Social Spending in the Eu Countries: Efficiency in Poverty and Income Inequality Reduction. *Equilibrium Quarterly Journal of Economics and Economic Policy*, 14(3), 405-24.
- 7. Doumbia, D., & Kinda, T. (2019). Reallocating Public Spending to Reduce Income Inequality: Can It Work? *IMF Working Papers* No. 19/188.
- 8. Esping-Andersen, G.T. (1990). *The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism*, Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- 9. Furceri, D. & Ostry, J. (2019). Robust Determinants of Income Inequality. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 35(3), 490-517.
- 10. Hein, E., Meloni, P.T., & Tridico, P. (2020). Welfare Models and Demand-Led Growth Regimes before and after the Financial and Economic Crisis. *Review of International Political Economy*, 1-36.
- 11. Kammer, A., Niehues, J., & Peichl, A. (2012). Welfare Regimes and Welfare State Outcomes in Europe. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 22(5), 455-71.
- 12. Kim, T., & Kim, H. (2017). Which Country Uses Public Social Expenditure Efficiently among Oecd Countries? *Applied Economics Letters*, 24(10), 677-80.
- 13. Lindbeck, A. (2006a). Sustainable Social Spending. *International Tax and Public Finance*, 13(4), 303-24.
- 14. Lindbeck, A. (2006b). The Welfare State Background, Achievements, Problems. *Research Institute of Industrial Economics Working Paper Series* No. 662.
- 15. Niehues, J. (2010). Social Spending Generosity and Income Inequality: A Dynamic Panel Approach. *IZA Discussion Papers* No. 5178.
- 16. Nolan, B. & Valenzuela, L. (2019) Inequality and Its Discontents. Oxford *Review of Economic Policy*, *35*(3), 396-430.

- 17. OECD. (2019). The Oecd Socx Manual 2019 Edition a Guide to the Oecd Social Expenditure Database, Paris: OECD.
- 18. Roser, M., & Cuaresma, J.C. (2016). Why Is Income Inequality Increasing in the Developed World? *Review of Income and Wealth*, 62(1), 1-27.
- 19. Solt, F. (2020) Measuring Income Inequality across Countries and over Time: The Standardized World Income Inequality Database. *Social Science Quarterly*, *101*(3), 1183-99.
- 20. Tridico, P., & Meloni, W.P. (2018). Economic Growth, Welfare Models and Inequality in the Context of Globalisation. *The Economic and Labour Relations Review, 29*(1), 118-39.

CHILD POVERTY THIRTY YEARS AFTER THE BREAK UP: COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THREE FORMER YUGOSLAV COUNTRIES

Aleksandra Anić¹

University of Belgrade - Faculty of Economics, Belgrade, Serbia

Jelena Žarković²

University of Belgrade - Faculty of Economics, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

Slovenia, Croatia and Serbia, although sharing the same welfare state for decades followed different welfare state trajectories after the breakup of Yugoslavia. We argue that this has impacted child poverty levels that are varying substantially among the countries: Slovenia has one of the lowest child poverty rates in the EU, Croatia is at the EU average level of child poverty while Serbia is among the countries with highest levels of child poverty in Europe.

RESEARCH QUESTION

Our research question aims to explain differences in child poverty rates between Slovenia, Croatia and Serbia, with the special focus on different welfare state trajectories. We investigate to what extent social transfers achieve to pool children out of poverty, especially family benefits.

METHODOLOGY

Using 2018 Survey on Income and Living Conditions data and bivariate probit model we estimate the probability to be poor before social transfers and to receive social transfers, and probability to remain or exit poverty after receiving social transfers. We estimate those probabilities jointly, since both observables and unobservables

¹ E-mail address: aleksandra.anic@ekof.bg.ac.rs

² E-mail address: jelena.zarkovic@ekof.bg.ac.rs

can at the same time influence probability to be poor before social transfers and to receive social transfers.

RESULTS

We found that family benefits are especially effective in pooling children out of poverty in Slovenia and much less in Croatia. In Serbia, pension benefits have strongest effect on child poverty reduction due to significant share of children living in multigenerational households. Universality of family benefits in Slovenia, accompanied with high employment of parents, lead to low levels of child poverty. Contrary to Slovenia, child poverty in Serbia is high due to large share of children whose parents are out of work and low coverage of family benefits.

CONTRIBUTION

We investigate child poverty in three ex-Yugoslavia countries in a comparative perspective. Our research offers insights into most important determinants of poverty and policies that could pool children out of poverty. Current economic crisis caused by the pandemic threatens to hit families with children the hardest, therefore economic and social policies should be carefully considered especially in countries with high child poverty rates.

JEL CLASSIFICATION

C35, I32, J13

KEY WORDS

Child poverty, welfare state, social transfers, ex-Yugoslavia

- Clavet, N.-J., Tiberti, L., Vladisavljević, M., Žarković Rakić, J., Anić, A., Krstić, G., & Ranđelović, S. (2019). Reduction of child poverty in Serbia: Benefit or employment strategy?. *Economics of Transition and Institutional Change*, 27(3), 615–645. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecot.12197
- 2. Fabrizi, E., Ferrante, M. R., & Pacei, S. (2014). A micro-econometric analysis of the antipoverty effect of social cash transfers in Italy. Review of Income and Wealth, 60(2), 323–349. https://doi.org/10.1111/roiw.12048

- 3. Gornick, J. C., & Jäntti, M. (2012). Child poverty in cross-national perspecitve: Lessons from the Luxembourg Income Study. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *34*, 558–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.10.016
- 4. Inchauste, G., & Rubil, I. (2017). The distributional impact of taxes and social spending in Croatia. Policy Research Working Paper No. 8203.
- 5. Stropnik, N. (2014). Investing in children: Breaking the cycle of disadvantage. A study of national policies, Slovenia.

Stream C: COVID-19 and NEET in Western Balkans

WESTERN BALKANS LABOUR MARKET POLICIES RESPONSE TO COVID-19

Nataša Stanojević¹

Institute of International Politics and Economics, Belgrade, Serbia

Katarina Zakić²

Institute of International Politics and Economics, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

During the Covid-19 pandemic many governments have implemented large socioeconomic packages, providing massive fiscal support to protect employment, households and vulnerable populations. The focus of this research is on the types and effects of employment-related measures of the governments of the Western Balkan (WB) countries. These countries were chosen because they are not in the system of EU assistance, so that the effects of the implemented measures can be assessed objectively.

RESEARCH QUESTION

Employment-related measures of the governments in the region were: compensation of salaries to companies in order to preserve employment, financial assistance and facilitation of business to enterprises, with the condition of retaining all workers or without this condition, measures relating to certain categories of employees or sectors, etc. The research question is what effects these measures have produced individually or in combination on the number of employees in WB countries.

¹ E-mail address: natasa.stanojevic@diplomacy.bg.ac.rs

² E-mail address: katarina@diplomacy.bg.ac.rs

Parallel Sessions I, Stream C: COVID-19 and NEET in Western Balkans

METHODOLOGY

Methodology of research includes *cost-benefits analysis* of particular employment-related measures applied by WB governments, as well as *statistic description* and *comparison* of employment and unemployment in WB countries during the pandemic.

The biggest obstacle to the effectiveness of all measures is the invisible informal segment of economy.

RESULTS

The research found that, among the employment-related measures applied in WB countries, all types of assistance to companies had a positive effect, but the long-term effects would be only possible by making the assistance conditional on keeping the workers for a long period.

In all six countries it is necessary to revise the records of socially vulnerable categories of population.

CONTRIBUTION

The research reveals which measures were successful and which were not, as well as reasons for particular effects, specific for every WB country. Thus, this research provides elements for establishing strategies and procedures for different crisis scenarios.

KEY WORDS

Unemployment, employment-related measures, fiscal support, Covid-19

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J08, J48

- Alberola, E., Arslan, Y., Cheng G., & Moessner, R. (2020). The fiscal response to the Covid-19 crisis in advanced and emerging market economies. *BIS Bulletin*, 23, Bank for International Settlements.
- 2. Anderson, J., Bergamini, E., Brekelmans, S. Cameron, A. Darvas, Z., Domínguez Jíménez, M., Lenaerts, K., & Midões, C. (2020). *The fiscal response to the economic fallout from*

Parallel Sessions I, Stream C: COVID-19 and NEET in Western Balkans

- the coronavirus. Bruegel datasets. Retrieved from https://www.bruegel.org/publications/datasets/covid-national-dataset
- 3. Baldwin R., & Weder di Mauro B. (eds) (2020). *Economics in the Time of COVID-19*. London: Centre for Economic Policy Research.
- 4. Eichenbaum, M.S., Rebelo, S., & Trabandt, M. (2020). The Macroeconomics of Epidemics. *NBER Working Paper*, 26882. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- 5. Felbermayr, G. (2020). *The World Economy after the Coronavirus Shock: Restarting Globalization?* Kieler, Kiel Institute for the World Economy.
- 6. Gans, J. (2020). *The Pandemic Information Gap: The Brutal Economics of COVID-19*. Cambridge, Massachusetts, London, England: The MIT Press.
- 7. International labor organization ILO. (2020). *COVID-19: Public employment services and labor market policy responses*, policy brief.
- 8. International Monetary Fund IMF. (2020). *Policy responses to Covid-19*. Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/imf-and-covid19/Policy-Responses-to-COVID-19
- 9. KPMG. (2020). Government Response Global landscape, an overview of government and institution measures around the world in response to COVID-19. Retrieved from https://home.kpmg/xx/en/home/insights/2020/04/government-response-global-landscape.html
- 10. OECD. (2020a). OECD data. Retrieved from https://data.oecd.org/unemp/unemployment-rate.htm
- 11. OECD. (2020b). *The Covid-19 Crisis in Serbia*. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/south-east-europe/COVID-19-Crisis-in-Serbia-archive.pdf
- 12. Schwab, K., & Malleret, T. (2020). Covid-19: The Great Reset, World Economic Forum.
- 13. Stanojević, N., & Kotlica, S. (2021). Socio-economic response to coronavirus challenges comparative study of Serbia and the selected European countries, in Jelisavac-Trošić, S., & Grozdanić, J. (eds) *International organizations and states response to Covid-19*, thematic collection of Institute of International Politics and Economics, Belgrade.
- 14. Tetlow, G., Pope, T., & Danton, G. (2020). *Coronavirus and unemployment The importance of government policy: a five nation comparison.* London: Institute for government.
- 15. World Bank. (2020). *Ekonomski i socijalni uticaj COVID-19, Zapadni Balkan.* redovni ekonomski izveštaj, No. 17. Retrieved from https://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/486361588146392647/WB-RER17-The-Economic-and-Social-Impact-of-COVID-19-Outlook-Hard-Times-Require-Good-Economics-Bosnian.pdf

THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC ON LABOUR MARKET OUTCOMES OF VULNERABLE GROUPS IN SERBIA

Jelena Banović³

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Lara Lebedinski⁴

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Marko Vladisavljević⁵

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Valentina Vukmirović⁶

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

The COVID-19 pandemic is an unprecedented pandemic which impacted both globally the economy and everyone's life at an individual level. It is important to understand the impact of such an unprecedented shock on individual economic outcomes.

RESEARCH QUESTION

In this paper we examine the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on labor market outcomes of vulnerable groups in Serbia. We consider the following groups to be vulnerable: youth, female, low educated individuals, population from Southern and Eastern Serbia and rural population. We study the impact of COVID-19 on the following outcomes: employment, absenteeism and hours worked.

METHODOLOGY

We use the difference-in-differences methodology and we compare outcomes before (2019) and after (2020) the effects of epidemic occurred for the groups that

³ E-mail address: jelena.banovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

⁴ E-mail address: lara.lebedinski@ien.bg.ac.rs

⁵ E-mail address: marko.vladisavljevic@ien.bg.ac.rs

⁶ E-mail address: valentina.vukmirovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

we identified as potentially vulnerable. We do the analysis for each vulnerable group and quarter separately. To ensure that our results are robust and not driven by trends, we perform the so-called placebo tests where we assume the placebo treatment year to be 2019.

RESULTS

According to our findings, the low educated and the population from the Southern and Eastern Serbia were somewhat negatively affected by the pandemic in the year 2020. The remaining three groups experienced only transitory short-term shocks. The relatively small negative impacts are in line with the overall situation on the labour market during COVID-19 which suggests that there was only a short-term shock.

CONTRIBUTION

We contribute to the literature on the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic by studying the labour market situation during the pandemic for the case of Serbia. Our study focuses on vulnerable groups who were at a higher risk of social exclusion even before the pandemic and who could be pushed into social exclusion and poverty in times of negative economic shocks.

KEY WORDS

Employment, vulnerable groups, COVID-19

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J20, J1, J6

- Alon, T., Coskun, S., Doepke, M., Koll, D., & Tertilt, M. (2021). From Mancession to Shecession: Women's Employment in Regular and Pandemic Recessions (No. w28632). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- 2. Beach, B., Clay, K., & Saavedra, M. H. (2020). The 1918 influenza pandemic and its lessons for COVID-19. (No. w27673). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- 3. Fasani, F., & Mazza, J. (2020). Being on the Frontline? Immigrant Workers in Europe and the COVID-19 Pandemic. (WP 13963). IZA.
- 4. Hershbein, B., & Holzer, H. J. (2021). The COVID-19 Pandemic's Evolving Impacts on the Labor Market: Who's Been Hurt and What We Should Do. (WP 14108). IZA.

Parallel Sessions I, Stream C: COVID-19 and NEET in Western Balkans

5. Webster, A., Khorana, S., & Pastore, F. (2021). The Labour Market Impact of Covid-19: Early Evidence for a Sample of Enterprises from Southern Europe. (WP 14269). IZA.

AMIDST THE CHAOS: THE BALKAN LABOR MARKETS' DYNAMICS IN THE ERA OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Nevena Jolović¹

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Sonja Đuričin²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

The crisis triggered by the global COVID-19 pandemic has created undeniable chaos in the world's labor markets, with disruptions unprecedented in the modern era. The pandemic's complexity and unexpectedness of this health phenomena's appearance have led to strong labor market shocks in both developed and developing countries (Hershbein & Holzer, 2021; ILO, 2020; Jolović, 2020; Lee et al., 2020; Petrosky Nadeau & Valletta, 2020). Recognition of the literature gap and cognition that the Balkan countries did not remain immune to the COVID-19's "new normality" motivated the emergence of this research.

RESEARCH QUESTION

The main research question is framed in light of the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Balkan labor markets. It investigates the existence, strength, and direction of correlation between pandemic indicators (number of confirmed COVID-19 cases and fatalities) and unemployment in selected Balkan countries. The research question's splendor is reflected in the diversity of the observed countries, which are, although located in the same area, characterized by utterly different levels of labor markets' development and success in overcoming the pandemic challenges.

METHODOLOGY

This paper's theoretical and empirical analysis follows many current approaches to similar research issues (Davidescu et al., 2021; De Araujo Oliveira & Goes, 2020;

¹ E-mail address: nevena.jolovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

² E-mail address: sonja.djuricin@ien.bg.ac.rs

Dritsaki & Dritsaki, 2020; Gallant et al., 2020; Rodríguez Caballero & Vera Valdés, 2020; Su et al., 2021; Svrtinov et al., 2020; World Bank, 2021) in order to address raised research question on the sample of several Balkan countries - Croatia, Montenegro, Romania, Serbia, and Slovenia. The dataset extracted from the Trading Economics platform (2021) consists of monthly unemployment rates and COVID-19 confirmed cases/deaths data and covers the period from December 2019 to December 2020. On the collected data we firstly conducted detailed descriptive statistics for the five economies involved, and then, in order to determine the existence/strength/direction of the potential relationship between the unemployment and COVID-19 indicators, we performed a correlation test.

RESULTS

Descriptive statistics of the five Balkan economies showed that Montenegro's unemployment rate recorded the most variations in the observed period (+/-25.4%). Additionally, from the first 12 months of the pandemic, Romania emerged as the most affected Balkan country - with the highest number of COVID-19 cases (623,000) and deaths (15,600) registered. Pearson correlation coefficient results reveal the existence of a strong positive significant correlation between COVID-19 cases/deaths and unemployment in Romania (0.763**/0.818**) and Montenegro (0.777**/0.792**) over the pandemic period. On the other side, during the same period, the correlation between COVID-19 cases/deaths and unemployment was quite strong in Croatia (0.480/0.477) but very weak in Slovenia (0.161/0.209). This can be explained by the fact that Slovenia represents the country with the best economic/social position among these economies, which has managed to maintain unemployment at almost a pre-pandemic level throughout 2020. Additionally, the correlation between COVID-19 cases/deaths and unemployment in Serbia can be labeled as a strong negative significant correlation (-0.685**/-0.718**), which implies that COVID-19 most likely produced additional online job opportunities and consequently reduced unemployment.

CONTRIBUTION

The constructive contribution of this paper largely emanates from its research nature - it explores the current and undetected impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on labor markets' dynamics of developing Balkan economies. In addition to contributing to the existing literature on pandemics' impact on labor, the study is expected to encourage policy debates among Balkans on how COVID-19 affected

Parallel Sessions I, Stream C: COVID-19 and NEET in Western Balkans

(and how potential future pandemics may affect) their economies, all with the aim of accelerating individual and collective responses to similar events in the future.

KEY WORDS

Unemployment, COVID-19 cases, COVID-19 deaths, Balkan countries, Europe

JEL CLASSIFICATION

E24, J01, J64

- 1. Davidescu, A. A., Apostu, S. A., & Stoica, L. A. (2021). Socioeconomic Effects of COVID-19 Pandemic: Exploring Uncertainty in the Forecast of the Romanian Unemployment Rate for the Period 2020-2023. *Sustainability*, *13*(13), 1-22.
- 2. De Araujo Oliveira, J. G., & Goes, G. (2020). Economic Dynamic Cycle of the COVID-19 Impact: Unemployment Perspective. *SSRN Paper Series, No. 3679637*, 1-12.
- 3. Dritsaki, M., & Dritsaki, C. (2020). Structural Breaks in Unemployment: Evidence for Bulgaria, Croatia, Greece, Romania, and Slovenia. *International Journal of Business and Economic Development*, 1(9), 9-16.
- 4. Gallant, J., Kroft, K., Lange, F., & Notowidigdo, M. J. (2020). Temporary Unemployment and Labor Market Dynamics during the COVID-19 Recession. *NBER Working Paper Series, No. 27924*, 1-45.
- 5. Hershbein, B., & Holzer, H. J. (2021). The COVID-19 Pandemic's Evolving Impacts on the Labor Market: Who's Been Hurt and What We Should Do. *Upjohn Institute Working Paper, No. 21-341*, 1-46.
- 6. International Labour Organization (ILO). (2020). *ILO Monitor: COVID-19 and the World of Work* (7th edition). Geneva: International Labour Organization.
- 7. Jolović, N. (2020). Tržište rada u uslovima COVID-19 pandemije: EU vs SAD. *Ekonomija teorija i praksa*, *13*(3), 13-33.
- 8. Lee, S., Schmidt Klau, D., & Verick, S. (2020). The Labour Market Impacts of the COVID-19: A Global Perspective. *The Indian Journal of Labour Economics*, *63*(1), 11-15.
- 9. Petrosky Nadeau, N., & Valletta, R. G. (2020). Unemployment Paths in a Pandemic Economy. *IZA Discussion Paper Series, No. 13294*, 1-18.
- 10. Rodríguez Caballero, C. V., & Vera Valdés, J. E. (2020). Long-lasting Economic Effects of Pandemics: Evidence on Growth and Unemployment. *Econometrics*, 8(3), 1-16.
- 11. Su, C. W., Dai, K., Ullah, S., & Andlib, Z. (2021). COVID-19 Pandemic and Unemployment Dynamics in European Economies. *Economic Research Ekonomska istraživanja*, 34, 1-13.
- 12. Svrtinov, V. G., Trajkovska, O. G., Kacarski, E. M., & Koleva, B. (2020). The Impact of COVID-19 on Western Balkans Economies. *Journal of Economics*, *5*(2), 35-46.

Parallel Sessions I, Stream C: COVID-19 and NEET in Western Balkans

- 13. Trading Economics. (2021, July 12). *Labour & Health Indicators Data*. Retrieved from: www.tradingeconomics.com
- 14. World Bank. (2021). Western Balkans Regular Economic Report, No. 19, Spring 2021: Subdued Recovery. Washington: World Bank.

A PROFILE OF YOUTH NOT IN EMPLOYMENT, EDUCATION OR TRAINING (NEET) IN SERBIA

Dragan Stanojević1

Faculty of Philosophy, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Dejana Pavlović²

Institute of economic sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

Serbian youth face an extreme disadvantage for their entry into the labor market, particularly for those unemployed as well as not in the process of education or training (NEET). According to statistical data (2020) the NEET rate of the Republic of Serbia (RS) is 27%, almost 12 p.p. higher compared to the EU's average. Regardless of their position, research into NEET youth in the RS is relatively rare, generally focusing on their position within the context of overall youth employment.

RESEARCH QUESTIONS

In the paper, we analyze the characteristics of NEET in Serbia. To do so we consider the following research questions:

- What sections of youth are most likely to be placed within NEET according to the following criteria: gender, area of residence (urban/rural), region, education-level achieved and material situation of the household?
- What socio-demographic characteristics are associated with the risk of being unemployed and inactive in the labor market?
- Does any significant relationship exist between gender and NEET?
- If so, is there an equal distribution between both males and female NEET?

•

¹ E-mail address: dstanoje@f.bg.ac.rs

² E-mail address: dejana.pavlovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

METHODOLOGY

To analyze their characteristics in order to define a profile of youth, microdata for 2019 were used from the LFS¹ IV wave, as provided by the SORS². Using logistic regression, the research methodology defines the characteristics of youth aged 15 to 35, who are neither employed, nor in the process of education or training. Here, we analyze the socio-economic factors defining the position of active in the labor market. While the dependent variable in the regression model is active employment itself, the independent variables are classified into four categories.

RESULTS

Rural youth are at a higher risk (1.5 more likely) of being NEET compared to urban youth. Sumadija and Western Serbia as well as Southern and Eastern Serbia youth are at a higher risk of being NEET compared to youth from Belgrade and Vojvodina. Young women are 2.5 times more likely than young men. With every subsequent level of education achieved as well as with an improvement in their family's material situation, the likelihood of being NEET decreases.

CONTRIBUTION

The results of this novel research will better serve decision and policy makers in implementing future strategies to assist NEET.

Furthermore, the paper will contribute to the scientific literature in Serbia. Considering that this is the first survey focusing on NEET youth in Serbia based on the microdata of the Labor Force Survey. All previous NEET surveys have been based on secondary statistics or online survey data.

KEY WORDS

NEET, Serbia, labor market, youth

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J01, J13, J21, J64

¹ Labour Force Survey

² Statistical Office of the RS

Parallel Sessions I, Stream C: COVID-19 and NEET in Western Balkans

- 1. Alegre, M. À., Casado, D., Sanz, J., & Todeschini, F. A. (2015). The impact of training-intensive labour market policies on labour and educational prospects of NEETs: evidence from Catalonia (Spain). *Educational Research*, *57*(2), 151-167.
- 2. Barth, E., Keute, A. L., Schøne, P., von Simson, K., & Steffensen, K. (2019). NEET status and early versus later skills among young adults: Evidence from linked register-PIAAC data. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 65(1), 1-13.
- 3. Beck, V. (2015). Learning providers' work with NEET young people. *Journal of Vocational Education & Training*, *67*(4), 482-496.
- 4. Holte, B. H. (2018). Counting and meeting NEET young people: Methodology, perspective and meaning in research on marginalized youth. *Young*, *26*(1), 1-16.
- 5. International Labour Organisation (2017). What stands between youth and decent jobs? https://www.ilo.org/infostories/en-GB/Stories/Employment/youth-decentjobs#neets
- Ralston, K., Feng, Z., Everington, D., & Dibben, C. (2016). Do young people not in education, employment or training experience long-term occupational scarring? A longitudinal analysis over 20 years of follow-up. *Contemporary Social Science*, 11(2-3), 203-221.
- 7. Schoon, I. (2014). Parental worklessness and the experience of NEET among their offspring. Evidence from the Longitudinal Study of Young People in England (LSYPE). Longitudinal and Life Course Studies, 5(2), 129-150.
- 8. Sergi, V., Cefalo, R., & Kazepov, Y. (2018). Young people's disadvantages on the labour market in Italy: Reframing the NEET category. *Journal of Modern Italian Studies, 23*(1), 41-60
- 9. Stanojević, D. (2016). *Mladi tranzicija ka tržištu rada: Nejednakost i izazovi*, UNDP, Serbia.

Stream A: Interventions in Education and Returns to Education

PRIMARY VS SECONDARY SCHOOL INTERVENTION

Marianna Battaglia¹

Universidad de Alicante, Alicante, Spain **Marisa Hidalgo-Hidalgo²**

Universidad Pablo de Olavide, Sevilla, Spain

MOTIVATION

Human capital accumulation is a dynamic process. The skills acquired in one stage of the life cycle affect both the initial conditions and the technology of learning at the next stage. There is evidence suggesting that targeted, early interventions aimed at disadvantaged children are effective in reducing inequalities in cognitive development and subsequent social outcomes and thus, investments in the early years are increasing. However, the question of the optimal timing to intervene remains.

RESEARCH QUESTION

The aim of this article is to analyze the effectiveness of educational interventions that take place at different ages in an individual's life. To do so, we analyze two programs implemented in the region of Madrid (Spain) in the last years: one targets public primary schools and the other public secondary schools. Both offer remedial education to students with poor performance and from disadvantaged socioeconomic environments, in a similar way but at different points in time of the school cycle.

METHODOLOGY

Our outcomes of interest are the standardized test scores and the percentage of students passing the exams at the end of both primary and secondary school. We

² E-mail address: mhidalgo@upo.es

¹ E-mail address: mbattaglia@ua.es

employ two main empirical approaches: a difference-in-difference, and an event study. By considering the schools' characteristics, we also re-weight the sample of students in control schools such that they can provide a more balanced counterfactual to students in treated schools using the entropy balancing method (Hainmueller, 2012).

RESULTS

We find that the remedial programs have a positive and statistically significant impact on test scores (around 0.3 SD) and on the passing rates (6 to 8 pp). There is a differential impact depending on the point in time in the education cycle for math but not for language: math test scores increase 0.36 SD more in primary than in secondary treated schools, and its passing rate is about 10 pp higher. Moreover, the smaller the remedial classes and the more migrants treated, the higher are the impacts.

CONTRIBUTION

Our contribution is two-folded. First, we provide new evidence on the optimal timing of educational interventions aimed at improving outcomes of disadvantaged children. Second, we add to studies on the impact of remedial education programs on cognitive skills. The current paper departs from the previous works (Heckman, 2000; Lavy & Schlosser, 2005; Lavy et al. 2020) by studying the impact of these interventions also on primary school students and provides new evidence on their more productive timing.

KEY WORDS

Primary and secondary School, remedial interventions

JEL CLASSIFICATION

H52, I21, I23, J24, J31

- 1. Hainmueller, J. (2012). Entropy Balancing for Causal Effects: A Multivariate Reweighting Method to Produce Balanced Samples in Observational Studies. *Political Analysis*, *20*(1), 25-46.
- 2. Heckman, J. (2000). Policies to Foster Human Capital. Research in Economics, 54, 3-56.
- 3. Lavy, V., & Schlosser, A. (2005). Targeted Remedial Education for Underperforming Teenagers: Costs and Benefits. *Journal of Labor Economics*, *23*(4), 839-874.
- 4. Lavy, V., Kott, A., & Rachkovski, G. (2020). Does Remedial Education at LateChildhood pay off after all? Long-run Consequences for University Schooling, Labor Market Outcomes and Inter-generational Mobility. *Journal of Labor Economics*, forthcoming.

LONG-LASTING EFFECTS OF COMMUNIST INDOCTRINATION IN SCHOOL: EVIDENCE FROM POLAND

Jorge García Hombrados¹

Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Madrid, Spain

Joan Costa Font²

London School of Economics and Political Science, London, UK

Anna Nicinska³

University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland

MOTIVATION

Education plays a role in passing on values conducive to desirable economic outcomes (Sianesi and Reenen, 2003; Acemoglu and Angrist, 1999). However, in autocratic regimes, school indoctrination is used to reduce political dissidence and nurture regime loyalty, by inculcating a set of beliefs accepted uncritically. The set of values instilled may have adverse impacts on individuals living in autocratic regimes, which accounts for more than 1.7 billion people worldwide.

RESEARCH QUESTION

This paper examines the long-term effects of school indoctrination to Marxism-Leninism. Specifically, we assess the impact of a school reform that reduced substantially the Marxist-Leninist contents from the curricula starting from the school year 1954/55, following the death of Stalin in 1953.

METHODOLOGY

We use a difference-in-difference strategy comparing individuals born just before and after the cut-off date in school classes affected by the reform (already enrolled in school when the reform was implemented) and in school classes unaffected by the reform.

¹ E-mail address: jorge.garcia.hombrados@gmail.com

² E-mail address: J.Costa-Font@lse.ac.uk

³ E-mail address: anicinska@wne.uw.edu.pl

RESULTS

The results of the analysis suggest that the removal of Marxism-Leninism from the curricula in the mid 1950's had beneficial effects on the probability of completing secondary education, attending university and labour force participation. We interpret these results as strong evidence for the negative effects of Marxist-Leninist indoctrination on human capital investments and labour market outcomes.

CONTRIBUTION

This article contributes to the growing literature on the long-term consequences of values and attitudes (Hansen, 2013; Granato et al., 1996). Specifically, this paper documents the long-term effects on economic behaviours, in particular on such crucial welfare determinants as labour force participation and human capital accumulation.

KEY WORDS

Indoctrination, communism, school, labour market outcomes

JEL CLASSIFICATION

125

- Acemoglu, D., & Angrist, J. (1999). How large are the social returns to education? Evidence from compulsory schooling laws. Technical report, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- 2. Sianesi, B., & Reenen, J. V. (2003). The returns to education: Macroeconomics. *Journal of economic surveys*, *17*(2), 157-200.

FROM THE CLASSROOM TO MATERNITY WARD AND PUBLIC WORKS: WHAT HAPPENS WHEN COMPULSORY SCHOOL LEAVING AGE IS DECREASED?

Anna Adamecz⁴

Institute of Economics, Centre for Economic and Regional Studies (KRTK KRTI), Budapest, Hungary and UCL Social Research Institute, University College London, London, UK

Dániel Prinz⁵

The Institute for Fiscal Studies, London, UK

Ágnes Szabó-Morvai⁶

Institute of Economics, Centre for Economic and Regional Studies (KRTK KRTI), Budapest, Hungary

Sunčica Vujić⁷

University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium

MOTIVATION

Over the last several decades, governments around the developed world have gradually increased the compulsory schooling age. While there is ample empirical evidence on the causal effects of longer schooling, as governments rarely decrease the school leaving age, we know very little about what happens when compulsory schooling is shortened. In this paper we provide new evidence on the effects of decreasing the school leaving age from 18 to 16 on female teenage outcomes at ages 16-18 in Hungary.

RESEARCH QUESTION

While there is ample empirical evidence on the causal effects of longer schooling, as governments rarely decrease the school leaving age, we know very little about what happens when compulsory schooling is shortened. This paper tries to fill this

⁴ E-mail address: a.adamecz-volgyi@ucl.ac.uk

⁵ E-mail address: daniel.prinz@ifs.org.uk

⁶ E-mail address: szabomorvai.agnes@krtk.hu

⁷ E-mail address: suncica.vujic@uantwerpen.be

gap and answers the question on the effects of decreasing the school leaving age from 18 to 16 on female teenage outcomes at ages 16-18 in Hungary: fertility, employment, unemployment, public works participation and being NEET.

METHODOLOGY

We use administrative data and apply a difference-in-differences (DiD) identification strategy, based on the introduction of the reform. We define the treated and control cohorts based on the completion time of primary school: those who completed primary school before (in 2010 and 2011) and after (in 2012 and 2013) the reform. Using these four cohorts, we estimate DiD regressions to examine the causal effects of the reform on the probability of dropping out of school, the probability of teenage motherhood, the probability of being a NEET and the probability of participating in public works programs.

RESULTS

We find that the reform increased the probability of dropping out of school at age 16-18 by 118%. The effects are the largest for the most disadvantaged group – those whose mothers have at most a primary education degree. In this latter group, the reform increased the probability of teenage motherhood by 4.9pp. We find no effects on the probability of teenage abortions. We also find evidence that the reform increased the probability of being a NEET and of participating in public works programs.

CONTRIBUTION

We contribute to the literature by looking at the effects of decreasing the compulsory school leaving age. To the best of our knowledge, ours is the first paper to investigate the comprehensive causal effects of such reform. We show that the reform had detrimental effects on the most vulnerable students and thus it is expected to increase social inequalities on the long run.

KEY WORDS

Education, teenage fertility, compulsory school leaving age, public works

JEL CLASSIFICATION

126, J13, O15

- 1. Adamecz-Völgyi, A., & Scharle, Á. (2020). Books or babies? The incapacitation effect of schooling on minority women. *Journal of Population Economics*, *33*(4), 1219-1261.
- 2. Barcellos, S. H., Carvalho, L. S., & Turley, P. (2018). Education can reduce health disparities related to genetic risk of obesity: Evidence from a British reform. BioRxiv, 260463.
- 3. Black, S. E., Devereux, P. J., & Salvanes, K. G. (2008). Staying in the classroom and out of the maternity ward? The effect of compulsory schooling laws on teenage births. *The economic journal*, *118*(530), 1025-1054.
- 4. Clark, D., & Royer, H. (2013). The effect of education on adult mortality and health: Evidence from Britain. *American Economic Review*, *103*(6), 2087-2120.
- 5. Cohen, M. A. (1998). The monetary value of saving a high-risk youth. *Journal of quantitative criminology*, *14*(1), 5-33.
- 6. Cygan-Rehm, K., & Maeder, M. (2013). The effect of education on fertility: Evidence from a compulsory schooling reform. *Labour Economics*, *25*, 35-48.
- 7. DeCicca, P., & Krashinsky, H. (2015). *Does education reduce teen fertility? Evidence from Compulsory Schooling Laws* (No. w21594). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- 8. Fonseca, R., Michaud, P. C., & Zheng, Y. (2020). The effect of education on health: evidence from national compulsory schooling reforms. *SERIEs*, *11*(1), 83-103.
- 9. Lleras-Muney, A. (2005). The relationship between education and adult mortality in the United States. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 72(1), 189-221.
- 10. Lochner, L., & Moretti, E. (2004). The effect of education on crime: Evidence from prison inmates, arrests, and self-reports. *American economic review*, *94*(1), 155-189.
- 11. McCrary, J., & Royer, H. (2011). The effect of female education on fertility and infant health: evidence from school entry policies using exact date of birth. *American economic review*, 101(1), 158-95.
- 12. Sebők, A. (2019). The Panel of Linked Administrative Data of CERS Databank: A KRTK Adatbank Kapcsolt Allamigazgatási Paneladatbázisa. Budapest Working Papers on the Labour Market. Institute of Economics, Centre for Economic and Regional Studies.

EDUCATION AND FERTILITY TIMING: DO QUALIFICATIONS MATTER?

Jonathan James¹

University of Bath, Bath, United Kingdom

Sunčica Vujić²

University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium

MOTIVATION

Teenage fertility rates in the United Kingdom (UK) are the highest in Western Europe, and second only to the United States (US) in the developed world. There are also concerns with delays in fertility. Policy makers have focused on the drivers of both teen fertility and delays in childbearing. What has been examined less is the role of education for the fertility timing decisions.

RESEARCH QUESTION

We examine the effect of education, and the importance of qualifications in particular, and the role they can play in reducing the probability of a teen birth. We further focus not just on teen births but also examine the extent to which fertility is delayed.

METHODOLOGY

We use a feature of the schooling system that led some individuals, due to their month of birth, to be able to leave the school before taking the final high school exams, and so could leave without having a qualification – the Easter Leaving Rule (ELR). The ELR determined exactly when in the school year people could leave school. Depending on their birthday, children faced one of the two possible leaving dates, the end of the Easter term or the end of the summer term. After the minimum school leaving age rose to 16 in 1973, the age at which the first set of high

¹ E-mail address: j.james@bath.ac.uk

² E-mail address: suncica.vujic@uantwerpen.be

stakes exams is typically taken in the UK, late leavers were significantly more likely to obtain academic qualifications. This raising of the school leaving age, effectively switching on the ELR, means that we are able to introduce a control group (those not affected by the change in the school leaving age) into the regression discontinuity set up. This results in a regression discontinuity difference-in-differences (RD-DD) strategy.

RESULTS

The improvements in qualifications as a result of the ELR did not lead to a reduction in the probability of having a child as a teenager. However, we do find that this source of variation in education led to delays in having a first child. We show the importance of our RD-DD strategy in estimating the effect of the ELR by presenting estimates from a more typical RD (non-parametric) approach. These results would erroneously conclude that the ELR led to a reduction in teen births.

CONTRIBUTION

This is the first paper that utilises the Easter Leaving Rule (ELR) in order to investigate the relationship between education, measured by qualifications, and fertility timing.

KEY WORDS

Education, fertility timing, Easter leaving rule

JEL CLASSIFICATION

126, J13

- 1. Anderberg, D., & Zhu, Y. (2014). What a difference a term makes: the effect of educational attainment on marital outcomes in the UK. *Journal of Population Economics*, 27(2), 387-419.
- 2. Braakmann, N. (2011). The causal relationship between education, health and health related behaviour: Evidence from a natural experiment in England. *Journal of Health Economics*, 30(4), 753-763.

- 3. Del Bono, E., & Galindo-Rueda, F. (2006). The long term impacts of compulsory schooling: Evidence from a natural experiment in school leaving dates (No. 2006-44). ISER Working Paper Series.
- 4. Dickson, M., & Smith, S. (2011). What determines the return to education: an extra year or a hurdle cleared?. Economics of education review, 30(6), 1167-1176.

Stream B: Labour 2

FROM BRICKLAYERS TO WAITERS: LABOR MARKET ADJUSTMENT OF SPANISH WORKERS DURING THE GREAT RECESSION

Henry Redondo Gomez¹

UC3M, Madrid, Spain

MOTIVATION

The burst of the Spanish property bubble destroyed millions of jobs, including in the most affected construction sector. A crucial question for labor economists and policymakers is how do workers react to such negative shocks? Contrary to classical findings, recent studies find adjustment is slow and that geographical mobility plays little importance on the worker's adjustment process. Therefore, alternative mechanisms should be studied.

RESEARCH QUESTION

This article addresses mainly two questions. First, how persistent in the earnings and employment trajectories of workers is the shock? After documenting these causal impacts, I study the extent to which the local sectoral composition contributes to attenuate the shock's impact on workers' career outcomes.

METHODOLOGY

I rely on longitudinal data that tracks all the worker's labor market history and complete data on the worker's relevant characteristics to avoid potential biases. To study the role of sectoral composition in the adjustment of workers I construct an index that captures the likelihood of transitioning from the construction sector to any other sector (*reallocation index*). The measure is based on workers' characteristics and their province of residence before the shock.

_

¹ E-mail address: hredondo@eco.uc3m.es

RESULTS

Workers whose characteristics are less concentrated among sectors are less affected as they are more likely to change sector. One implication is that high sectoral concentrations in a region may impede worker's ability to adapt to economic shocks. These findings suggest that short-term labor market adjustments tend to be intersectoral rather than inter-regional, even under asymmetric regional exposure.

CONTRIBUTION

The first part of the paper contributes to the large literature on job displacement, by documenting the impact on worker's career outcomes from a large shock during the Great Recession. The second part of the paper mainly contributes to the literature on labor market adjustment by documenting the role of sectoral composition in the sectoral reallocation decision of workers.

KEY WORDS

Great Recession, migration, sectoral reallocation

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J23, J31, J63

REFERENCES

1. Blanchard, O. J., Katz, L. F., Hall, R. E., & Eichengreen, B. (1992). Regional evolutions. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 1992(1), 1–75.

NATURAL DISASTERS AND ENTERPRISE RECOVERY: A GENDER APPROACH

Ha Luong¹

University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

MOTIVATION

Natural disasters are massive challenges for humans along the history. Such large- scale events kill 60,000 people per year, and account for 0.1% of global deat hs. Out of highly vulnerable groups, micro, small and medium enterprises (MSMEs) were affected drastically by catastrophic weather events in both developing and d eveloped nations. One constraint that MSMEs face in developing countries is lack of access to finance, hence several organizations focus on supporting those firms with grants.

RESEARCH QUESTION

This paper explores gender differences in grant impacts on firm performance following natural disasters, and potential mechanisms that are behind the main findings.

METHODOLOGY

We ultilize a panel dataset from an experiment in Sri Lanka after the 2004 tsunami, which was implemented by researchers from the World Bank and partner universities. The experiment focused on low capital enterprises in three coastal districts. A baseline survey was implemented in April 2005 after a screening survey of households from the 2001 census. Following the baseline survey, the research group randomly assigned one-time grant of either 10,000 or 20,000 Sri Lanka rupees to enterprises.

RESULTS

Our results suggest that capital grant has a significantly positive impact on business performance of male-owned firms, but zero effect on that of female-owned firms.

_

¹ E-mail address: ha.luong@ub.edu

There are several potential mechanisms that drive the results, including gender differences in business investment, in household expenditures and in business closure. Additionally, we find a positive effect of treatment on business owners' psychological recovery, but we do not find evidence supporting gender bias in this dimension.

CONTRIBUTION

Firstly, we report evidence in gender differences in firm performance after receiving grants in developing countries. The findings are aligned with several studies in other locations. Secondly, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that documents gender disparities in initial business closure following n atural disasters. Lastly, we provide novel findings in the relationship between capital grants and psychological recovery of entrepreneurs.

KEY WORDS

Gender, microenterprises, natural disasters

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J16, L26, Q54

- Cravo, T. A., & Piza, C. (2019). The impact of business-support services on firm performance: A meta-analysis. *Small Business Economics*, 53(3), 753-770. Croson, R., & Gneezy, U. (2009). Gender Differences in Preferences. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 47(2), 448-74.
- 2. De Mel, S., McKenzie, D., & Woodruff, C. (2009). Are women more credit constrained? Experimental evidence on gender and microenterprise returns. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 1(3), 1-32.
- 3. De Mel, S., McKenzie, D., & Woodruff, C. (2008). Returns to Capital in Microenterprises: Evidence from a Field Experiment. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 123(4), 1329-1372. doi:10.1162/qjec.2008.123.4.1329
- De Mel, S., McKenzie, D., & Woodruff, C. (2012). Enterprise Recovery Following Natural Disasters. The Economic Journal, 122(559), 64-91. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.2011.02475.x
- De Mel, S., McKenzie, D., & Woodruff, C. (2012, December 10). Sri Lanka Microenterprise Survey (SLMS) 2005-2010. Sri Lanka Microenterprise Survey (SLMS) 2005-2010. Washington, D.C, United States: World Bank. Retrieved on October 30, 2020 from https://microdata.worldbank.org/index.php/catalog/1243.

- 6. Fafchamps, M., McKenzie, D., Quinn, S., & Woodruff, C. (2014). Microenterprise growt h and the flypaper effect: Evidence from a randomized experiment in Ghana. *Journal of Development Economics*, 106, 211-226. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2013.09.010
- 7. Fiala, N. (2018). Returns to Microcredit, Cash Grants and Training for Male and Female Microentrepreneurs. *World Development*, 105, 189–200.
- 8. Gine, X., & Mansuri, G. (2014). Money or Ideas? A Field Experiment on Constraints to Entrepreneurship in Rural Pakistan. *World Bank Policy Research*, 6959.
- 9. Haushofer, J., & Shapiro, J. (2016). The Short-term Impact of Unconditional Cash Transfers to the Poor: Experimental. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 131*(4), 1973 -2042. doi:10.1093/qje/qjw025
- McKenzie, D. (2017, August). Identifying and Spurring High-Growth Entrepreneurship: Experimental Evidence from a Business Plan Competition. American Economic Review, 107(8), 2278-2307. doi:10.1257/aer.20151404
- 11. Ohrnberger, J., Anselmi, L., Fichera, E., & Sutton, M. (2020). The effect of cash transfers on mental health: Opening the black box A study from South Africa. *Social Science & Medicine*, *260*, 113181.
- 12. Ritchie, H., & Roser, M. (2014). *Natural Disasters*. https://ourworldindata.org/natural-disasters: Our World in Data.
- 13. Srhoj, S., Škrinjarić, B., & Radas, S. (2021). Bidding against the odds? The impact evaluation of grants for young micro and small firms during the recession. *Small Business Economics*, *56*(1), 83-103.
- 14. Strömberg, D. (2007). Natural Disasters, Economic Development, and Humanitarian Ai d. *Journal of Economic perspectives*, *21*(3), 199-222. doi:10.1257/jep.21.3.199

WITH ACTIVITIES OF DAILY LIVING: A POPULATION-BASED ANALYSIS OF THE OLDER POPULATION IN URUGUAY

Maira Colacce¹

Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay

Julia Córdoba²

Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay

Alejandra Marroig³

Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay

Guillermo Sánchez-Laguardia⁴

Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay

MOTIVATION

Older populations exhibit higher prevalence of chronic diseases, disability, and dependency, placing social security and health care systems under stress (Prina et al., 2020; Sousa et al., 2010). Developing countries face the additional challenge of 'getting old before getting rich' (Bloom et al., 2010). Yet, the daily need for help of older adults depends on socio-demographic characteristics. The understanding of the dependency heterogeneity provides evidence for better policy design.

RESEARCH QUESTION

Our aim is to identify groups of dependent older people in Uruguay and their relationship with socio-demographic characteristics. We consider the dependence status as a latent state and identify groups using the declared need for assistance in Activities of Daily Living (ADL). We characterize these groups in terms of the ADL, age, sex, education, and other health conditions. Last, we compare these groups with other classifications used in national care programs in Uruguay.

¹ E-mail address: maira.colacce@fcea.edu.uy

² E-mail address: jcordoba@psico.edu.uy

³ E-mail address: alejandra.marroig@fcea.edu.uy

⁴ E-mail address: guillermo.sanchez@fcea.edu.uy

METHODOLOGY

Based on a Uruguayan household survey (ELPS, 2016) we apply a latent class regression model (Hagenaars & McCutcheon, 2002) for the dependency status of the older population (60+). We consider the need of assistance in basic and instrumental ADL (Katz et al., 1963; Lawton & Brody, 1969) as manifest variables and incorporate gender, age and educational attainment as covariates. The number of groups is selected based on AIC and BIC criterium.

RESULTS

We identify four dependency profiles: i) independent, no need for help in ADL (86% of population); ii) only instrumental, characterized by the need for help only in household chores and moving outside the home (5%); iii) instrumental and basic, related to the need for help in several activities, except eating (7%), and iv) highly dependent, associated with the need of assistance in eating and others (2%). The probability of independence decreases with age, is lower for women and for the less educated.

CONTRIBUTION

First, we carefully conceptualize dependency and use a specific measure for this construct. The literature tends to confound dependency with disability, or health status. Second, previous studies have considered health or disability as latent variables using ADL in developed countries (Luo & Li, 2020; Amengual et al., 2021). We study the external validity of these categories in a developing country and compare our profiles with the classification used in the care program in Uruguay.

KEY WORDS

Latent groups, aging, long-Term Care, dependence, Uruguay

JEL CLASSIFICATION

114, C38, J14

- Amengual, D., Bueren, J., & Crego, J. A. (2017). Endogenous health groups and heterogeneous dynamics of the elderly (No. 17/18). HEDG, c/o Department of Economics, University of York.
- 2. Bloom, D. E., Canning, D., & Fink, G. (2010). Implications of population ageing for economic growth. *Oxford review of economic policy*, *26*(4), 583-612.
- 3. Hagenaars, J. A., & McCutcheon, A. L. (Eds.). (2002). *Applied latent class analysis*. Cambridge University Press.
- 4. Katz, S., Ford, A. B., Moskowitz, R. W., Jackson, B. A., & Jaffe, M. W. (1963). Studies of illness in the aged: the index of ADL: a standardized measure of biological and psychosocial function. *JAMA*, *185*(12), 914-919.
- 5. Lawton, M. P., & Brody, E. M. (1969). Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *The Gerontologist*, *9*(3, Pt 1), 179–86.
- 6. Luo, M. S., & Li, L. W. (2020). Are self-perceptions of aging associated with health trajectories among middle-aged and older adults?. *The Gerontologist*, *60*(5), 841-850.
- 7. Prina, A. M., Wu, Y.-T., Kralj, C., Acosta, D., Acosta, I., Guerra, M., Huang, Y., Jotheeswaran, A. T., Jimenez-Velazquez, I. Z., Liu, Z., Llibre Rodriguez, J. J., Salas, A., Sosa, A. L., & Prince, M. (2020). Dependence- and Disability-Free Life Expectancy Across Eight Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A 10/66 Study. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 32(5–6), 401–409.
- 8. Sousa, R. M., Ferri, C. P., Acosta, D., Albanese, E., Guerra, M., Huang, Y., Jacob, K., Jotheeswaran, A., Rodriguez, J. J. L., Pichardo, G. R., Rodriguez, M. C., Salas, A., Sosa, A. L., Williams, J., Zuniga, T., & Prince, M. (2009). Contribution of chronic diseases to disability in elderly people in countries with low and middle incomes: A 10/66 Dementia Research Group population-based survey. *The Lancet*, *374*(9704), 1821–1830.

PRODUCTIVITY, WAGES AND WORKING HOURS: A PANEL COINTEGRATION ANALYSIS FOR OECD COUNTRIES

Aytekin Güven¹

Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Bolu, Turkey

Işıl Şirin Selçuk²

Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Bolu, Turkey

MOTIVATION

Working hours, wages and productivity are substantial concepts in the labor economics literature. Although understanding how the number of hours worked and how the wages affect labor productivity is an important element of understanding labor demand, different results can be found in studies with microdata. However, examining these three relationships using aggregated data will also be a guide for policy makers. In this respect, it is important to examine the effects of wages and working hours on labor productivity.

RESEARCH QUESTION

Working hours, wages and productivity are generally studied in terms of either working hours and productivity or wages and productivity. The aim of this study is to examine these three concepts together. In this respect, the long-term relationship between low wages and high working hours and low labor productivity has been investigated. We claim that the increase in working hours is negative on productivity and, considering the effective wage theory, wages have a positive relationship with productivity by using aggregate panel data.

METHODOLOGY

This study uses heterogeneous panel cointegration techniques to estimate the long-run relationship between working hours, wages and productivity using panel cointegration analysis for OECD countries. Accordingly, the macro panel data set consists of 35 OECD countries. Since the data set covering the years 2001-2019 is not stationary, the analyzes are carried out by taking the first differences. We apply

¹ E-mail address: guven a1@ibu.edu.tr

² E-mail address: isilselcuk@gmail.com

cointegration tests considering cross-sectional dependence. We estimate the long-run growth effect of labor productivity using DOLS estimator. Considering that these relations may differ for developed and developing countries, we conducted our analysis for these two subgroups.

RESULTS

The DOLS estimates for the coefficients on wage and working hours suggest that overtime negatively affects productivity, while wages increase productivity. In light of these findings, we re-estimate the DOLS regression for two subsamples: developed countries, developing countries. Although productivity decreases as working hours increase for both groups, the impact of overtime is higher in developing countries than in developed countries. While the effect of wages is not significant in developed countries, it is significant and positive in developing countries.

CONTRIBUTION

The main contribution of this study to the labor economics literature is to examine the wage-productivity relationship, which is an old debate, with the dimension of productivity working hours with new econometric techniques.

KEY WORDS

Panel cointegration, labor, productivity

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J24, J31

- 1. Ahmad, N., Lequiller, F., Marianna, P., Pilat, D., Schreyer, P., & Wölfl, A. (2003). Comparing Labour Productivity Growth in the OECD Area: The Role of Measurement. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1690929
- 2. Bick, A., Blandin, A., & Rogerson, R. (2020). *Hours and Wages* (No. w26722; p. w26722). National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w26722
- 3. Collewet, M., & Sauermann, J. (2017). Working Hours and Productivity. *Labour Economics*, 47, 96–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2017.03.006
- 4. Delmez, F., & Vandenberghe, V. (2018). Long Working Hours Make Us Less Productive but Also Less Costly. *LABOUR*, *32*(4), 259–287. https://doi.org/10.1111/labr.12128

- 5. Herzer, D., & Vollmer, S. (2012). Inequality and growth: Evidence from panel cointegration. *The Journal of Economic Inequality*, *10*(4), 489–503. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10888-011-9171-6
- Knight, K. W., Rosa, E. A., & Schor, J. B. (2013). Could Working Less Reduce Pressures on The Environment? A Cross-National Panel Analysis of OECD Countries, 1970–2007. Global Environmental Change, 23(4), 691–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2013.02.017
- 7. Pencavel, J. (2015). The Productivity of Working Hours. *The Economic Journal*, *125*(589), 2052–2076. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecoj.12166
- 8. Pencavel, J. (2016). Recovery from Work and the Productivity of Working Hours. *Economica*, 83(332), 545–563. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecca.12206
- 9. Pesaran, M. H. (2007). A Simple Panel Unit Root Test in The Presence Of Cross-Section Dependence. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 22(2), 265–312. https://doi.org/10.1002/jae.951
- Pesaran, M. H. (2021). General Diagnostic Tests for Cross-Sectional Dependence In Panels. Empirical Economics, 60(1), 13–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00181-020-01875-7
- 11. Policardo, L., Punzo, L. F., & Carrera, E. J. S. (2019). On The Wage—Productivity Causal Relationship. *Empirical Economics*, *57*(1), 329–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00181-018-1428-5
- 12. Vergeer, R., & Kleinknecht, A. (2010). The Impact of Labor Market Deregulation on Productivity: A Panel Data Analysis Of 19 OECD Countries (1960-2004). *Journal of Post Keynesian Economics*, 33(2), 371–408. https://doi.org/10.2753/PKE0160-3477330208

Stream C: Welfare, Institutions and Policies

PUBLIC DEBT AND INEQUALITY IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA: THE CASE OF EMCCA AND WAEMU COUNTRIES

Mihai Mutascu¹

Zeppelin University in Friedrichshafen, Friedrichshafen, Germany; FEBA - West University of Timisoara, Timisoara, Romania; and LEO - University of Orleans, Orleans, France

Albert Lessoua²

ESCE International Business School, Paris, France

Bogdan lanc³

LEO - University of Orleans, Orleans, France; and ECREB - West University of Timisoara, Timisoara, Romania

MOTIVATION

The income inequality arose a special interest during the last decades as the economic growth is not uniformly transferred on the welfare across the persons in all situations. Herein, asymmetric effects are registered. At the international level, many Sub-Saharan African (SSA) countries confronted with that inequality, depending especially on corruption, economic structure and characteristics, education, or tax system. Unfortunately, their public debt was quasi-neglected in that equation.

RESEARCH QUESTION

The paper investigates the impact of public debt on income inequality in several SSA countries, more precisely in the Economic and Monetary Community of Central Africa (EMCCA) and West African Economic and Monetary Union (WAEMU). The main research question is: does the public debt influence the income inequality in the SSA?

¹ E-mail address: mihai.mutascu@gmail.com

² E-mail address: albert.lessoua@esce.fr

³ E-mail address: nicolae-bogdan.ianc@univ-orleans.fr

METHODOLOGY

The analysis considers the Bayesian Model Averaging (BMA) estimator, with a sample with 14 countries (i.e., EMCCA - 6 countries, and WAEMU - 8 countries), over the period 1997-2019. Additionally, three scenarios are computed to check for robustness (i.e., whole sample, EMCCA and WAEMU).

RESULTS

The findings show that the increase of public debt accentuates the inequality in the whole considered sample, remaining robust only in WEAMU. The augment of public debt in the WEAMU increases the 1% and 10% share of top income in parallel with a fall in 40% and 50% share of middle and bottom revenues. Herein, the acceleration of public debt in WEAMU generates a transfer of welfare from poor to rich people. Otherwise, the impact of public debt on inequality is rather neutral in the EMCCA area.

CONTRIBUTION

The contribution of the paper is threefold. The analysis seems to be one of the first studies that explores the impact of public debt on inequality in the SSA countries by using different levels of revenues. Second, also as a novelty, it is one of the first works that follow the BMA estimator to discriminate between main and auxiliary determinants of inequality. Third, the paper offers a useful comparison between EMCCA and WAEMU groups given their both financial and economic characteristics.

KEY WORDS

Public debt, revenue inequality, determinants, Sub-Saharan Africa

JEL CLASSIFICATION

D63, H63, C23

- AfDB (2019). Perspective Economique en Afrique, Rapport de la Banque africaine de développement.
- 2. Anderson, K., Cockburn, J., & Martin, W. (2009). Agricultural Price Distortions, Inequality, and Poverty, World Bank Publications.

Parallel Sessions II, Stream C: Welfare, Institutions and Policies

- 3. Arslan, F.P. (2019). Public Debt and Income Inequality in Turkey. *Journal of Research in Economics*, *3*(2), 91-109.
- 4. Bangoura, L., Momar, M., Lessoua, A., & Diaw D. (2016). Impact of Microfinance on pauverty and Inégality: A heterogenouse panel causality analysis. *Revue d'Economie Politique*, 126(5), 789-818.
- 5. Borissov, K., & Kalk, A. (2020). Public debt, positional concerns, and wealth inequality. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 170, 96-111.
- 6. Carrère, C. (2013). UEMOA, EMCCA: quelle performance en matière de commerce? *Revue d'économie du développement*, *21*(1), 33-60.
- 7. Chatzouz, M. (2020). Public Debt and Wealth Inequality. Available at SSRN 3531199.
- 8. Doumbia, D., & Kinda, M.T., 2019. *Reallocating Public Spending to Reduce Income Inequality: Can It Work?* International Monetary Fund.
- 9. Diaw D., & Lessoua A. (2013). Natural Resources Exports, Diversification and Economic Growth of EMCCA Countries: On the Impact of Trade with China. *African Development Review*, 25(2), 189-202.
- 10. Government Finance Statistics (2021). International Monetary Fund online database.
- 11. Jong-II, Y., & Dutt, A.K. (1996). Government debt, income distribution and growth. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 20(3), 335-351.
- 12. Magnus, J. R., Powell, O., & Prufer, P. (2010). A comparison of two model averaging techniques with an application to growth empirics. *Journal of Econometrics*, 154, 139-153.
- 13. Ngepah, N. (2009). Inequality, Agricultural Production and Poverty: With Focus on Large-scale/Small-scale Sugarcane Farms in South Africa.
- 14. Sayed, A. (2020). Income Inequality and Public Debt: What Can Be Learned from the Lebanese Indebtedness? *Business and Economic Research*, *10*(4), 83-106.
- 15. Salti, N. (2015). Income inequality and the composition of public debt, *Journal of Economic Studies*, 42(5), 821-837.
- 16. Soludo, C.C. (2003). Debt, Poverty, and Inequality: Toward an Exit Strategy for Nigeria and Africa. *The debt trap in Nigeria: Towards a sustainable debt strategy*, FWP Publisher.
- 17. United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (2021). United Nations Conference on Trade and Development online database.
- 18. World Inequality Database (2021). World Inequality Lab online database.
- 19. World Development Indicators (2021). World Bank online database.
- 20. Worldwide Governance Indicators (2021). World Bank online database.

COMPLEX COEXISTENCE OF PUBLIC PAYG AND MANDATORY PRIVATE FUNDED PENSION SCHEMES IN CROATIA

Danijel Nestić⁴

Institute of Economics, Zagreb, Croatia

MOTIVATION

Unlike most Central and Eastern European countries Croatia has maintained the key features of its multi-pillar pension system as instituted in early 2000s. The second pillar i.e., private management of mandatory individual accounts is working for majority of employees. However, the 2018 reform has extended the exit option to all second-pillar account holders. The option can be realized in the moment of retirement by taking the full PAYG benefit instead of combined first- and secondpillar benefit and transferring the savings to the government budget. By exploring and debating the effects of that option in particular context of the Croatian pension system we expect to contribute to the broader discussion on cost and benefits of the second pillar scheme.

RESEARCH QUESTION

The combined pension benefit is set to compete with the full PAYG benefit in pension payments. What are the key factors determining the account holder's choice between these two pension types? What proportion of them are expected to choose the full first pillar pension and exit the second pillar? Will it be different in the future? What are the characteristics of account holders that exited? What are the expected consequences of benefit competition on government budget balance and future pension reforms?

METHODOLOGY

Long-term projections of the gross replacement rate for selected careers are used to inform on expected choices between two benefit types in the next 50 years. Several key assumptions used in projections are varied to investigate their impact on the results. In addition, the paper provides long-term projection of the transition

70

⁴ E-mail address: dnestic@eizg.hr

Parallel Sessions II, Stream C: Welfare, Institutions and Policies

costs of the second pillar to illustrate macroeconomic dimension of interaction between two mandatory pension pillars.

RESULTS

The projections show that the replacement rates for Croatian pensioners will decline. Majority of account holders are expected to exit the second pillar as a more favorable option. Minimum pension beneficiaries, early retirees, women, and low-wage earners are expected more often to opt for exit. The choice of pension type is under heavy influence of the public pension supplement, which if paid at different rate to those who exit and those who remain in the second pillar.

CONTRIBUTION

The paper illustrates complex interactions between the first and the second pension pillar in Croatia. It is shown that policy choices related to the first pillar are having much larger impact on the desirability of the combined benefit than second-pillar performance. The assessment of transition costs shows that the choice of an appropriate second-pillar size is one of the keys to fiscal sustainability of the multipillar pension systems. The findings are expected to contribute to the discussion about future of the second pillar in Croatia and elsewhere.

KEY WORDS

Pension reform, PAYG scheme, fully funded pension scheme, pension adequacy

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J32, H55

- 1. Bielawska, K., Chłoń-Domińczak, A. & Dariusz S. (2017). Retreat from mandatory pension funds in countries of the Eastern and Central Europe in result of financial and fiscal crisis: Causes, effects and recommendations for fiscal rules. MPRA Paper No. 83345.
- Égert, B. (2012), The Impact of Changes in Second Pension Pillars on Public Finances in Central and Eastern Europe, OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No. 942, OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k9fltdtxbr6-en

- 3. European Commission (2001). Reforms of pension systems in the EU An analysis of the policy options. *European Economy*, 73 (Ch 5): 175-227. Brussels: European Commission, Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs.
- European Commission (2021a). The 2021 Ageing Report: Economic and Budgetary Projections for the EU Member States (2019-2070). Institutional paper, No. 148. Brussels: European Commission (Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs).
- 5. European Commission (2021b). *The 2021 Pension Adequacy Report: current and future income adequacy in old age in the EU. Volume I.* Brussels: European Commission (Director-General for Employment, Social Affairs, and Inclusion) and Social Protection Committee.
- 6. Fultz E., & Hirose K. (2019). Second-pillar pensions in Central and Easter Europe: Payment constraints and exit options. *International Social Security Review*, 72(2), 3-22. https://doi.org/10.1111/issr.12201
- 7. Nestić, D. (2019). Adequacy of Pensions in Croatia. Policy Note. Retrieved from https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/861371604611925086-0080022020/original/22aAdequacyofPensions.pdf
- 8. World Bank (1994). Averting the old age crisis: Policies to protect the old and promote growth. Washington DC: The World Bank.

HOW IT LOOKS LIKE IF YOU DARE TO CARE: DEVELOPMENT OF HYBRID ORGANIZATIONS IN TIMES OF SOCIAL AND INSTITUTIONAL CHANGE

Ana Aleksić Mirić¹

Faculty of Economics, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Marco Bellucci²

University of Florence, Italy

Mara Bernadusi³

Dep. of Political and Social Sciences, University of Catania, Italy

Marina Petrović4

Faculty of Economics, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Rosario Sapienza⁵

ImpactHub GMBH, Italy

MOTIVATION

The goal of the present work is to explore characteristics of hybrid organizations that have developed across 11 European countries and contribute to the understanding of the features of an enabling ecosystem for this kind of organizations.

RESEARCH QUESTION

The goal of the present work is to explore characteristics of hybrid organizations that have developed across 11 European countries and contribute to the understanding of the features of an enabling ecosystem for this kind of organizations. This paper is structured as follows. Firstly, we will explore the role of hybrid organizations in the evolving social and institutional context in Europe. Secondly, we will outline the methodology that guided the complex multi-method field research, which resulted in more than 1,500 social entrepreneurs,

¹ E-mail address: anaa@ekof.bg.ac.rs

² E-mail address: marco.bellucci@unifi.it

³ E-mail address: mara.benadusi@unict.it

⁴ E-mail address: marina.petrovic@ekof.bg.ac.rs

⁵ E-mail address: rosario.sapienza@impacthub.net

stakeholders and policy makers have been involved in the research activities during these three years, 837 hybrid organizations being included in the questionnaire and 55 in-depth case studies from 11 European countries. We searched to understand the key factors that influence the development of hybrid organizations and, consequently, identify the characteristics of enabling eco-systems, and used both quantitative and qualitative data to enlighten the complexity of the factors of key influence. In order to understand the dynamics of these influences, we further searched into organisations' past, present and future perception about relative importance of factors that challenge their development. We conclude by providing some practical and managerial implication on the features of an enabling ecosystem capable of fostering social inclusion through bottom-up social entrepreneurship activities.

METHODOLOGY

In order to answer our research question on the main features of an enabling ecosystem for hybrid organizations in Europe we opted for a mixed methodology. we recurred to a convergent parallel mixed methods design, which entails the integrated collection of quantitative and qualitative data (Bryman, 2016) and enables researchers to offset the weaknesses of both quantitative and qualitative research by capitalizing on the strengths of both. In light of our research aim, we believe the combination of qualitative case studies and a quantitative survey was the most suitable approach for investigating the complexities of the organizations under study. This is especially true if we consider that 837 social entrepreneurs from 11 European countries (in alphabetical order: Albania, Austria, Denmark, England, France, Germany, Italy, Poland, Serbia, Scotland and The Netherlands) have been involved in our research activities.

RESULTS

Among the potential factors we examined, scarce funding opportunities, troublesome relations with national bureaucracies, and poor marketing skills emerged in all included countries as crucial factors constraining the development of SEs. Moreover, other factors, such as inadequate managerial skills or insufficient stakeholder involvement, can represent important hindering elements. In the dynamic sense, as from our research, hybrid organisations face numerous challenges, but their relative importance changes through their life cycle.

CONTRIBUTION

Our research provides an insight into the complex experiences of European social entrepreneurship, and it may represent a starting point for reasoning on the main steps, in terms of management and policies, that national and European stakeholders should take in order to define a flourishing inclusive ecosystem for social enterprises and other bottom-up entrepreneurial activities.

KEY WORDS

Hybrid organizations, social enterprises, disruption, social economy, Europe

JEL CLASSIFICATION

L31, M14, O35

- 1. Alvord, S. H., David Brown, L., & Letts, C. W. (2004). Social Entrepreneurship and Societal Transformation: An Exploratory Study. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 40(3), 260–282. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886304266847
- 2. Baglioni, S., Testi, E., Franchi, S., & Biggeri, M. (2018). The rise of social enterprises and social entrepreneurship in Western Europe. In: Mario Biggeri, Enrico Testi, Marco Bellucci, Roel During, H. Thomas R. Persson. *Social entrepreneurship and social innovation: ecosystems for inclusion in Europe*. London, Routledge.
- 3. Bellucci, M., Testi, E., Franchi, S., & Biggeri, M. (2018). Emerging managerial aspects of social entrepreneurship in Europe. In *Social Entrepreneurship and Social Innovation* (pp. 54-68). Routledge.
- 4. Biggeri, M., Testi, E., & Bellucci, M. (2017). Enabling Ecosystems for Social Enterprises and Social Innovation: A Capability Approach Perspective. *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities*, 18(2), 299–306. https://doi.org/10.1080/19452829.2017.1306690
- 5. Borzaga, C., Depedri, S., & Tortia, E. (2009). The role of cooperative and social enterprises: a multifaceted approach for an economic pluralism. *European Search Institute on Cooperative and Social Enterprises*.
- 6. Defourny, J., & Nyssens, M. (2008). Social enterprise in Europe: recent trends and developments. *Social Enterprise Journal*, *4*(3), 202–228.
- 7. Defourny, J., & Nyssens, M. (2010). Conceptions of social enterprise and social entrepreneurship in Europe and the United States: convergences and divergences. *Journal of Social Entrepreneurship*, 1(1), 32–53.
- 8. Dey, P., Schneider, H., & Maier, F. (2016). Intermediary Organisations and the Hegemonisation of Social Entrepreneurship: Fantasmatic Articulations, Constitutive

- Quiescences, and Moments of Indeterminacy. *Organization Studies*, *37*(10), 1451–1472. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840616634133
- 9. Di Domenico, M., Tracey, P., & Haugh, H. (2009). The dialectic of social exchange: Theorizing corporate—social enterprise collaboration. *Organization Studies*, *30*(8), 887-907.
- 10. Doherty, B., Haugh, H., & Lyon, F. (2014). Social enterprises as hybrid organizations: A review and research agenda. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, *16*(4), 417-436. DOI: 10.1111/ijmr.12028
- 11. Eldar, O. (2017). The Role of Social Enterprise and Hybrid Organizations. *Columbia Business Law Review*, 92-194.
- 12. European Commission. (1989). Communication from the Commission to the Council, Businesses in the social economy sector Europe's frontier-free mar- ket'. Brussels: Commission of the European Communities, SEC (89) 2187 final.
- 13. European Commission. (2011). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Com- mittee and the Committee of the Regions, Social Business Initiative. Creating a favourable climate for social enterprises, key stakeholders in the social econ- omy and innovation. Brussels: Commission of the European Communities, SEC (2011) 1278 final.
- 14. Haigh, N., Walker, J., Bacq, S., & Kickul, J. (2015). Hybrid organizations: origins, strategies, impacts, and implications. *California Management Review*, *57*(3), 5–12.
- 15. Klingemann, H. D., & Fuchs, D. (Eds.). (1998). *Citizens and the state*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 16. Leadbeater, C. (1997). The rise of the social entrepreneur (No. 25). London: Demos.
- 17. Mair, J., Mayer, J., & Lutz, E. (2015). Navigating Institutional Plurality: Organizational Governance in Hybrid Organizations. *Organization Studies*, *36*(6), 713–739. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840615580007
- 18. Masquelin, A. (2014). Economie sociale et solidaire et Nations-Unies. Un rapprochement récent. Think Tank européen Pour la Solidarité. Retrieved from www.pour-lasolidarite.eu/sites/default/files/publications/files/na-2014-ess-onu 0.pdf.
- Monzon, J. L., & Chaves, R. (2017). Recent evolutions of the Social Economy in the European Union. Brussels: European Economic and Social Committee, CIRIEC. DOI: 10,191345.
- 20. Putnam, R. D. (2000). *Bowling alone: The collapse and the revival of American Community*. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- 21. Tashakkori, A., & Teddlie, C. (Eds.). (2010). Sage handbook of mixed methods in social & behavioral research. London: Sage.
- Testi, E., Bellucci, M., Franchi, S., & Biggeri, M. (2017). Italian Social Enterprises at the Crossroads: Their Role in the Evolution of the Welfare State. VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-017-9875-8

- 23. Wuthnow, R. (1998). Loose connections: Joining together in America's Fragmented Communities. Harvard: Harvard University Press.
- 24. Yin, R.K. (2013). Case study research: Design and methods. London: Sage.

AFFORDABILITY AND CONSUMPTION OF CIGARETTES IN TEN SEE COUNTRIES

Mihajlo Djukić¹

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Aleksandar Zdravković²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Olivera Jovanović³

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Jovan Zubović⁴

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Marko Vladisavljević⁵

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

Tobacco taxes are the most effective tool for reducing tobacco consumption (Chaloupka, F.J. et al. 2012; Ho, L. et al. 2018, Jovanovic, et al. 2018). However, effects of taxation largely depend on the income changes as the income increase could easily offset the price effects (Husain et al. 2017). Importance of including affordability measure when designing tobacco taxation policy has been recognized within main global tobacco control manuals and policy recommendations developed by WHO and the World Bank (Blecher, 2020).

RESEARCH QUESTION

Taking into account, relatively widespread tobacco consumption in SEE countries, research analyses trends in cigarettes' affordability over the period 2009-2019. Additionally, it aims to assess whether affordability changes have had impact on cigarettes' consumption in 10 SEE countries, out of which 5 Western Balkan

¹ E-mail address: mihajlo.djukic@ien.bg.ac.rs

² E-mail address: aleksandar.zdravkovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ E-mail address: olivera.jovanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

⁴ E-mail address: jovan.zubovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

⁵ E-mail address: marko.vladisavljevic@ien.bg.ac.rs

countries aiming to enter the EU (Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro, North Macedonia and Serbia) and the other 5 already being EU members (Hungary, Slovenia, Romania, Bulgaria and Croatia).

METHODOLOGY

Research follows methodology developed by Blecher and Van Welbeck, (2004), later modified by He et al. (2018). It has been employed a fixed effects panel regression model to estimate affordability elasticity – change of the cigarettes consumption per capita (dependent variable) resulting from changes in affordability (independent variable).

RESULTS

Affordability trend over the observed period vary across the SEE region. In some countries affordability remained constant (North Macedonia) or recorded negligible decrease (Bulgaria), while in others could be observed significant affordability reductions (Montenegro and Bosnia and Herzegovina). Results clearly show that per capita consumption was negatively associated with affordability and affordability reductions over the observed period were followed by significant decrease in consumption.

CONTRIBUTION

Affordability is definitely the most significant determinant of tobacco consumption and should be incorporated into tobacco taxation policy frameworks in each of the observed countries. We propose development of Tobacco Affordability Indicator aiming to monitor annual affordability changes at the national level, also providing useful data for time and cross-country comparisons.

KEY WORDS

Affordability, cigarettes, tobacco, consumption, Southeastern Europe

JEL CLASSIFICATION

118, P36, H21

- 1. Blecher, E. H., & Van Walbeek, C. P. (2004). An international analysis of cigarette affordability. *Tobacco Control*, *13*(4), 339-346.
- 2. Blecher E. (2020). Affordability of Tobacco Products: The Case of Cigarettes. Tobacconomics White Paper. Chicago, IL: Tobacconomics, Health Policy Center, Institute for Health Research and Policy, University of Illinois at Chicago.
- 3. Chaloupka, F. J., Yurekli, A., & Fong, G. T. (2012). Tobacco taxes as a tobacco control strategy. *Tobacco control*, *21*(2), 172-180.
- 4. He, Y., Shang, C., & Chaloupka, F. J. (2018). The association between cigarette affordability and consumption: An update. *PLoS One*, *13*(12), e0200665.
- 5. Ho, L. M., Schafferer, C., Lee, J. M., Yeh, C. Y., & Hsieh, C. J. (2018). Raising cigarette excise tax to reduce consumption in low-and middle-income countries of the Asia-Pacific region: a simulation of the anticipated health and taxation revenues impacts. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 1-9.
- Husain, M. J., Kostova, D., Mbulo, L., Benjakul, S., Kengganpanich, M., & Andes, L. (2017). Changes in cigarette prices, affordability, and brand-tier consumption after a tobacco tax increase in Thailand: Evidence from the Global Adult Tobacco Surveys, 2009 and 2011. Preventive medicine, 105, S4-S9.
- 7. Jovanović, O., Zubović, J., Vladisavljević, M., Bodroža, D., Ljumović, I., Domazet, I., & Đukić, M. (2018). Estimation of tobacco products price and income elasticity using aggregate data. *Economic Analysis*, *51*(3-4), 81-94.

Stream A: Health and Labour 1

COVID-19 SURGICAL ABORTION RESTRICTION DID NOT REDUCE VISITS TO ABORTION CLINICS

Martin Andersen¹

University of North Carolina, Greensboro, U.S.A.

Sylvia Bryan²

University of Kansas, Lawrence, U.S.A.

David Slusky³

University of Kansas, Lawrence, U.S.A.

MOTIVATION

In spring 2020, 42 states issued stay at home orders, 33 banned elective medical procedures, and 13 banned surgical abortions due to concerns that shortages in masks, gloves, and gowns would increase the risk of transmission to providers and that interpersonal interactions would spread the virus. This is in the context of other restrictions, including maximum gestational ages, mandatory waiting periods, multiple visits, detailed building codes, and providers having hospital admitting privileges.

RESEARCH QUESTION

What happened to abortion clinic visits during COVID? What additional effects did broad restrictions on elective surgery or overall movement have? What additional effects did specific explicit restrictions on surgical abortions have? Can we estimate the change in abortions, extrapolating from a change in clinic visits?

¹ E-mail address: msander4@uncg.edu

² E-mail address: sylvialbryan@gmail.com

³ E-mail address: david.slusky@ku.edu

METHODOLOGY

We use daily cellular location data from SafeGraph that counts the number of visits to outpatient healthcare providers and lists of abortion providers across the United States. We gathered data on elective procedure and surgical abortion bans from the COVID State Policy Database (Raifman et al., 2020) and the Kaiser Family Foundation (Sobel et al., 2020). We estimated fixed effect Poisson regressions to examine the impact of state policies on visits to abortion clinics during the pandemic.

RESULTS

We found at least a 16 percent decrease in clinic visits in February-May 2020 versus 2019. States that banned elective procedures or imposed other measures (i.e., stay-at-home orders) saw a substantial additional decrease. However, there was no significant additional decrease from explicit surgical abortions bans. We estimate that the decrease in foot traffic over these four months reduced abortions by 9 percent in 2020 relative to 2019.

CONTRIBUTION

Broad elective procedure bans reduced abortion clinic visits, which can be rationalized through both demand and supply-side explanations. On the supply side, it may not be feasible to cover fixed costs if there are no patients coming in for other services to share the costs of providing common services. On the demand side, elective procedure bans may have provided signals about the severity of the pandemic in an area, leading the marginal woman to decide against having an abortion.

KEY WORDS

COVID, elective surgery, distancing, abortion

JEL CLASSIFICATION

H75, I18, J13

- 1. Raifman, J., Nocka, K., Jones, D., Bor, J., Lipson, S., Jay J., & Chan, P. (2020). COVID-19 US State policy database. www.tinyurl.com/statepolicies
- 2. Sobel, L., Ramaswamy, A., Frederiksen, B., & Salganicoff, A. (2020). State Action to Limit Abortion Access During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Kaiser Family Foundation. https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/state-action-to-limit-abortion-access-during-the-covid-19-pandemic/

OUT FOR GOOD: LABOR MARKET EFFECTS OF TRANSITORY AND PERSISTENT HEALTH SHOCKS

Mattis Beckmannshagen¹
Free University, Berlin, Germany
Johannes König²
DIW, Berlin, Germany

MOTIVATION

Bad health is one of the most severe life-cycle risks. Suddenly falling ill can force individuals to reduce their working time or drop out of the labor market completely (Britton & French, 2020). But the repercussions of bad health go beyond the direct effects on the labor market. Over the past decades, expenditures for sick workers' absences have steadily increased in Germany. To design effective compensation and rehabilitation schemes it is crucial to understand the nature of health shocks and how they affect individuals' labor market outcomes.

RESEARCH QUESTION

In this paper, we quantify the effect of negative health shocks, distinguishing between transitory and persistent kinds, on labor market outcomes and measures of household welfare in Germany. We examine labor supply responses on the extensive and intensive margin and identify the effect of health shocks on individuals' gross income, their spouses' gross income as well as the household net income.

METHODOLOGY

We use objective measures of health that directly correspond to consequences on the labor market, i.e., sick days and days of hospitalization to derive our indicators for persistent and transitory health shocks. We apply a data-driven clustering

¹ E-mail address: mattis.beckmannshagen@fu-berlin.de

² E-mail address: jkoenig@diw.de

technique based on these two measures for classification. We use an event-study framework to compare individuals hit by either a transitory or a persistent health shock to a control group comprising individuals not hit by a shock.

RESULTS

We find large and long-lasting effects on the extensive employment margin for those receiving a persistent health shock and substantial heterogeneity between age groups. Older employees (> 50 years) experience a drop of 25 p.p. in the participation rate after receiving the shock. On the intensive margin of employment, we only find reductions of working hours in the year of the shock but no adjustments in the long term. After a persistent shock, yearly gross income experiences a parallel downward shift for adults under 50 by around € 5000. For household net income this effect is attenuated and only around half the size.

CONTRIBUTION

Our paper makes two major advancements compared to the related literature. First, we develop a data-driven method to identify transitory and persistent health shocks based on objective information on individuals' health. This eliminates persistent perceptual biases and measurement error that is inherent to subjective health measures (Bound, 1991; Lindeboom & Kerkhofs, 2009) and the individual heterogeneity when relying on specific disease diagnoses. Second, we add to the growing literature on labor market and life-cycle income effects of health shocks by examining the propagation of shocks through various related outcomes (Dobkin et al., 2018; Blundell et al., 2021; Blundell et al., 2016).

KEY WORDS

Health shocks, labor supply, life-cycle income

JEL CLASSIFICATION

110, J22, H51

- 1. Blundell, R., Dias, M. C., Britton, J., & French, E. (2020). The impact of health on labor supply near retirement. *Journal of Human Resources*, 1217-9240R4.
- 2. Blundell, R., Pistaferri, L., & Saporta-Eksten, I. (2016). Consumption inequality and family labor supply. *American Economic Review*, *106*(2), 387-435.
- 3. Bound, J. (1991). Self-Repoted Versus Objective Measures of Healt in Retirement Models. *Journal of Human Resources*, pp. 106-138.
- 4. Britton, J., & French, E. (2020). Health and Employment amongst Older Workers. *Fiscal Studies*, *41*(1), 221-250.
- 5. Dobkin, C., Finkelstein, A., Kluender, R., & Notowidigdo, M. J. (2018). The economic consequences of hospital admissions. *American Economic Review*, *108*(2), 308-52.
- 6. Lindeboom, M., & Kerkhofs, M. (2009). Health and work of the elderly: subjective health measures, reporting errors and endogeneity in the relationship between health and work. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 24(6), 1024-1046.

MENSTRUAL HEALTH, WORKER PRODUCTIVITY AND WELL-BEING AMONG FEMALE BANGLADESHI GARMENT WORKERS

Kristina Czura¹

University of Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands

Andreas Menzel²

CERGE-EI, Prague, Czech Republic

Martina Miotto³

CERGE-EI, Prague, Czech Republic

MOTIVATION

Female labor force participation is limited in low-income countries. Recently, attention has turned to menstrual cycle as a determinant of it, and in low-income countries its effects on working women may be more marked due to lack of access to hygiene products. Many women in these countries use cloth, rugs or nothing during their period (Sumpter et al. 2013), increasing risks of infections or other health problems (Das et al., 2015; Garikipati et al., 2017), and of absence from work (WSSCC, 2013).

RESEARCH QUESTION

We unpack both informational and financial constraints to hygienic menstrual health management (henceforth MHM) and analyze the effects of relieving both constraints on labor outcomes.

METHODOLOGY

Using an RCT with ca. 1,900 female garment workers, we exogenously relax both constraints individually and jointly. Our *Info* treatment comprises attendance at a 1h information session on MHM lead by a local NGO; our *Pads* treatment provides a monthly ration of free hygienic sanitary pads for ca. 6 months; our *Pads&Info* treatment includes both. Using factories' administrative data and survey data, we

¹ E-mail address: k.czura@rug.nl

² E-mail address: andreas.menzel@cerge-ei.cz

³ E-mail address: martina.miotto@cerge-ei.cz

analyze the effects of relaxing the constraints on earnings, absenteeism, turnover and well-being.

RESULTS

1) Both treatments were successful in relaxing constraints: *Pads* increased reported pad usage by around 16-18 p.p., and *Info* increased the share of workers answering key MHM questions correctly 6 months after the sessions were held by around 6 p.p; 2) Workers randomized into any treatment earn around 0.6% more per month; 3) We do not detect changes in self-reported well-being at work, but treated workers are less likely to report symptoms of Urinary Tract Infections.

CONTRIBUTION

We contribute: 1) To the literature on health behaviour by disentangling the roles of financial constraints, experimentation and expert information in health campaigns, finding that combining the last two results in sustained improvements in worker health and earnings; 2) To the literature on the importance of MHM for economic outcomes, that so far mainly focused on educational outcomes among adolescents, as we are the first to identify the effects of improved MHM on labor outcomes using an RCT.

KEY WORDS

Menstrual health, productivity, export manufacturing

JEL CLASSIFICATION

O14, O15, O35, M54, J32, J81

- Panda B., Nayak, A., Bara, M., Bilung, B., Ranjan Mishra, P., Panigrahi, P., Cairncross, S., & Torondel, B. (2015). Menstrual hygiene practices, WASH access and the risk of urogenital infection in women from Odisha, India. *PloS one*, 10(6), e0130777.
- 2. Garikipati, S., & Boudot, C. (2017). To pad or not to pad: Towards better sanitary care for women in Indian slums. *Journal of International Development*, *29*, 32–51.
- 3. Sumpter, C., & Torondel, B. (2013). A systematic review of health and social effects of menstrual hygiene management. *PLOS One*, 8(4).

4. WSSCC. (2013). Celebrating Womanhood. How Better Menstrual Hygiene Management is the Path to better Health, Dignity and Business. Technical report, Water Supply Sanitation Collaborative Council.

TRANSITIONS INTO DEPENDENCY WITH AGEING IN EUROPE

Alejandra Marroig¹

Instituto de Estadística, Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay

MOTIVATION

Ageing has been related to the onset of dependency in older adults, and help from others may be needed daily (Barnay & Juin, 2016; Van Houtven & Norton, 2004). Some individuals start having care needs earlier in life while others may preserve independence for longer. Different trajectories towards dependency may be related with the type of help (Abdi et al, 2019). Also, these could vary according to demographic, institutional or cultural characteristics (Kingston et al, 2017; Prina et al, 2020).

RESEARCH QUESTION

The purpose of this research is to answer the following questions:

Which are the profiles of older people in their trajectories towards dependency regarding their age and sex, in 10 European countries?

Do these profiles vary according to different operationalizations of dependency construct?

Finally, how are these results related to the type of care received by older people?

METHODOLOGY

Multi-state models were applied in order to analyse the probability of transition between dependency states and death. The ability to perform Basic and Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (BADL and IADL) is used to proxy the dependency states. The data is from people aged 65 or older who participated in the "Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe" from 2004 to 2013 in Austria, Germany, Sweden, Netherlands, Spain, Italy, France, Denmark, Switzerland and Belgium.

¹ E-mail address: alejandra.marroig@fcea.edu.uy

RESULTS

Transitions varied with age and individuals had an increased risk of dependency until the age of 70. There are international differences in the risk of transition to dependency between men and women. Moreover, this differences appear for both operationalizations of dependency. The type of care received varies across countries and also differs according to sex. The percentage of people not receiving home care is higher for men than for women and the share of unpaid care is higher for women.

CONTRIBUTION

The contribution is to deepen the knowledge about trajectories towards dependency across 10 European countries that may highlight their institutional or cultural differences. Furthermore, a better understanding of the profiles of older people in these trajectories could shed light on the type of help needed. Moreover, the analysis of the type of care received taking into account the sex differences across European countries, could improve the care policies provided in this region.

KEY WORDS

Aging, dependency, activities of daily living, multi-state models, Europe

JEL CLASSIFICATION

110, J14, C33

- 1. Abdi, S., Spann, A., Borilovic, J., de Witte, L., & Hawley, M. (2019). Understanding the care and support needs of older people: A scoping review and categorisation using the WHO international classification of functioning, disability and health framework (ICF). *BMC Geriatrics*, 19(1), 195.
- 2. Barnay, T., & Juin, S. (2016). Does home care for dependent elderly people improve their mental health?. *Journal of Health Economics*, *45*, 149–160.
- 3. Kingston, A., Wohland, P., Wittenberg, R., Robinson, L., Brayne, C., Matthews, F. E., Jagger, C., Green, E., Gao, L., Barnes, R., Arthur, A., Baldwin, C., Barnes, L. E., Brayne, C., Comas-Herrera, A., Dening, T., Forster, G., Harrison, S., Ince, P. G., ... Weller, R. (2017). Is late-life dependency increasing or not? A comparison of the Cognitive Function and Ageing Studies (CFAS). *The Lancet*, *390*(10103), 1676–1684.

- 4. Prina, A. M., Wu, Y.-T., Kralj, C., Acosta, D., Acosta, I., Guerra, M., Huang, Y., Jotheeswaran, A. T., Jimenez-Velazquez, I. Z., Liu, Z., Llibre Rodriguez, J. J., Salas, A., Sosa, A. L., & Prince, M. (2020). Dependence- and Disability-Free Life Expectancy Across Eight Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A 10/66 Study. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 32(5–6), 401–409.
- 5. Van Houtven, C. H., & Norton, E. C. (2004). Informal care and health care use of older adults. *Journal of Health Economics*, 23(6), 1159–1180.

Stream B: Youth and Low-Skilled Labour Markets

DUAL RETURNS TO EXPERIENCE

Jose Garcia-Louzao¹

Bank of Lithuania and Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania

Laura Hospido²

Banco de España and IZA, Madrid, Spain

Alessandro Ruggieri³

University of Nottingham, Nottingham, United Kingdom

MOTIVATION

Fixed-term contracts are widespread in many European countries (ter Weel, 2018). Their extensive use is often rationalized by employers' quest for flexibility in rigid labor markets. On the one hand, workers might benefit from the availability of fixed-term contracts since they ease job finding and mitigate wage losses associated with skill depreciation during non-employment. On the other hand, temporary employment could be detrimental if induces unstable careers and lower human capital accumulation. While temporary contracts might reduce time out of work and allow workers to accumulate experience (almost) continuously, the quality of that experience may be worse due to poorer learning opportunities that still translate into foregone wages.

RESEARCH QUESTION

In this paper we shed light on how labor market duality affects human capital accumulation and wage trajectories of workers during their first years in the labor market. We perform our analysis in the context of the Spanish labor market, where the use of fixed-term contracts is the rule rather than the exception: more than

¹ E-mail address: jgarcialouzao@lb.lt

² E-mail address: laura.hospido@bde.es

³ E-mail address: aruggierimail@gmail.com

90% of the contracts signed each month are fixed-term and around 25% of the workforce is under some form of temporary employment (Felgueroso et al., 2018).

METHODOLOGY

We rely on rich administrative data that allows us to follow individuals since labor market entry and measure exact time worked under permanent and temporary contracts, separately. We use these precise measures of accumulated experience to estimate reduced-form wage regressions derived from a stylized framework of human capital development in a dual labor market. More precisely, we estimate variations of the following Mincer equation

$$\ln w_{it} = \alpha_i + \sum\nolimits_{c \in \{ftc,oec\}} \gamma^c c_{it} + X_{it}\theta + \delta_e + \delta_t + \varepsilon_{it}$$

here α_i stands for pre-labor market permanent individual ability while oec_{it} and ftc_{it} measure the experience accumulated by worker i working under open-ended or fixed-term contracts respectively, since labor market entry up to time t. X_{it} refers to contemporaneous job-firm characteristics (tenure, type of contract, part-time status, skill level, plant size and age, location, and sector of activity), whereas δ_e and δ_t are potential experience and year fixed effects, respectively. The inclusion of potential experience effects along with contemporaneous job-firm characteristics ensures that differences in the returns to accumulated experience can only be driven by heterogeneous past histories in the labor market. Individual fixed effects are intended to account for the sorting of workers based on unobserved permanent heterogeneity. Under the assumption that ε_{it} is an i.i.d. random term, consistent estimates can be obtained by applying the standard panel fixed effects estimator.

To explore complementarities between individual ability and experience acquired in different contracts, we introduce worker heterogeneity in the form of unobserved ability to learn and interact it with our experienced acquired under fixed-term and open-ended contracts into our framework. Similarly, we adapt our benchmark model to compare individuals with the same level of total experience but different incidence of temporary employment in their career to account for differences in job interruptions while being employed under fixed-term contracts.

RESULTS

Our results point to lower returns to experience under fixed-term contracts relative to open-ended contracts. We find that each additional year of accumulated experience in temporary employment is associated with 0.8 percentage points lower daily wage relative to the experience accumulated in permanent jobs, after accounting for observed match components and unobserved worker heterogeneity. Differences in returns prevail among job switchers, suggesting a human capital channel, since for these workers there is a clear dissociation between where experience was acquired and where it is valued. However, the uncovered difference masks substantial heterogeneity among workers. We find that the gap in returns is increasing with individual ability, being negligible for individuals at the bottom of the ability distribution while reaching 1.6 percentage points for high-ability workers. Similarly, while individuals with low levels of experience do not 1 suffer losses, higher incidence of past temporary employment among highly experienced workers leads to wage losses of up to 15%. Finally, the comparison of contract-specific employment trajectories indicates that heterogeneous returns to experience are associated with large shifts along the distribution of wage growth after 15 years since labor market entry.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes to different strands of the literature. A significant body of research has investigated the consequences of flexibility at the margin (existence of fixed-term contracts with low firing costs alongside highly protected open-ended contracts) for labor market performance (Boeri, 2011; Bentolila et al., 2020). One of the dimensions analyzed is the impact of temporary employment on workers' careers. Although empirical evidence on whether temporary employment is a stepping-stone or a dead end to stable employment are mixed (Filomena and Picchio, 2021), what is less controversial is that fixed-term contracts penalize workers in the long run, due to a less continuous employment path and lower wage growth (Booth et al., 2002; Garcia-Perez et al., 2019). We complement this literature by showing that even if workers can be continuously working over their career, they are penalized from acquiring experience in fixed-term contracts.

A parallel strand of the literature has analyzed contemporaneous wage differentials between temporary and permanent workers (e.g., Booth et al., 2002; Albanese and Gallo, 2020). Most of the results point to a penalty for workers on fixed-term contracts, which is typically rationalized by either less firm-sponsored training (Cabrales et al., 2017; Bratti et al., 2021) or lower worker's effort when the

probability of conversion from temporary to permanent are low (Dolado et al., 2016). Our analysis complements this literature by focusing on how experience accrued on temporary versus permanent contracts affects current wages. Our results suggest that the costs of being employed on temporary contracts accumulate over workers' careers, leading to lower returns to experience if on-the-job learning occurs under fixed-term contracts.

Finally, our analysis contributes to a growing literature that investigates the existence of heterogeneous returns to experience due to differences in learning opportunities based on firm type (Arellano-Bover and Saltiel, 2021), coworkers' quality (Jarosch et al., 2021), or city size (de la Roca and Puga, 2017). We add to this line of work by showing that skill acquisition under alternative contractual arrangements also leads to heterogeneous wage-experience profiles.

KEY WORDS

Human capital, labor market duality, earnings dynamics

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J30, J41, J63

- 1. Albanese, A., & Gallo, G. (2020). Buy flexible, pay more: the role of temporary contracts on wage inequality. *Labour Economics*, *64*, 101814.
- 2. Arellano-Bover, J., & Saltiel, F. (2021). *Differences in on-the-job learning across firms. I.* ZA DP No. 14473.
- 3. Bentolila, S., Dolado, J., & Jimeno, J. (n.d.). Dual Labor Markets Revisited. *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Economics and Finance*.
- 4. Boeri, T. (2011). *Institutional Reforms and Dualism in European Labor Markets* (Vol. 4). (D. Card, & O. Ashenfelter, Eds.) Amsterdam: North-Holand.: Elsevier.
- 5. Booth, A. L., Francesconi, M., & Frank, J. (n.d.). Temporary Jobs: Stepping Stones or Dead Ends? *The Economic Journa*, *112*(480), F189–F213.
- 6. Bratti, M., Conti, M., & Sulis, G. (2021). Employment Protection and Firm-Provided Training in Dual Labour Markets. *Labour Economics*, *69*, 101972.
- 7. Cabrales, A., Dolado, J. J., & Mora, R. (2017). Dual Employment Protection and (lack of) On-the-Job Training: PIAAC Evidence for Spain and Other European Countries. *SERIEs*, 8(4), 345–371.
- 8. Roca, J. D. L., & Puga, D. (2017). Learning by working in big cities. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 84(1), 106-142.

- 9. Dolado, J. J., Ortigueira, S., & Stucchi, R. (2017). Does Dual Employment Protection Affect TFP? Evidence from Spanish Manufacturing Firms. *SERIEs*, 7(4), 421–459.
- 10. Felgueroso, F., G.-P. J., Jansen, M., & Troncoso-Ponce, D. (2018). The Surge in Short-Duration Contracts in Spain. *De Economist*, *166*(4), 503–534.
- 11. Filomena, M., & Picchio, M. (2021). *Are Temporary Jobs Stepping Stones or Dead Ends?* A Meta-Analytical Review of the Literature. IZA DP No. 14367.
- 12. Garcia-Perez, J. I., Marinescu, I., & and Vall Castello, J. (2019). Can Fixed-term Contracts Put Low Skilled Youth on a Better Career Path? Evidence from Spain. *The Economic Journal*, 129(620), 1693–1730.
- 13. Jarosch, G., Oberfield, E., & Rossi-Hansberg, E. (2021). Learning from Coworkers. *Econometrica*, *89*(2), 647–676.
- 14. ter Weel, B. (2018). The Rise of Temporary Work in Europe. *De Economist*, 166(4), 397–401.

YOUTH IN NEW EUROPE: ECONOMIC ACTIVITY AND EU POLICY PREFERENCES

Valerija Botrić¹

The Institute of Economics, Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia

Ivica Rubil²

The Institute of Economics, Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia

MOTIVATION

The research is conducted within the Youth Activation Network project funded through the European Social Fund (UP.04.2.1.06.0048). The project seeks to explore why young people tend to be more socially disengaged, with specific focus on Croatia. Although previous literature has established that youths are less likely to take an interest in politics, to vote, to trust in institutions or to engage in civic participation (Salvatore et al., 2012), the evidence is relatively scarce for post-transition societies.

RESEARCH QUESTION

We explore factors contributing to different preferences for EU budget spending between youth and the rest of the population. Empirical analysis is focused on European post-transition societies, where youth has been additionally adversely affected by the 2009 crisis. Thus, youth economic activity, with specific focused on unemployment, is explored as potentially important factor shaping their policy preferences.

METHODOLOGY

We rely on Eurobarometer 93.1 Survey individual data collected in July-August 2020 as well as Eurobarometer 74.2 Survey individual data collected in November-December 2010. In addition to comparative statistical analysis, we apply multinomial logit to explore impact of different factors on revealed preferences for EU budget expenditure.

¹ E-mail address: vbotric@eizg.hr

² E-mail address: irubil@eizg.hr

RESULTS

Preliminary results suggest that youth support EU spending for (1) Employment, social affairs and public health, followed by (2) Education, training, culture and media and (3) Climate change and environmental protection. The rest of the population also favors (1) Employment, social affairs and public health, but the next preference is (2) Agriculture and rural development.

CONTRIBUTION

Previous literature has already revealed that in some post-transition societies, youth political knowledge and their interest in politics are relatively poor (Lavrič, Tomanović and Jusić, 2019). The contribution of the present paper is that it explores youth preferences for specific policy options delivered by the supranational entity and correlating them to the youth socioeconomic characteristics.

KEY WORDS

Youth, post-transition, unemployment, policy preferences

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J40, H39

- 1. European Commission. 2021. *Eurobarometer 93.1, July-August 2020*. Brussels: Kantar Public and Cologne: GESIS, ZA7649, dataset version 1.1.0, doi:10.4232/1.13696
- 2. European Commission 2020. Eurobarometer 74.2, November-December 2010, GESIS Study No. ZA5449, dataset version 2.2.0, doi: 10.4232/1.11626
- 3. Lavrič, M., Tomanović, S., & Jusić, M. (2019). *Youth Study Southeast Europe 2018/2019*. Berlin: Fridrich Ebert Stiftung.
- 4. Salvatore, M., Mascherini, L., Meierkord A., & Jungblut, J. (2012). NEETs: Young people not in employment, education or training: Characteristics, costs and policy responses in Europe. Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions.

 Retrieved from https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/cs/publications/report/2012/labour-market
 - social-policies/neets-young-people-not-in-employment-education-or-training-characteristics-costs-and-policy

SUBSIDIZING DOMESTIC SERVICES TO CREATE (FORMAL) LOW-SKILLED JOBS: EFFECTIVENESS AND UNINTENDED REPERCUSSIONS ON WORK DISABILITY

Elisabeth Leduc¹

Université libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium

Ilan Tojerow²

Université libre de Bruxelles and IZA, Brussels, Belgium

MOTIVATION

In recent years, policymakers in the United States and across Europe have increasingly adopted active labour market policies for jobseekers and welfare recipients to curb unemployment. One of these policies that has received growing attention lately relates to the subsidization of so-called Personal and Household Services (PHS). Yet, despite their growing popularity, empirical evidence on their effects is scarce.

RESEARCH QUESTION

This paper aims at evaluating the effectiveness of PHS subsidies in creating formal low-skilled jobs, as well as investigating their potential unintended side-effects in terms of work disability. Specifically, it focuses on a large domestic service sector subsidy implemented in Belgium in 2004. We estimate the employment and work disability effects of the subsidy and explore mechanisms, namely in terms of job creation and employment formalization.

METHODOLOGY

To answer this research question, we use Belgian administrative data covering the years 2003-2015. First, we use a difference-in-differences design to estimate the impacts of implementing PHS subsidies on employment and work disability in subsidized sectors. Next, we implement an event study difference-in-differences strategy combined with coarsened exact matching to explore the effects

¹ E-mail address: elisabeth.leduc@ulb.be

² E-mail address: ilan.tojerow@ulb.be

of program participation and thus shed some light on the mechanisms through which PHS subsidies operate.

RESULTS

We find that PHS subsidies are effective in creating (formal) jobs in subsidized sectors for low-skilled individuals, but at a cost in terms of work disability (in addition to the cost of the subsidy itself). The employment effects seem to occur through both the creation of new jobs for low-skilled jobseekers, and the formalization of previously undeclared domestic services. We also find suggestive evidence that disability effects are the result of a health deterioration of subsidized workers.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper provides the very first microeconometric evaluation on the employment and work disability effects of PHS subsidies. By doing so, it contributes to an extensive literature on active labour market policies by evaluating a new and increasingly popular kind of program. It also contributes to the literature on the links that exist between different social security programs by providing the first evidence on the unintended effects that wage subsidies can have on the Disability Insurance.

KEY WORDS

Wage Subsidies, low-skilled unemployment

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J08, J24, J28, J38

- Adriaenssens, S., Theys, T., Verhaest, D., & Deschacht, N. (2021). Subsidized Household Services and Informal Employment: The Belgian Service Voucher Policy. *Journal of Social Policy*, 1-22.
- Albanese, A., & Cockx, B. (2019). Permanent Wage Cost Subsidies for Older Workers. An Effective Tool for Employment Retention and Postponing Early Retirement?. Labour Economics, 58, 145-166.

- 3. Brück, T., Haisken-De New, J. P., & Zimmermann, K. F. (2006). Creating Low Skilled Jobs by Subsidizing Market-Contracted Household Work. Applied Economics, *38*(8),899-911.
- 4. Carbonnier, C. (2015). Efficacité et Equité des Aides pour l'Emploi d'un Salarié à Domicile. *Travail et Emploi*, (3), 43-58.
- 5. Card, D., Kluve, J., & Weber, A. (2018). What Works? A Meta-Analysis of Recent Active Labor Market Program Evaluations. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, *16*(3), 894-931.
- 6. De Brouwer, O., Leduc, E., & Tojerow, I. (2019). The Unexpected Consequences of Job Search Monitoring: Disability Instead of Employment? IZA Discussion Paper No. 12304
- 7. Desiere, S., De Wispelaere, F., & Struyven, L. (2018). Labour Market Policy Thematic Review 2018: An Analysis of Personal and Household Services to Support Work Life Balance for Working Parents and Carers Belgium.
- 8. Groh, M., Krishnan, N., McKenzie, D., & Vishwanath, T. (2016). Do Wage Subsidies Provide a Stepping-Stone to Employment for Recent College Graduates? Evidence from a Randomized Experiment in Jordan. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, *98*(3), 488-502.
- 9. Hetschko, C., Schöb, R., & Wolf, T. (2020). Income Support, Employment Transitions and Well-Being. *Labour Economics*, 66, 101887.
- 10. Huttunen, K., Pirttilä, J., & Uusitalo, R. (2013). The Employment Effects of Low-Wage Subsidies. *Journal of Public Economics*, *97*, 49-60.
- 11. Iacus, S. M., King, G., & Porro, G. (2011). Multivariate Matching Methods that Are Monotonic Imbalance Bounding. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *106*(4 93), 345-361.
- 12. Lammers, M., Bloemen, H., & Hochguertel, S. (2013). Job Search Requirements for Older Unemployed: Transitions to Employment, Early Retirement and Disability Benefits. *European Economic Review*, *58*, 31-57.
- 13. Mousaid, S., Huegaerts, K., Bosmans, K., Julià, M., Benach, J., & Vanroelen, C. (2017). The Quality of Work in the Belgian Service Voucher System. *International Journal of Health Services*, 47(1), 40-60.
- 14. Petrongolo, B. (2009). The Long-Term Effects of Job Search Requirements: Evidence from the UK JSA Reform. *Journal of Public Economics*, *93*(11-12), 1234-1253.
- Raz-Yurovich, L., & Marx, I. (2018). What Does State-Subsidized Outsourcing of Domestic Work Do for Women's Employment? The Belgian Service Voucher Scheme. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 28(2), 104-115.
- 16. Rellstab, S., Bakx, P., Garcia-Gomez, P., & van Doorslaer, E. (2019). The Kids Are Alright-Labour Market Effects of Unexpected Parental Hospitalisations in the Netherlands. *Journal of Health Economics*, 69, 102-275.
- 17. Sjögren, A., & Vikström, J. (2015). How Long and How Much? Learning About the Design of Wage Subsidies from Policy Changes and Discontinuities. *Labour Economics*, *34*, 127-137.

18. van Ours, J. C. (2004). The Locking-In Effect of Subsidized Jobs. *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 32(1), 37-55.

SIMULATING THE WORKPLACE: A (BETTER) ALTERNATIVE TO IMPROVE LABOR MARKET OUTCOMES OF DISADVANTAGED YOUTH?

Jochen Kluve¹

KfW Development Bank and Humboldt-Universität, Berlin, Germany

Lara Lebedinski²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Jonathan Stoetarau³

World Bank and Humboldt-Universität, Berlin, Germany

MOTIVATION

Traditional, classroom-based training programs have been criticized for their limited impacts due to an inability to deliver practical and soft skills requested by employers. As an alternative, work-based learning at private-sector firms received increasing attention in recent years. In this paper we study a program that tries to find the middle ground: training via simulated work environments at vocational training institutes.

RESEARCH QUESTION

The study compares this innovative program (training via simulated work environments) to a more traditional intervention that matches youth to firm-based trainings. Our goal is to estimate the causal impact of these programs on employment and compare their effectiveness.

¹ E-mail address: jochen.kluve@kfw.de

² E-mail address: lara.lebedinski@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ E-mail address: jonathanstoeterau@gmail.com

METHODOLOGY

We implement a variant of the hypothetical treatment approach by Lechner (2009), where we assign pseudo treatment dates to the comparison group for each cohort of treated in both trainings. We then include the duration in the respective registered labor market state at the time of training as a covariate in the matching procedure. Given this setup, we estimate the dynamic version of the Average Treatment of the Treated as the Average Treatment effect on the Treated Survivors parameter.

RESULTS

Our findings show that both interventions significantly improve formal labor market outcomes of youth. While impact estimates are smaller for VTI-based trainings, our results indicate that effect sizes steadily increase over the medium term. In addition, survey evidence suggests that the benefits of VTI-based training may be comparatively underestimated in administrative data due to the higher relevance of informal labor market outcomes. We discuss our results in the framework of market failures (signaling vs. screening) and the role of transferable vs. firm-specific skills.

CONTRIBUTION

Our study makes two important contributions to the literature of training-based active labor market programs. With regards to program design, our results show that delivering work-based learning via simulated work environments may be a valuable alternative to firm-based training. With regards to evaluation design, our results highlight the importance of assessing long-term outcomes and the importance of combining administrative and survey data when comparing interventions.

KEY WORDS

Active labor market programs, skills training, youth employment, impact evaluation, administrative data

JEL CLASSIFICATION

D11, D42, L12, L16, L66, L67

- Card, D., Kluve, J., & Weber, A. (2018). What Works? A Meta Analysis of Recent Active Labor Market Program Evaluations. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 16(3), 894–931.
- 2. Doerr, A., Fitzenberger, B., Kruppe, T., Paul, M., & Strittmatter, A. (2017). Employment and Earnings Effects of Awarding Training Vouchers in Germany. *ILR Review*, 70(3), 767–812.
- 3. Kluve, J., Puerto, S., Robalino, D., Romero, J. M., Rother, F., Stöterau, J., Weidenkaff, F., & Witte, M. (2019). Do youth employment programs improve labor market outcomes? A quantitative review. *World Development*, *114*, 237–253.
- 4. Marjanovic, D. (2016). *Labour market transitions of young women and men in the Republic of Serbia* (Work4Youth Publication Series No. 36). International Labour Office.
- 5. McKenzie, D. (2017). How Effective Are Active Labor Market Policies in Developing Countries? A Critical Review of Recent Evidence. *The World Bank Research Observer*, 32(2), 127–154.
- 6. Vikström, J. (2017). Dynamic treatment assignment and evaluation of active labor market policies. *Labour Economics*, *49*, 42–54.

Parallel Sessions III, Stream C: Education (or the Lack thereof) and the Labour Market in Western Balkans

Stream C: Education (or the Lack thereof) and the Labour Market in Western Balkans

MISMATCH IN THE LABOUR MARKET AND IMPACT ON EARNINGS: THE CASE OF SERBIA

Nemanja Vuksanović¹

University of Belgrade-Faculty of Economics, Belgrade, Serbia

Dragan Aleksić²

University of Belgrade-Faculty of Economics, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

The subject of the paper is mismatch analysis in the labour market of Serbia. The aim of the paper is to investigate the extent of overschooling and underschooling effects on earnings in Serbia. The main motivation to study this topic regards the educational inflation expressed in the form of increased demand for formal qualifications, and the devaluation of these qualifications.

RESEARCH QUESTION

Are wages in Serbia solely determined on the basis of educational requirements? To what extent the allocation of educational resources is inefficient in terms of labour market mismatch?

METHODOLOGY

The analysis in the paper is based on Duncan and Hofman's augmented wage specification, which represents an extension of standard Mincer wage equation. The Duncan and Hofman's specification represents the model in which wages are

¹ E-mail address: nemanja.vuksanovic@ekof.bg.ac.rs

² E-mail address: dragan.aleksic@ekof.bg.ac.rs

regressed on years of required schooling, years of overschooling, and years of underschooling and other control variables. OLS method allows the estimation of the model.

RESULTS

The results obtained from LFS data give the information about the values of rate of return to a year of required schooling, and the rate of return to a year of overschooling or underschooling. The existence of the difference between these estimated returns indicates the scope of the labour market mismatch in Serbia.

CONTRIBUTION

The results are clearly relevant from a public policy makers' perspective in Serbia, as the education is highly subsidized by the state. The analysis will give the insight of whether education investments pay off.

KEY WORDS

Mismatch, schooling, wage equation, Serbia

JEL CLASSIFICATION

12, J2

- 1. Card, D. (1999). Education and earnings. In Ashenfelter, O., & Card, D. (Eds.). *Handbook of Labour Economics*. North Holland Publishing.
- 2. Caroleo, F., & Pastore, F. (2015). Overeducation: A Disease of the School to Work Transistion System. *IZA Working Paper No. 9049.*
- 3. Chevalier, A. (2003). Measuring overeducation. *Economica*, 70(279), 509-531.
- 4. Duncan, G., & Hoffman, S. (1981). The incidence and wage effects of overeducation. *Economics of Education Review, 1*(1), 75-86.
- 5. ETF. (2019). Skills mismatch measurement in Serbia. ETF Publishing.
- 6. Groot, W., & Maasen Van Den Brink, H. (1997). Allocation and the Returns to Overeducation in the UK. *Education Economics*, *5*(2), 169-183.
- 7. Hartog, J., & Oosterbeek, H. (1988). Education, allocation, and earnings in the Netherlands: Overschooling?. *Economics of Education Review*, 7(2), 185-194.
- 8. Kupets, O. (2015). Skill mismatch and overeducation in transition economies. *IZA World of Labor No. 224*.

- 9. Leuven, E., Oosterbeek, H. (2011). Overeducation and Mismatch in the Labour Market. *IZA Working Paper No. 5523*.
- 10. McGuinness, S. (2006). Overeducation in the labour market. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 20(3), 387-418.
- 11. Sicherman, N. (1991). Overeducation in the labour market. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 9(2), 89-101.
- 12. Van der Meer, P. (2006). Investments in education: Too much or not enough? *Economic Letters*, *102*, 195-197.

DETERMINANTS OF ACADEMIC SUCCESS: THE CASE OF UNIVERSITY OF SARAJEVO

Ajla Šušić¹

School of Economics and Business, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Adela Delalić²

School of Economics and Business, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Merima Orlić³

School of Economics and Business, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Jasna Kovačević⁴

School of Economics and Business, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

MOTIVATION

Although reforms around the globe accentuate online and blended learning, the pace of accepting such modes of education has been unsatisfactory, mainly as academic success is observed traditionally, through the prism of grades. In that sense, the purpose of this research is to shift the focus from quantification of academic success, and to analyze the relationship between the demographic, socioeconomic, academic and psychological traits of students and academic success as a multifaceted phenomenon.

RESEARCH QUESTION

On a basis of reviewing and analyzing relevant literature, and objectives of this research, we have conceptualized research questions:

• Is it possible to identify factors of academic success related to the demographic, socio-economic, academic and psychological traits of students?

¹ E-mail address: ajla.susic@outlook.com

² E-mail address: adela.delalic@efsa.unsa.ba

³ E-mail address: merima.balavac@efsa.unsa.ba

⁴ E-mail address: jasna.kovacevic@efsa.unsa.ba

• Do student traits such as gender, scientific field of study, mode of studying, current residence, mode of financing the studies, and working status of parents affect student academic success?

METHODOLOGY

The data was collected using survey method. The participants were 551 students from the University of Sarajevo. Aiming to identify factors of academic success, we have used principal components method. Multiple regression analysis was employed to analyze the impact of identified factors and other potential determinants on academic success.

RESULTS

Focusing on students' demographic, socio-economic and academic traits and their perception of affective states during COVID-19, we have identified factors of academic success: SES, positive and negative feelings, and academic dynamics. Evidence implies academic success is positively affected by academic dynamics, SES and time spent on studying, while being negatively affected by negative emotions and time spent on physical activity. Gender, mode of study, scientific field of study, instructions, mode of financing, and father's working status exhibit significant influence on academic success.

CONTRIBUTION

By identifying the determinants of academic success derived from student traits and academic dynamics, this study presents unique and comprehensive analysis of academic success as a multidimensional phenomenon. Considering that educational system is one of the social pillars significantly affected by permanent change and improvement, the results of this research may serve as a springboard for advancing academic accomplishments of students.

KEY WORDS

Academic success, determinants of academic success, socio-economic status, academic traits, affective states during COVID-19 pandemic

JEL CLASSIFICATION

120, 121, 123

- 1. Agić, H., Osmanbegović, E., & Suljić, E. (2016). The Impact of Certain Socio-Demographic Conditions on the Students' Success in Learning. *Research in Pedagogy*, *6*(2), 8-20.
- 2. Akgun, S., & Ciarrochi, J. (2003). Learned resourcefulness moderates the relationship between academic stress and academic performance. *Educational Psychology*, *23*(3), 287–294.
- 3. Behr, A., & Theune, K. (2016.). The causal effect of off-campus work on time to degree. *Education Economics*, *24*(2), 189–209.
- 4. Bloom, B. S. (1971). Handbook on Formative and Summative Evaluation of Student Learning.
- 5. Chung, I. (2009). Korean teachers' perceptions of student success in mathematics: Concept versus procedure. *The Mathematics Enthusiast*, *6*(1), 239-256.
- 6. Džaferagić, L. (2020). Ispitna anksioznost: uzroci, simptomi i intervencije. Master's thesis, Sarajevo: Faculty of Philosophy.
- 7. Fazio, N. M., & Palm, L. J. (1998). Attributional style, depression, and grade point averages of college students. *Psychological Reports*, *83*, 159-162.
- 8. Goleman, D. (2007). *Emocionalna inteligencija zašto je važnija od kvocijenta inteligencije*. Zagreb: Mozaik knjiga.
- 9. Hijazi, S. T., & Naqvi, R.S.M.M. (2006). Factors Affecting Student's Performance: A Case of Private Colleges. *Bangladesh e-Journal of Sociology*.
- Kennedy, G. J., & Tuckman, B. W. (2013). An exploration into the influence of academic and social values, procrastination, and perceived school belongingness on academic performance. Social Psychology of Education, 16(3), 435-470.
- 11. Kurt, U., & Taş, Y., (2019). Ebeveynlerin sosyoekonomik düzeyleri ile çocuklarının okul hayatına katılımı arasındaki ilişki. Kuramsal Eğitimbilim Dergisi. *Journal of Theoretical Educational Science*, *12*(3), 978-991.
- 12. Milun, T., Mardešić, J., & Kovač, G. (2016). Do gender and age impact student success? Contemporary Issues in Economy and Technology Conference Proceedings.
- 13. Richardson, J. (1995). Mature students in higher education: II. An investigation of approaches to studying and academic achievement. *Studies in Higher Education*.
- 14. Rogošić, S. (2018). Izvanredni i redoviti studenti: razlike u socio-demografskim karakteristikama, obrazovnim postignućima i iskustvu studiranja, *Napredak*, *159*(3), 291-307. Zagreb: University of Zagreb.
- 15. Sackett, C. (2015). Barriers to Success: Housing Insecurity for U.S. College Students. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Washington.

- 16. Sirin, S. R. (2005). Socioeconomic status and academic achievement: a meta-analytic review of research. *Journal of Educational Research*, *75*, 417-453.
- 17. Stanojlović, B. (1982). Faktori postignuća učenika u školskom učenju sa posebnim osvrtom na ulogu porodice. *Revija obrazovanja*, Beograd.
- 18. Webber, K. L., Krylow, R. B., & Zhang, Q. (2013). Does Involvement Really Matter? Indicators of College Student Success and Satisfaction. *Journal of College Student Development*, *54*(6), 591–611.
- 19. Wenz, M., & Yu, W. (2010). Term-time employment and the academic performance of undergraduates. *Journal of Education Finances*, 358-373.
- 20. Wu, C. D., McNeely, E., Cedeño-Laurent, J. G., Pan, W. C., Adamkiewicz, G., Dominici, F., & Spengler, J. D. (2014). Linking Student Performance in Massachusetts Elementary Schools with the "Greenness" of School Surroundings Using Remote Sensing. *PLoS ONE*, 9(10), e108548.

NEET CHALLENGES IN SERBIA: SCHOOL TO WORK TRANSITION

Dragan Bjelica¹

University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

Youth (15 to 29 years of age) participation in Serbia is a key resource for social development. The inclusion of youth into the economy through employment is crucial for Serbia. However, identification of what youth needs most assistance or and access to the labor market are considered as challenges to tackled urgently. NEETs run the risk of completely falling out of the labour market entirely, falling below the poverty line and being unable to effectively re-enter the labour market, thereby severely limiting their ability to lift themselves out of poverty or contribute effectively to the economy.

RESEARCH QUESTION

There are several sectors in which youth employment, NEET and other policies concerning such matters need to be addressed. To do so we have analyzed three research questions: 1. Are youth employment measures adequately set by the relevant governmental structure? 2. What are the most common challenges, difficulties in the Serbian context and whether the best practices from the EU can be applied in Serbia? 3. Are there mechanisms which are suitable to identify the needs of NEET youth?

METHODOLOGY

Within this research, we have considered policies and activities targeting youth which are mainly overseen vertically from the Ministry of Labor, Employment, Veterans and Social Affairs, the Ministry of Youth and Sports and Serbia's National Employment Agency. Also, we have taken into account document analysis of National Employment Strategy 2011-2020 and National Youth Strategy 2015-2025,

¹ E-mail address: dragan.bjelica@fon.bg.ac.rs

as well as statistical data published by Eurostat and Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia.

RESULTS

The official youth unemployment rate of the Republic of Serbia in 2019 was 21.5%, a minor but significant fall from 2018's 24.5%. Serbia's NEET rate was 18.9% in 2019, a fall from 2018's 20.01. Nevertheless, national policies have been created that aim to recognize, retain, and attract young talent. While increasing the level of education attained in the EU has led to a decrease in the NEET rate, whereas in Serbia, it has been the opposite. Tertiary education (levels 5-8) is prominent in the NEET rate (23.7% in 2019).

CONTRIBUTION

Actively attainment out to NEET by giving them a special position in the Serbian employment scheme that would allow them to receive obligatory supervision and career guidance while also getting payments for doing so would be a nudge to them in the accurate course. It would allow them to obtain additional education and skills which must be set up by the government through public private partnerships to better acquire and boost the skills and knowledge to work or educate themselves.

KEY WORDS

NEET, youth, education, labour market

JEL CLASSIFICATION

A1, I2, J1, J2

- Caroleo, F. E., Rocca, A., Mazzocchi, P., & Quintano, C. (2020). Being NEET in Europe Before and After the Economic Crisis: An Analysis of the Micro and Macro Determinants. Social Indicators Research, 149(3), 991–1024. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-020-022706
- 2. Cavalca, G. (2015). *Youth in transitions: Conditions, indicators and policy implications. To NEET or not to NEET?* Routledge.

- 3. Contini, D., Filandri, M., & Pacelli, L. (2019). Persistency in the NEET state: a longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 22(7), 959–980. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2018.1562161
- 4. Elder, S. (2015). What does NEETs mean and why is the concept so easily misinterpreted? Youth Employment Programme Employment Policy Department. www.ilo.org/w4y
- 5. Nacionalna strategija za mlade za period od 2015-2025. godine. Retrieved December 6, 2020, from https://www.mos.gov.rs/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/nacionalna strategija za mlade0101 cyr.pdf
- Nacionalna strategija zapošljavanja za period 2011-2020. godine. Retrieved July 1, 2021, from http://www.nsz.gov.rs/live/digitalAssets/0/302_nacionalna_strategija_zaposljavanja_ 2011-2020.pdf
- 7. NEETs | Eurofound. (n.d.). Retrieved July 1, 2021, from https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/topic/neets
- 8. Pavlović, D., Bjelica, D., & Domazet, I. (2019). What Characteristics in the Youth Labour Market of Serbia Are Likely to Result in Employment? *Stanovništvo*, *57*(2), 35–47.
- 9. Statistics on youth neither in employment nor in education or training Statistics Explained. (n.d.). Retrieved July 1, 2021, from https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Statistics_on_young_people_neither_in_employment_nor_in_e ducation or training
- 10. Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia. (2020). Retrieved December 5, 2020, from https://www.stat.gov.rs/en-US/
- 11. SIPRU (2020). Retrieved July 1, 2021, from http://socijalnoukljucivanje.gov.rs/en/
- 12. Tamesberger, D., & Bacher, J. (2020). COVID-19 Crisis: How to Avoid a 'Lost Generation.' *Intereconomics*, 55(4), 232–238. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10272-020-0908-y
- 13. Tamesberger, D., Leitgöb, H., & Bacher, J. (2014). How to combat NEET? Evidence from Austria. *Intereconomics*, 49(4), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10272-014-0503-1
- 14. The Youth Guarantee Employment, Social Affairs & Inclusion European Commission. (2020). Retrieved July 1, 2021, from https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catld=1079
- 15. The Youth Guarantee country by country Employment, Social Affairs & Inclusion European Commission. (2020). Retrieved July 1, 2021, from https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1161&langId=en
- 16. Youth and the labour market Youth not in employment, education or training (NEET) OECD Data. (2020). Retrieved July 1, 2021, from https://data.oecd.org/youthinac/youth-not-in-employment-education-or-training-neet.htm
- 17. Youth Employment Initiative (YEI) Employment, Social Affairs & Inclusion European Commission. (2020). Retrieved July 1, 2021, from https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catld=1176&langld=en

ENTREPRENEURIAL INTENTIONS OF STUDENTS IN SERBIA: SOME EVIDENCES FROM DIFFERENT FIELDS OF STUDIES

Kosovka Ognjenović1

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

The entrepreneurship development has been studied from different perspectives in Serbia. One strand of research papers focuses on the institutional support to the development of entrepreneurship, with special emphasis on the entrepreneurship from necessity, including the social entrepreneurship and the assessment of grants provided through active labor market policy schemes. The other strand of literature includes only a few papers on entrepreneurial values and decisions of young entrepreneurs to be. The goal of this paper is to compare future entrepreneurial behavior of the two different groups of studies from the same university.

RESEARCH QUESTION

The research was conducted within the framework of the theory of planned behavior. More specifically, the variables from the theory of planned behavior, such as personal attitudes, subjective norms and perceived behavior control are combined with additional personality threat and contextual variables to explain the differences in entrepreneurial intention between the students of different fields of studies in Serbia.

METHODOLOGY

In this paper, the two self-administered surveys among the University of Belgrade students of business economics and electrical engineering were conducted. The same survey questionnaire was tailored and disseminated among the students during the autumn and fall semesters in the schooling year 2016/2017. The research intention was to cover students of the final years of studies, who obtained some entrepreneurial education during their previous years of studies. The data

¹ E-mail address: kosovka.ognjenovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

from the two samples of around 300 students from different faculties were collected. The statistical tests for examining the entrepreneurial intention variations among the students of different fields of studies were conducted. In addition, the structural model of entrepreneurial intention was developed.

RESULTS

The preliminary results show that the University of Belgrade students of business economics and electrical engineering do not exhibit clear intention to start their own business venture after graduation. Some control variables that were included in the model confirm more pronounced personal attitude towards entrepreneurship among young male students than among their female counterparts, while the age of the students or the year of study were not found as the variables of a significant explanatory power. These finding are important bearing in mind the persistent unemployment of the youth and the official strategies implemented to address these problems in the Serbian labor market.

CONTRIBUTION

Although this research survey was conducted among the tertiary educated young people, the contribution of this paper is at least twofold: firstly, to reveal potential sources of entrepreneurial population in Serbia, and then to explain what are the main drivers of entrepreneurial intention among the young people enrolled in different fields of studies. This research paper files the existing gap in studies of entrepreneurial intention in Serbia and contributes the applied literature in the field of young people wellbeing, the influence of entrepreneurial education on decision process and exploration of the determinants of professional status of future entrants to the Serbian labor market.

KEY WORDS

Entrepreneurship, entrepreneurial intention, students of economics and electrical engineering, Serbia

JEL CLASSIFICATION

125, 131, L26

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research is financially supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

- 1. Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behaviour. *Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes*, *50*(2), 179-211.
- 2. Bruton, G. D., Ahlstrom, D., & Obloj, K. (2008). Entrepreneurship in emerging economies: where are we today and where should the research go in the future? *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 32(1), 1-14.
- 3. Giacomin, O., Janssen, F., Pruett, M., Shinnar, R.S., Llopis, F., & Toney, B. (2011). Entrepreneurial intentions, motivations and barriers: differences among American, Asian and European students. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 7(2), 219–238.
- 4. Liñán, F., Fayolle, A. (2015). A systematic literature review on entrepreneurial intentions: citation, thematic analyses, and research agenda. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 11(4), 907–933.
- 5. Ognjenović, K. (2015). On-the-job training and human resource management: how to improve competitive advantage of an organization? Organizacija, 48(1), 57-70.
- 6. Petković, S., Krneta M., Alfrević, A.M., & Ivanović Đukić, M. (2018). Students' career aspirations towards entrepreneurial and managerial jobs: a comparative study in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia and Serbia. *Acta Economica*, 16(28), 9-32.
- 7. Pejić Bach, M., Aleksić, A., & Merkač Skok, M. (2018). Examining determinants of entrepreneurial intentions in Slovenia: applying the theory of planned behaviour and an innovative cognitive style. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, *31*(1), 1453–1471.
- 8. Rajh, E., Jovanov Apasieva, T., Budak, J., Ateljević, J., Davčev, Lj., & Ognjenović, K. (2018). Youth and entrepreneurial intentions in four South East European Countries. *International Review of Entrepreneurship*, *16*(3), 355-382.
- 9. Stanković, R., Dedjanski, S., & Vojteški-Kljenak, D. (2015). Entrepreneurial values research in Serbia. *International Review*, *4*(1-2), 63-73.
- 10. Stevanović, S., & Simović, V. (2017). Financial performances of the Serbian enterprises depending on the director's gender. *Journal of Women's Entrepreneurship and Education*, 9(3-4), 45-64.
- 11. Turuk, M., Horvatinović, T., & Sudarić, Ž. (2020). Examining the causes of entrepreneurial intentions and their moderating effects. *International Journal of Economics and Business Research*, 20(4), 425–441.

- 12. Turulja, L., Veselinović, Lj., Agić, E., & Pašić Mesihović, A. (2020). Entrepreneurial intention of students in Bosnia and Herzegovina: what type of support matters? *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, *33*(1): 2713-2732.
- 13. van Gelderen, M., Brand, M., van Praag, M., Bodewes, W., Poutsma, E., & van Gils, A. (2008). Explaining entrepreneurial intentions by means of the theory of planned behavior. *Career Development International*, 13(6), 538-559.
- 14. Vasić, V., Tancioni, M., & Ognjenović, K. (2011). Labour Market Analysis and Forecasting Labour Market Needs in the Republic of Serbia. Belgrade: EU Delegation to the Republic of Serbia.
- 15. Vuorio, A.M., Puumalainen, K., & Fellnhofer, K. (2018). Drivers of entrepreneurial intentions in sustainable entrepreneurship. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior and Research*, 24(2), 359-381.

Stream A: Gender Differences

GENDER DIFFERENCES IN ONLINE EDUCATION

Candan Erdemli¹

Department of Economics – University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

Barcelona Institute of Economics (IEB), Barcelona, Spain

Judit Vall Castelló²

Department of Economics – University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

Barcelona Institute of Economics (IEB), Barcelona, Spain

CRES UPF, Barcelona, Spain

MOTIVATION

Use of online learning tools in education has been increasing and this trend has been accelerated by Covid-19 outbreak and the subsequent school closures. It is important to understand the investment made by parents and the effort put by children in this context. Moreover, in view of the previous economics literature on gender differences in academic performance and parental investment, such differences in contemporary online learning platforms should be investigated properly.

RESEARCH QUESTION

We quantify the effort and performance gap between girls and boys when using an online learning platform and analyze whether the direction and the magnitude of the gap differs depending on the gender of the parent who mainly supervises the child. Further, we analyze whether the results are heterogeneous by the gender norms within the family and in the society, which we proxy by the gender of the elder sibling and the gender norms in the province of residence, respectively.

¹ E-mail address: candanerdemli@ub.edu

² E-mail address: judit.vall@ub.edu

METHODOLOGY

We identify the gender differences in effort and performance outcomes by using linear regressions where we add many controls. Then, we run within-family regressions where we include family fixed effects to control for the family characteristics. We run all our regressions for two types of families separately: the ones where the mother supervises the kids' education, and the ones where the father does.

RESULTS

Our main preliminary results show that for a given mother, girls show higher persistence levels in finalizing the tasks, but their ratio of the correctly solved problems is smaller and they are slower in performance than boys. For a given father, girls complete less sessions, solve less problems, their ratio of correctly solved problems is smaller and they are slower in performance than boys. Also, the magnitude of the gender gap in the fathers sample is larger than that in the mothers sample.

CONTRIBUTION

We analyze whether the gender gap in effort and performance differs by the gender of the parent who mainly supervises the kids' education, which - to our knowledge - has not been analyzed before. Also, we document gender differences in completing daily exercises, rather than the standardized test outcomes. This helps us focus on the effort, while the test outcomes are also affected by the noncognitive skills (Balart et al, 2018) and the importance of the test (Duckworth et al., 2011).

KEY WORDS

Education and Gender, parental investment

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J13, J16

- 1. Balart, P., Oosterveen, M., & Webbink, D. (2018). Test scores, noncognitive skills and economic growth. *Economics of Education Review*, *63*, 134-153.
- 2. Duckworth, A. L., Quinn, P. D., Lynam, D. R., Loeber, R., & Stouthamer-Loeber, M. (2011). Role of test motivation in intelligence testing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(19), 7716-7720.

IMPACT OF FEMALE PEER COMPOSITION ON GENDER NORMS PERCEPTIONS IN SECONDARY SCHOOL

Martina Querejeta Rabosto¹

PhD student in economics, Universidad Nacional de La Plata, Argentina

MOTIVATION

The reduction in educational and labor gender gaps is one of the most striking facts in recent history. Yet qualitative differentials persist. Women underperform men in mathematics and are underrepresented in STEM educational and occupational fields (Gasparini & Marchionni, 2015; Marchionni, Gasparini, & Edo, 2018). While pioneer frameworks of human capital explain a decreasing portion of the gender wage gaps (Goldin, 2006; Blau & Kahn, 2017) an emerging literature focuses on studying gender norms and differential preferences that could lead to persistent gender inequality (Bertrand, 2020).

RESEARCH QUESTION

I investigate how gender composition of 9th graders secondary students in Uruguay affects perceptions on gender norms. The analysis explores potential heterogeneous effects by individual (previous grade repetition) and household characteristics (socio-economic status and region). I further estimate the causal effects on students' time use and cognitive outcomes. This in-depth analysis will contribute to the understanding of the processes and mechanisms behind gendered peer effects.

METHODOLOGY

For causal identification, I take advantage of the novel sampling design of a nationally representative survey to exploit the variation in the percentage of female peers across classes within school. Based on simulations of random assignment of student to classes and balancing test of student characteristics I argue that classes are formed roughly randomly. I also show there is enough variability in the

¹ E-mail address: martinaquerejeta@gmail.com

proportion of female peers across classes within schools which is crucial for identification.

RESULTS

Results show that a higher exposure to female peers leads to more progressive gender norms. The analysis of other outcomes shows that females significantly reduce the time devoted to domestic work and improves mathematics scores. Thus, exposure to female peers not only reduces traditional gender perceptions but also by changes actual behavior. My results suggest that even short interventions in secondary school contexts may have substantial effects on reducing gender stereotypes among students.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes to the peer effects literature. Evidence for developed countries is well-established (Epple & Romano, 2011; Sacerdote, 2011; Paloyo, 2020) but literature on peer effects in developing contexts is still scarce (McEwan, 2003; de Melo, 2014; Balsa, Gandelman & Roldán, 2018; Izaguirre & Di Capua, 2020). It also contributes to the literature on gender norms. While the effects of gender norms on economic outcomes have been widely studied (Vella, 1994; Fortin, 2005; Fortin, 2015; Bertrand, 2020) little is known regarding the formation of gender norms' perception. Lastly, the study of gender inequalities in school contexts is also important from a policy perspective.

KEY WORDS

Peer effects, gender norms, developing countries

JEL CLASSIFICATION

124, J16, Z13

- 1. Balsa, A., Gandelman, N., & Roldán, F. (2018). Peer and parental influence in academic performance and alcohol use. *Labour Economics*, *55*, 41-55.
- 2. Bertrand, M. (2020, May). Gender in the twenty-first century. In *AEA Papers and Proceedings* (Vol. 110, pp. 1-24).

- 3. Blau, F. D., & Kahn, L. M. (2017). The Gender Wage Gap: Extent, Trends, and Explanations. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *55*(3), 789-865.
- 4. De Melo, G. (2014). Peer effects identified through social networks: Evidence from Uruquayan schools. Banco de México Working Papers, N° 2014-05.
- 5. Epple, D., & Romano, R. E. (2011). Peer effects in education: A survey of the theory and evidence. In Handbook of social economics (Vol. 1, pp. 1053-1163). North-Holland.
- 6. Fortin, N. M. (2005). Gender Role Attitudes and the Labour-market Outcomes of Women across OECD Countries. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, *21*(3), 416-438.
- 7. Fortin, N. M. (2015). Gender role attitudes and women's labor market participation: Optingout, aids, and the persistent appeal of housewifery. *Annals of Economics and Statistics*, (117/118), 379-401.
- 8. Gasparini, L., & Marchionni, M. (2015). *Bridging gender gaps? The rise and deceleration of female labor force participation in Latin America*. La Plata: Universidad Nacional de La Plata.
- 9. Goldin, C. (2006). *The Quiet Revolution that Transformed Women's Employment, Education, and Family*. National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper 11953, January 2006.
- 10. Izaguirre, A., & Di Capua, L. (2020). Exploring peer effects in education in Latin America and the Caribbean. *Research in Economics*, 74(1), 73-86.
- 11. Lavy, V., & Schlosser, A. (2011). Mechanisms and impacts of gender peer effects at school. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 3(2), 1-33.
- 12. Marchionni, M., Gasparini, L., & Edo, M. (2018). *Brechas de género en América Latina. Un estado de situación*. CAF, Banco de Desarrollo de América Latina.
- 13. McEwan, P. J. (2003). Peer effects on student achievement: evidence from Chile. *Economics of Education Review*, 22(2), 131-141.
- 14. Paloyo, A. R. (2020). Peer effects in education: recent empirical evidence. In *The Economics of Education* (pp. 291-305). Academic Press.
- 15. Sacerdote, B. (2011). Peer effects in education: How might they work, how big are they and how much do we know thus far?. In *Handbook of the Economics of Education* (Vol. 3, pp. 249-277). Elsevier.
- 16. Vella, F. (1994). Gender roles and human capital investment: The relationship between traditional attitudes and female labour market performance. *Economica*, *61*(242), 191-211.

GENDER GAPS IN THE LABOUR MARKET AND PENSION SUSTAINABILITY

Lidia Cruces De Sousa¹

Universidad Carlos III, Madrid, Spain

MOTIVATION

The financial viability of pay-as-you-go pension systems has been questioned for more than 30 years in developed countries. The adverse effect of rapid population ageing on pension finances has been broadly studied (De Nardi et al. (1999) for the U.S. and Galasso and Profeta (2004) for France, Germany, Italy, Spain, the U.K., and the U.S.). On the one hand, an increase in the number of beneficiaries and periods, due to the higher life expectancy, cause the Social Security pension expenditure to rise. On the other hand, the fall in births lowers the working population's growth and, ultimately, Social Security contributions. Therefore, the old-age dependency ratio, defined as the proportion of workers entitled to a retirement pension to those contributing to the Social Security System, rises. These facts imply a lower growth rate in revenues than expenditures. Concurrently with the population ageing, labour markets in developed countries have been structurally transformed. Women drive the main change due to the increase in female labour force participation in the recent decades. The rise in women's employment rate is likely to behave as an antidote to population ageing. Spain has not been an exception to this trend; Spanish female labour force participation grew from 30% in 1975 to 70% nowadays. This fact, accompanied by being one of the most aged populations in Europe, makes this country an interesting study case. During the authoritarian regime (19391975), the Catholic Church influenced women's status that promoted the male breadwinner model. Women's responsibilities were reduced to take care of children and house chores. The end of Francisco Franco's dictatorship in 1975 was a turning point for women's liberalisation. Before that time, women faced a lack of freedom. Then, 1975 establishes the starting point at which women's labour force participation dramatically rise. With all, women made a clean break with the traditional role they have acquired through time, allowing the economy to go from a society where the male-breadwinner family model was predominant to a dualearner model. The viability of the Spanish public pension system has been a matter

¹ E-mail address: lcruces@eco.uc3m.es

of constant concern in recent decades because the Social Security system represents a significant share of the Spanish government finances. In 2019, the Social Security system represented 10.9% of the Spanish GDP. However, female labour market outcomes since the mid-seventies are important but they have been neglected by the literature and this paper models them carefully. First, the decline in the number of children. Second, the fact that women are getting more educated than men and third that they live longer than men. The last two facts imply a rise in today's contributions to Social Security and future pension expenditure.

RESEARCH QUESTION

Despite the huge recent research regarding the growth in female labour force participation over previous decades, the literature has not analysed its consequences for the government finances. This paper introduces a model that captures the increase in the Spanish female labour force participation (Guner et al., 2014). The main drivers are the higher educational attainment, the fall in births (Bover and Arellano, 1995), and the drop in female participation cost in the labour market. This participation cost is an aggregate measure that captures the other literature explanations. With this set-up, I explore the implications of this new labour market reality in the Spanish Social Security finances. Thus, this paper aims to answer the following question: What is the contribution of women labour force participation increase on the sustainability of pensions in Spain? Given the nowadays persistent gender gaps in the labour market, this paper quantifies the effect of two gender policies on the public finances and these gaps. First, the introduction of a Social Security budget that makes a gender differentiation. In other words, it introduces two Social Security budgets, one for men and the other for women, which finds the necessary tax for men and women that balances each budget. Second, I introduce gender-based taxation, where women are permanently taxed at a lower rate compared to men.

METHODOLOGY

To this end, I assume that Spain is a small open economy. I simulate a deterministic, multi-period, overlapping generations model populated by heterogeneous married households. Heterogeneity is coming from the household's education type and initial labour market productivity. Women make a participation decision in the labour market at the beginning of their lives. This decision differentiates households into one and two-earner. After that, both spouses solve a joint

maximisation problem. They make decisions on consumption and savings in all periods and labour supply in the working-age periods. A government collects a payroll tax on earnings during the working-age periods and pays retirement and widow pensions to retired cohorts. The model is calibrated to the Spanish economy in 1975 when the male-breadwinner model was generalised, and female labour force participation was low. To further analyse women's effect on the pension system, I generate an indicator that quantifies the share of male's pensions financed by women. I call this indicator the Gender Imbalance Indicator (GII, henceforth). I conduct three experiments with two different goals. First, to quantify the effect of a larger women's labour market attachment on the pension funding. Second, analyse the effect of introducing gender taxation policies in Spain. I consider a Gender Imbalances Eradication (GIE, henceforth) policy so that gender transfers are eliminated in the economy and a Gender-Based Taxation (GBT, henceforth) policy where women are taxed 20% lower than in the Benchmark economy, and men's tax adjusts so that the budget is balanced each period. All the counterfactual analyses work as follows. The economy starts in the initial steady state in 1975. Then, I introduce some of the economic and demographic changes that characterise the transition periods. Finally, I allow the economy to converge to a final steady state, comparing it with the Benchmark economy. The experiments computed for the transitional dynamics also assume that the government must balance its budget every period. To do so, the government changes the Social Security contribution rate. Finally, I analyse the welfare implications of these two last reforms. To assess the welfare consequences, I divide this analysis into two cohort groups: first, all the cohorts affected by the tax reform in 2019 and alive at that time and second, the new-born cohorts up to fifty years after the tax reform. The methodology consists of computing the per-period consumption compensation under the Benchmark economy, which guarantees equal discounted welfare under the current tax system in 2019 and the one implied by the tax reform.

RESULTS

The main findings of this paper are as follows: in a model that ensures budget balance, the ageing of the Spanish population cause the Social Security tax rate to rise from 13.4% in 2020 to 30.8% in 2050. Despite this, the Spanish women's liberalisation has dramatically affected the current (2020) Spanish labour market in two ways. On the one hand, it has narrowed the gender gaps in the labour market regarding participation (-36.8 pp), after-tax earnings (-10 pp) and pension expenditure (-14.15 pp). On the other hand, it has generated a substantial

redistribution of resources from women to men in the Social Security system. The GII indicates that women have financed over 10% of male's retirement pensions. The paper's projections show that these gender gaps in the labour market keep decreasing. At the same time, after 2050, the redistribution of resources goes from men to women, who financed over 7.8% of women's pension expenditure in 2080. Persistent gender differences in the labour market, the fact that women live longer than men and the complementarity between retirement and widow pensions explain why the redistribution in the long run goes from men to women. Under the hypothetical scenario in which women would not have increased their employment rate as we see in the data, Social Security finances would have deteriorated in the short run. In contrast, they would have improved in the long run. In 2020 the Social Security contributions rate would have increased from 13.4% in the Benchmark economy to 14.4% in this counterfactual analysis. This difference is mitigated due to two facts: first, the intrafamilial substitution of hours work and second, as female contributions fall, so does female's pension expenditure. Then, women still finance on average 4% of male's pensions until 2030. The introduction of the GIE policy in 2019 shows that the tax would have been lower for women in the short run than men's (4.2 pp lower in 2020), the opposite happens in the long run horizon (4.9 pp higher in 2050). While GIE encourages women to increase their labour market participation and supply until 2043, in the long run, gender gaps in the labour market widen. In welfare terms, taxing men and women at a fair rate cause welfare loss for the alive cohorts in 2019 (-0.08% in lifetime consumption) and the future new-born cohorts (0-0.55%). Thus, it does not seem like a good policy to reduce gender differences. Despite this, GBT is a smarter policy because it induces women to work more hours and to participate more, independent of educational attainment. Additionally, this Experiment provides a relevant source to lessen the gender wage gap and it displays welfare gains for new-born cohorts as they would be, on average, better off by 0.7-0.55 % in lifetime consumption.

CONTRIBUTION

The paper lies at the intersection of three lines of research. The first is concerned with a long tradition in macroeconomics research on sustaining Social Security systems. This literature uses life-cycle models pioneered by Auerbach and Kotlikoff (1987). I contribute to the papers that analyse potential policy reforms that look for a self-financed pension system. Imrohoroglu et al. (1995) studied the optimal replacement rate in the United States. Fuster et al. (2007) evaluate the elimination of the Social Security System with altruistic individuals. In Spain, Díaz-Giménez and

Díaz-Saavedra (2009) studied the effect of delaying the statutory legal retirement age. However, I depart from the existing literature by considering a two-earner household environment and modelling the female labour supply. To the best of my knowledge, Sánchez-Martín and Sánchez-Marcos (2010) are the first and only authors who introduced this new feature in the pension literature. However, modelling females' labour supply, both in the extensive and intensive margins, is widespread in other set-ups. For instance, Guner et al. (2011), Kaygusuz (2015) and Nishiyama (2019). The main difference is that those papers do not study pensions' sustainability problem as Sánchez-Martín and Sánchez-Marcos (2010) and this paper does. The second relevant strand of the literature refers to the recent research regarding the growth in female labour force participation over previous decades. This branch of literature divides into two different sections. The first focuses on the documentation of this new labour market stylised fact (Goldin, 2006) for U.S. and (Guner et al., 2014) for Spain. The second finds potential reasons behind the shift in female's labour supply behaviour. The increase in university education and the decrease in birth rates in Spain (Bover and Arellano, 1995), the electricity revolution (Greenwood et al., 2005), the relative change in returns to experience compared with the male's (Olivetti, 2006), the decrease in the gender wage gap (Jones et al., 2015b) and the reduction in the childcare cost (Sánchez-Marcos and Bethencourt, 2018) explain the rise. In this vein, this paper extends the literature mentioned above to a new section that examines the consequences of this labour market trend in pension sustainability. The third strand of the literature is the evaluation of tax reforms with a heterogeneous dynamic model. The paper is in line with Guner et al. (2012b). They evaluate the introduction of gender-based taxation in a heterogeneous model for the U.S. They show that gender-based taxation improves welfare for most households. I introduce gender-based taxation in Spain and contribute in two ways. First, to the literature on tax reforms by assessing the effect of gender-based taxation on the Social Security system. Second, I contribute to the debate on whether more elastic labour suppliers should be taxed at a lower rate (in favour Alesina et al. (2011), against Saint-Paul (2008)) by bringing an empirical perspective to the lively debate on gender-based taxation. I particularly explore the quantitative effect of taxing women and men differently for the Social Security finances.

KEY WORDS

Female participation, two earner households, gender-based taxation, transition

JEL CLASSIFICATION

H55, J16, J11

- 1. Alesina, A., Ichino, A., & Karabarbounis, L. (2011). Gender-based taxation and the division of family chores. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, *3*(2), 1-40.
- 2. Auerbach, A. J., & Kotlikoff, L. J. (1987). Evaluating fiscal policy with a dynamic simulation model. *The American Economic Review*, *77*(2), 49-55.
- 3. Bover, O., & Arellano, M. (1995). Female labour force participation in the 1980s: the c ase of Spain. *Investigaciones económicas*, *19*(2), 171-194.
- 4. Díaz-Giménez, J., & Díaz-Saavedra, J. (2009). Delaying retirement in Spain. *Review of Economic dynamics*, *12*(1), 147-167.
- 5. De Nardi, M., Imrohoroğlu, S., & Sargent, T. J. (1999). Projected US demographics and social security. *Review of Economic dynamics*, 2(3), 575-615.
- 6. Fuster, L., İmrohoroğlu, A., & İmrohoroğlu, S. (2007). Elimination of social security in a dynastic framework. *The Review of Economic Studies*, *74*(1), 113-145.
- 7. Galasso, V., & Profeta, P. (2004). Lessons for an ageing society: the political sustainabil ity of social security systems. *Economic Policy*, *19*(38), 64-115.
- 8. Goldin, C. (2006). The quiet revolution that transformed women's employment, educa tion, and family. *American economic review*, *96*(2), 1-21.
- 9. Greenwood, J., Seshadri, A., & Yorukoglu, M. (2005). Engines of liberation. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 72(1), 109-133.
- 10. Guner, N., Kaygusuz, R., & Ventura, G. (2012). Taxation and household labour supply. *The Review of economic studies, 79*(3), 1113-1149.
- 11. Guner, N., Kaygusuz, R., & Ventura, G. (2012). Taxing women: A macroeconomic analy sis. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, *59*(1), 111-128.
- 12. Guner, N., Kaya, E., & Sánchez-Marcos, V. (2014). Gender gaps in Spain: policies and outcomes over the last three decades. *SERIEs*, *5*(1), 61-103.
- 13. İmrohoroglu, A., Imrohoroglu, S., & Joines, D. H. (1995). A life cycle analysis of social s ecurity. *Economic theory*, *6*(1), 83-114.
- 14. Jones, L. E., Manuelli, R. E., & McGrattan, E. R. (2015). Why are married women working so much?. *Journal of Demographic Economics*, 81(1), 75-114.
- 15. Kaygusuz, R. (2015). Social security and two-earner households. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, *59*, 163-178.
- 16. Nishiyama, S. (2019). The joint labor supply decision of married couples and the US So cial Security pension system. *Review of Economic Dynamics*, *31*, 277-304.
- 17. Olivetti, C. (2006). Changes in women's hours of market work: The role of returns to e xperience. *Review of Economic Dynamics*, *9*(4), 557-587.
- 18. Saint-Paul, G. (2008). Against 'gender-based taxation'.

- 19. Sánchez Martín, A. R., & Sánchez Marcos, V. (2010). Demographic Change and Pensio n Reform in Spain: An Assessment in a Two-Earner, OLG Model. *Fiscal studies*, *31*(3), 405-452.
- 20. Sánchez-Marcos, V., & Bethencourt, C. (2018). The effect of public pensions on women's labor market participation over a full life cycle. *Quantitative Economics*, *9*(2), 707-733.

OCCUPATIONAL CHANGE, SKILLS AND GENDER IN THE BELGIAN LABOUR MARKET, 1986-2020

Nick Deschacht1

KU Leuven, Department of Economics, Brussel, Belgium

Céline Detilleux²

KU Leuven, Department of Economics, Brussel, Belgium

MOTIVATION

Studying the change of the occupational structure is important because as some occupation grow and others decline, some groups of workers may lose and others win in terms of income, employment and job quality. Automation and recent technological trends are widely considered to be routine-biased and to lead to job polarization in the occupational structure. However, studying these trends over longer time periods requires good quality data and harmonized time series on occupational change.

RESEARCH QUESTION

The main aim of this research is to produce harmonized time series on occupational change in Belgium for the period 1986-2020. Based on these time series, we study occupation-specific growth/decline rates over this 35-year period, we quantify the degree of job polarization, we compare the evolution in Belgium to that of neighboring countries, and we study the relations between occupational change and worker characteristics (gender, education, age and region).

METHODOLOGY

The construction of longer-term harmonized time series on occupational change in Belgium is complex because of the numerous changes of the occupational classifications used in the Belgian Labour Force Survey. We construct harmonized time series by estimating the number of workers in each detailed occupation in the early years of the survey, using estimated correspondence tables between the old

¹ E-mail address: nick.deschacht@kuleuven.be

² E-mail address: celine.detilleux@kuleuven.be

and new occupational classifications and relying on earlier methodology developed at the Belgian Federal Planning Bureau.

RESULTS

We find clear indications of job polarization: the share of workers in routine jobs has declined by about 10 percentage points and the share workers in middle-low skilled jobs has declined by about 20 percentage points. We also find that low educated workers experienced much more 'occupational turbulence' over time.

CONTRIBUTION

We contribute to the literature on occupational change by constructing harmonized time series on occupational change over the past 35 years in Belgium. We estimate growth rates over this period at the level of detailed occupations, we relate these to worker characteristics and we contribute to the literature on the labour market effects of automation by providing new evidence of job polarization.

KEY WORDS

Occupational change, job polarization,

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J21

- 1. Acemoglu, D., & Restrepo, P. (2019). Automation and new tasks: How technology displaces and reinstates labor. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *33*(2), 3–30.
- 2. Autor, D. (2019). Work of the past, work of the future. AEA Papers and Proceedings, 109, 1–32.
- 3. Autor, D. H., Katz, L. F., & Kearney, M. S. (2006). The polarization of the US labour market. *American Economic Review*, *96*(2), 189–194.
- 4. Autor, D., & Dorn, D. (2013). The growth of low-skill service jobs and the polarization of the US labour market. *American Economic Review*, *103*(5), 1553–97.
- 5. Brynjolfsson, E., & McAfee, A. (2014). *The second machine age: Work, progress, and prosperity in a time of brilliant technologies*. New York, NY: WW Norton & Company.
- 6. Frey, C. & Osborne, M. (2017). The future of employment: How susceptible are jobs to computerisation?. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *114*, 254–280.

- 7. Ganzeboom, H. (n.d.). Tools for deriving occupational status measures from ISCO-08 with interpretative notes to ISCO-08. Retrieved from http://www.harryganzeboom.nl/ISCO08/index.htm
- 8. Goos, M., & Manning, A. (2007). Lousy and lovely jobs: The rising polarization of work in Britain. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, *89*(1), 118–133.
- ILO (2012). International standard classification of occupations: Structure, group definitions and correspondence tables. Geneva: International Labor Office. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_172572.pdf
- 10. Muçaj, A. (2017). Employment by occupations in the Belgian LFS: Difficulties resulting from the introduction of the ISCO08 classification. University of Antwerp-Master Thesis.

THE IMPACT OF HUMAN CAPITAL DEPRECIATION ON MOTHERS' AND FATHERS' WAGES

Maria Petrillo¹

University of Sheffield, Sheffield, United Kingdom

MOTIVATION

The human capital theory identifies human capital depreciation and lost job experience as one of the factors impacting wages. Following this line of thought and given the existence of a strong trade-off between early advantages and late disadvantage in labour market outcomes for individuals with vocational versus general education, and that, on average, skills developed following a vocational path become more easily atrophied compared with those acquired following an academic path; the study evaluates the impact of skill depreciation on the motherhood wage gap.

RESEARCH QUESTION

This study aims to make a novel contribution to the literature by investigating the impact of parenthood on wages. In addition, the present study aims to throw further light on the motherhood wage gap, by investigating the human capital theory as one of the possible explanations for the difference in wage between mothers/fathers and childless individuals.

METHODOLOGY

This study analyses the parenthood wage effect by relying on a difference-in-differences approach. The latter will involve comparing treated individuals, that is mothers/fathers who had a child at a given point in time, with childless women/men, with similar background characteristics. The peculiarity of this approach is that the treatment and the control groups are not defined by an exogenous event. Hence, to justify the results achieved, additional robustness checks for concerns regarding the time window and the threshold chosen are performed.

¹ E-mail address: mpetrillo1@sheffield.ac.uk

RESULTS

Results uncover inequalities among women and men in terms of parenthood wage effects. Additionally, the results are consistent with the main hypothesis of this study which supports the idea according to which women with a vocational education background suffer from a wider motherhood wage penalty if compared to those women having a general education background. Given that skills acquired through vocational studies depreciate quicker and may require to be updated more often, a birth-related leave will have a higher cost in terms of human capital loss.

CONTRIBUTION

This study, for the first time, studies the motherhood wage penalty by relying on a difference-in-differences approach. It is also unique in that it is the first to use the difference in the rates of human capital depreciation between vocational and general skills, to evaluate the impact of skill depreciation on the motherhood wage gap.

KEY WORDS

Motherhood, fatherhood, wage penalty, inequality, education

JEL CLASSIFICATION

126, J16, J24, J31

- 1. Bayard, K., Hellerstein, J., Neumark, D., & Troske, K. (2003). New evidence on sex segregation and sex differences in wages from matched employee-employer data. *Journal of labor Economics*, *21*(4), 887-922.
- 2. Brunello, G., & Rocco, L. (2017). The labor market effects of academic and vocational education over the life cycle: Evidence based on a British cohort. *Journal of Human Capital*, 11(1), 106-166.
- 3. Budig, M. J., Misra, J., & Boeckmann, I. (2012). The motherhood penalty in cross-national perspective: The importance of work–family policies and cultural attitudes. *Social Politics*, *19*(2), 163-193.
- 4. Cox, D. (1984). Panel estimates of the effects of career interruptions on the earnings of women. *Economic Inquiry*, 22(3), 386.

- 5. Dustmann, C., & Meghir, C. (2005). Wages, experience and seniority. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 72(1), 77-108.
- 6. Felfe, C. (2012). The motherhood wage gap: What about job amenities?. *Labour Economics*, 19(1), 59-67.
- 7. Gangl, M., & Ziefle, A. (2009). Motherhood, labor force behavior, and women's careers: An empirical assessment of the wage penalty for motherhood in Britain, Germany, and the United States. *Demography*, 46(2), 341-369.
- 8. Glauber, R. (2008). Race and gender in families and at work: The fatherhood wage premium. *Gender & Society*, 22(1), 8-30.
- 9. Golsteyn, B. H., & Stenberg, A. (2017). Earnings over the life course: General versus vocational education. *Journal of Human Capital*, *11*(2), 167-212.
- 10. Hampf, F., & Woessmann, L. (2017). Vocational vs. general education and employment over the life cycle: New evidence from PIAAC. *CESifo Economic Studies*, *63*(3), 255-269.
- 11. Hanushek, E. A., Schwerdt, G., Woessmann, L., & Zhang, L. (2017). General education, vocational education, and labor-market outcomes over the lifecycle. *Journal of human resources*, *52*(1), 48-87.
- 12. Jacobsen, J. P., & Levin, L. M. (1995). Effects of intermittent labor force attachment on women's earnings. *Monthly Lab. Rev.*, *118*, 14.
- 13. Lundberg, S., & Rose, E. (2000). Parenthood and the earnings of married men and women. *Labour Economics*, 7(6), 689-710.
- 14. Mincer, J., & Polachek, S. (1974). Family investments in human capital: Earnings of women. *Journal of political Economy*, 82(2, Part 2), S76-S108.
- 15. Pal, I., & Waldfogel, J. (2014). Re-visiting the family gap in pay in the United States.
- 16. Pettit, B., & Hook, J. L. (2009). *Gendered tradeoffs: Women, family, and workplace inequality in twenty-one countries*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- 17. Polachek, S. W. (1981). Occupational self-selection: A human capital approach to sex differences in occupational structure. *The review of Economics and Statistics*, 60-69.
- 18. Simonsen, M., & Skipper, L. (2012). The family gap in wages: What wombmates reveal. *Labour Economics*, 19(1), 102-112.
- 19. Trappe, H., & Rosenfeld, R. A. (2000). How do children matter? A comparison of gender earnings inequality for young adults in the former East Germany and the former West Germany. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *62*(2), 489-507.
- 20. Weber, S. (2014). Human capital depreciation and education level. *International Journal of Manpower*.

Stream B: Immigration and Discrimination

SEX-SELECTIVE ABORTIONS AMONG IMMIGRANT POPULATIONS: EVIDENCE FROM ITALIAN BIRTH REGISTER ADMINISTRATIVE DATA

Chiara Allegri¹

Bocconi University, Milan, Italy

MOTIVATION

Preference for sons over daughters coupled with desire for limited family sizes has led sex-selective abortions to arise in several countries, following the diffusion of technologies enabling pre-natal sex determination in the last decades. Concerned countries notably include China and India. While existing evidence finds that in some cases this fertility behaviour is found also amongst immigrants in destination countries, the phenomenon is understudied in most European countries.

RESEARCH QUESTION

This research aims to investigate whether the practice of sex-selective abortion occurs among immigrants living in one of the largest EU countries. Italy is ideal for conducting such research since has witnessed sustained flows of immigration from 1989 onwards. In particular, the research aims to establish for which parents' citizenship such fertility behavior is more likely, determine to what extent it is correlated with higher parity, and quantify the implied number of missing women.

METHODOLOGY

I am able to capture sex-selective abortions exploiting administrative data on the universe of the Italian births register from 2006 to 2019. Logistic regression models were used to estimate the likelihood of registering the birth of a female rather than

¹ E-mail address: chiara.allegri@phd.unibocconi.it

Parallel Sessions IV, Stream B: Immigration and Discrimination

a male for different population groups, conditional to family size and adjusting for individual characteristics of the parents. The analysis allows me to quantify the implied number of missing women over the 14 years timeframe.

RESULTS

For several parents' countries of citizenship, particularly for India, Philippines and China, the likelihood of registering the birth of a female baby is significantly lower compared to the Italian reference, after controlling for their age, their marital status as well as for province and year fixed effects. The unbalances are stronger for larger family sizes. These results are consistent with the practice of sex-selective abortion.

CONTRIBUTION

This research brings attention to the discriminatory practice of sex-selective abortions among immigrant populations, providing for the first time an extensive analysis of the phenomenon at the national level in the Italian context. Targeted action should be taken in order to tackle this issue, and regular reporting of sex ratios at birth among population subgroups is needed in order to correctly monitor it.

KEY WORDS

Fertility, immigration

JEL CLASSIFICATION

11

INTERMARRIAGE AND COVID-19 MORTALITY AMONG IMMIGRANTS. A POPULATION-BASED COHORT STUDY FROM SWEDEN²

Ognjen Obućina³

Institut national d'études démographiques (Ined), Paris, France

Siddartha Aradhya4

Stockholm University, Sweden

Maria Brandén⁵

Stockholm University and Linköping University, Sweden

Sven Drefahl⁶

Stockholm University, Sweden

Gunnar Andersson⁷

Stockholm University, Sweden

Mikael Rostila⁸

Stockholm University, Sweden

Eleonora Mussino⁹

Stockholm University, Sweden

Sol P. Juárez¹⁰

Stockholm University, Sweden

² This study was published in a peer-reviewed journal during the conference paper selection process ("Intermarriage and COVID-19 mortality among immigrants. A population-based cohort study from Sweden", BMJ Open 11(9), doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-048952)

³ E-mail address: ognjen.obucina@ined.fr

⁴ E-mail address: siddartha.aradhya@sociology.su.se

⁵ E-mail address: maria.branden@liu.se

⁶ E-mail address: sven.drefahl@sociology.su.se

⁷ E-mail address: gunnar.andersson@sociology.su.se

⁸ E-mail address: mikael.rostila@su.se

⁹ E-mail address: eleonora.mussino@sociology.su.se

¹⁰ E-mail address: sol.juarez@su.se

MOTIVATION

International evidence has shown that immigrants and ethnic minorities are disproportionately at risk of severe COVID-19 complications and death. In the context of an ongoing pandemic, an effort to understand the causes for why some groups are more affected is a public health priority. Among these groups, excess mortality has been suggested to be the result of differential exposure, susceptibility (e.g., pre-existing conditions), and language barriers and access to healthcare.

RESEARCH QUESTION

Does intermarriage (marriage to a native Swedish person) protect immigrants in Sweden from higher COVID-19 mortality?

METHODOLOGY

This is a cohort study with follow-up between March 12, 2020 and February 23, 2021. The data are drawn from Swedish registers, which cover the entire population residing in Sweden. Cox regression models were conducted to assess the association between different constellations of immigrant-native couples and COVID-19 mortality and all other causes of deaths (2019 and 2020). Models were adjusted for relevant confounders.

RESULTS

Compared to Swedish-Swedish couples, both immigrants partnered with another immigrant and a native showed excess mortality for COVID-19 (although it is less pronounced among the intermarried). Moreover, similar results are found for natives partnered with an immigrant, as they are also exposed to an elevated risk of death due to COVID-19.

CONTRIBUTION

This is the only study to date to examine socio-cultural integration as the mechanism behind the disproportionate burden that COVID-19 has placed on immigrant communities, by comparing the mortality of native-native, immigrant-native, and immigrant-immigrant couples in Sweden. These findings challenge hypotheses that poor language proficiency and institutional awareness are major contributing factors explaining the excess mortality from COVID-19 among immigrants.

Parallel Sessions IV, Stream B: Immigration and Discrimination

KEY WORDS

COVID-19, immigrants, language barriers, mortality, Sweden

JEL CLASSIFICATION

114

- 1. Alba, R. D., & Golden, R. M. (1986). Patterns of ethnic marriage in the United States. *Social forces*, 65(1), 202-223.
- Drefahl, S., Wallace, M., Mussino, E., Aradhya, S., Kolk, M., Brandén, M., Malmberg, B., & Andersson, G. (2020). A population-based cohort study of socio-demographic risk factors for COVID-19 deaths in Sweden. *Nature communications*, 11(1), 1-7.
- 3. Flores, G. (2005). The impact of medical interpreter services on the quality of health care: a systematic review. *Medical care research and review*, *62*(3), 255-299.
- 4. Kalmijn, M. (1998). Intermarriage and homogamy: Causes, patterns, trends. *Annual review of sociology*, *24*(1), 395-421.
- 5. Khunti, K., Singh, A. K., Pareek, M., & Hanif, W. (2020). Is ethnicity linked to incidence or outcomes of covid-19?.
- 6. Pan, D., et al. (2020). The impact of ethnicity on clinical outcomes in COVID-19: a systematic review. *EClinicalMedicine*, *23*, 100404.
- 7. Pierre, J. (2020). Nudges against pandemics: Sweden's COVID-19 containment strategy in perspective. *Policy and Society*, *39*(3), 478-493.
- 8. Ross, J., Diaz, C. M., & Starrels, J. L. (2020). The disproportionate burden of COVID- 19 for immigrants in the Bronx, New York. *JAMA internal medicine*, *180*(8), 1043- 1044.
- 9. Rostila, M., Cederström, A., Wallace, M., Brandén, M., Malmberg, B., & Andersson, G. (2021). Disparities in COVID-19 deaths by country of birth in Stockholm, Sweden: A total population based cohort study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*.
- 10. The World Bank. GNI, Atlas method (current US\$) | Data. DataBank https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GNP.ATLS.CD.

THE IMPACT OF DISCRIMINATION ON FUTURE PERFORMANCE: EVIDENCE OF A SELF-FULFILLING PROPHECY FROM THE ITALIAN STUDENT POPULATION

Paolo Agnolin¹

Bocconi University, Milan, Italy

MOTIVATION

Discrimination has emerged as a central concern of educational research. A growing literature (Alesina et al., 2018; Botelho et al. 2015) find evidence of teachers' bias in grading minorities. Previous economic research suggests that discrimination may lead to self-fulfilling prophecies by influencing the behavior of discriminated groups in the direction of the stereotypes (Glover et al., 2017). However, the literature on the effects of discrimination on future educational performance is scarce.

RESEARCH QUESTION

What is the impact of discrimination on long-term future school competence? In this study, we identify the presence of grading bias in teachers' assessment and we thus estimate its effect on the affected students, as opposed to peers who are less exposed to subjective under-assessment. Put differently, we estimate the impact of having a biased teacher on future competence.

METHODOLOGY

We use educational data on the entire population of Italian students, which is observed over three periods from primary to middle school. We compare subjective teachers' grade with students' score on standardized blindly graded tests. In this way, we compute a measure of students' under-assessment and of average teacher's bias. We thus estimate the effect of these measures on our proxy of unbiased performance in the next periods using regression models.

¹ E-mail address: paolo.agnolin@unibocconi.it

RESULTS

We find evidence of grading bias against students with a foreign status. In fact, teachers give lower grades to foreign pupils compared to natives who have the same performance on standardized, blindly-graded, tests. We then estimate the impact of grading under-assessment over future performance, and we find significant negative effects. Grading bias seems to lead to a self-fulfilling prophecy by influencing the behavior of discriminated groups in the direction of teacher assessment.

CONTRIBUTION

While our work is not the first study to estimate grading bias, the contribution regarding the future effects of this phenomenon remains rather scarce. To our knowledge, this is the first work that uses a measure of ethnic-based grading bias to estimate the impact on future school competence. This is a key research question, as evaluation biases may very well lead to gaps in future scholastic attainments by ultimately realizing the unfavorable self-fulfilling prophecy of discrimination.

KEY WORDS

Grading bias, discrimination, education

JEL CLASSIFICATION

124

- Alesina, A., Carlana, M., La Ferrara, E., & Pinotti, P. (2018). Revealing stereotypes: Evidence from immigrants in schools (No. w25333). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- 2. Botelho, F., Madeira, R. A., & Rangel, M. A. (2015). Racial discrimination in grading: Evidence from Brazil. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 7(4), 37-52.
- 3. Glover, D., Pallais, A., & Pariente, W. (2017). Discrimination as a self-fulfilling prophecy: Evidence from French grocery stores. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 132(3), 1219-1260.

HATE IN THE TIME OF COVID: RACIAL HATE CRIMES AGAINST EAST ASIANS

Joel Carr²

University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium

Joanna Clifton-Sprigg³

University of Bath, Bath, United Kingdom

Jonathan James⁴

University of Bath, Bath, United Kingdom

Sunčica Vujić⁵

University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium

MOTIVATION

In the lead-up and aftermath of the first wave of Covid-19 online scapegoating of minorities, particularly those perceived to be Chinese by nationality of ethnicity, became prominent among politicians and other influential individuals. This in turn was followed by an increase in media reporting on hate crimes against Chinese in Western countries with the most serious event occurring in Atlanta, Georgia where 8 women of Asian descent were murdered. In this research we estimate the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on racial hate crimes against East Asians and other ethnic groups in the United Kingdom.

RESEARCH QUESTION

How did the Covid-19 pandemic impact racial hate crimes by ethnic group in the United Kingdom? Moreover, were changes in racial hate crime associated with changes in containment policies, mobility, and domestic and foreign covid infection levels?

² E-mail address: joel.carr@uantwerpen.be

³ E-mail address: J.M.Clifton-Sprigg@bath.ac.uk

⁴ E-mail address: J.James@bath.ac.uk

⁵ E-mail address: suncica.vujic@uantwerpen.be

Parallel Sessions IV, Stream B: Immigration and Discrimination

METHODOLOGY

We use a variety of estimation methods including regression discontinuity design and event study setting. We combine hate crime data including victim ethnicity obtained by Freedom of Information requests with a range of other sources including government policies, Google mobility data, local, national, and foreign covid cases and deaths, as well as a unique dataset on covid-related tweets.

RESULTS

We find that hate crimes against East Asians increased in early February as cases rose in China. However, by the start of lockdown racial hate crimes decreased significantly across all ethnic groups except East Asians. As the first national lockdown progressed hate crimes returned to expected levels and were significantly higher once the national lockdown ended.

CONTRIBUTION

We are the first to look at temporal effects of Covid-19 on hate crimes across different ethnic groups. In addition, we explore the mechanisms behind the changes in hate crime levels by considering the roles of containment policies, economic aid, and domestic and foreign infection levels.

KEY WORDS

Covid, hate crime, xenophobia, RDD, event study

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J15, C23, D63

- 1. Abrams, D. S. (2021). Covid and crime: An early empirical look. Journal of Public Economics, 194(C), S0047272720302085.
- Bartoš, V., Bauer, M., Cahlíková, J., & Chytilová, J. (2021). Covid-19 crisis and hostility against foreigners. European Economic Review, 137, 103818. doi: 10.1016/j.euroecorev.2021.103818
- 3. Carr, J., Clifton-Sprigg, J., James, J., & Vujic, S. (2020). Love Thy Neighbour? Brexit and Hate Crime. (No. 13902). Institute of Labor Economics (IZA).

Parallel Sessions IV, Stream B: Immigration and Discrimination

- 4. Dipoppa, G., Grossman, G., & Zonszein, S. (2021). Locked down, lashing out: Situational triggers and hateful behavior towards minority ethnic immigrants. Social Science Research Network.
- 5. Gray, C., & Hansen, K. (2020). Did covid-19 lead to an increase in hate crimes towards chinese people in london? (DoQSS Working Papers No. 20-05). Quantitative Social Science UCL Social Research Institute, University College London.
- 6. He, J., He, L., Zhou, W., Nie, X., & He, M. (2020). Discrimination and social exclusion in the outbreak of covid-19. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(8), 2933. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17082933

Stream A: Infant Health and Child Development

EXPOSURE TO HIGH-SPEED INTERNET AND EARLY CHILDHOOD DEVELOPMENT

Karina Colombo¹

European Institute University, Florence, Italy

Elisa Failache²

Universidad Autónoma de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

MOTIVATION

In recent years, new information and communication technologies have become a ubiquitous element of everyday life (Rideout et al., 2013). Children have become increasingly exposed to a more frequent use of devices connected to high-speed internet, which could have an effect in the achievement of their developmental milestones. Early childhood constitutes a crucial life period due to its high sensitivity for cognitive, socio-emotional, motor and language development (Heckman, 2008; WHO, 2020).

RESEARCH QUESTION

This paper analyzes the effects of exposure to high-speed internet in early childhood. The effect of fiber optic is approximated by the exposure of the child to fiber optic accessibility in the neighborhood. This allows us to identify the intention-to-treat effect, that is, the effect of fiber optic becoming accessible in the dwelling, which in turn affects the possibility of purchasing a fiber optic internet plan. Ultimately, this would rise connection speed affecting internet consumption decisions, and thus increasing screen exposure of the child and the caregiver.

¹ E-mail address: karina.colombo@eui.eu

² E-mail address: elisa.failache@uab.cat

METHODOLOGY

To conduct the analysis, we exploit geographic differences in the timing of fiber optic roll-out since 2011, to analyze the effects of internet use in developmental outcomes of children between 0 and 5 years of age. Combining administrative data on the geographical differences in the timing of fiber-optic penetration, with survey data on cognitive and non-cognitive outcomes for children born between 2010 and 2018, we estimate the intention-to-treat effects of fiber optic on several psychometric tests

RESULTS

Results show a deterioration in children's outcomes caused by an increase in internet connectivity. Significant decreases between 10% and 18% of a standard deviation are found in the areas of Communication, Problem Solving and Personal-Social. By sex, the results show no differences among girls and boys except for problem solving, being girls more negatively affected. Considering the education of the caregivers, children with highly educated caregivers show stronger negative results. Children living in smaller cities are more affected by high-speed internet exposure.

CONTRIBUTION

This paper contributes in several ways: provides evidence for the effects of high-speed internet at the population level for a crucial period of life; conducts the analysis by taking advantage of high-quality outcomes, as are child psychometric tests; provides evidence for a developing country, allowing to study the challenges of new technologies in vulnerable contexts. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first research that studies the effects of exposure to high-speed internet in early childhood exploiting an exogenous source of variation.

KEY WORDS

Child development, internet, screen exposure

JEL CLASSIFICATION

D60, I30, J13

- 1. Anderson, D. R., & Kirkorian, H. L. (2015). Media and cognitive development. Handbook of child psychology and developmental science, 1-46.
- 2. Anderson, D. R., & Subrahmanyam, K. (2017). Digital screen media and cognitive development. *Pediatrics*, *140*(Supplement 2), S57-S61.
- 3. Barr, R., Muentener, P., Garcia, A., Fujimoto, M., & Chávez, V. (2007). The effect of repetition on imitation from television during infancy. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 49(2), 196-207.
- 4. Bellou, A. (2015). The impact of Internet diffusion on marriage rates: evidence from the broadband market. *Journal of Population Economics*, *28*(2), 265-297.
- 5. Bhuller, M., Havnes, T., Leuven, E., & Mogstad, M. (2013). Broadband internet: An information superhighway to sex crime?. *Review of Economic studies*, *80*(4), 1237-1266.
- 6. Campante, F., Durante, R., & Sobbrio, F. (2018). Politics 2.0: The multifaceted effect of broadband internet on political participation. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 16(4), 1094-1136.
- 7. Chassiakos, Y. L. R., Radesky, J., Christakis, D., Moreno, M. A., & Cross, C. (2016). Children and adolescents and digital media. *Pediatrics*, *138*(5).
- 8. Chen, W., & Adler, J. L. (2019). Assessment of screen exposure in young children, 1997 to 2014. *JAMA pediatrics*, 173(4), 391-393.
- 9. DeLoache, J. S., & Chiong, C. (2009). Babies and baby media. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 52(8), 1115-1135.
- 10. Faber, B., Sanchis-Guarner, R., & Weinhardt, F. (2015). *ICT and education: evidence from student home addresses (No. w21306)*. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- 11. Gentzkow, M., & Shapiro, J. M. (2008). Preschool television viewing and adolescent test scores: Historical evidence from the Coleman study. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *123*(1), 279-323.
- 12. Goode, J. A., Fomby, P., Mollborn, S., & Limburg, A. (2020). Children's technology time in two US cohorts. *Child Indicators Research*, *13*(3), 1107-1132.
- 13. Gottschalk, F. (2019). Impacts of technology use on children: Exploring literature on the brain, cognition and well-being. OECD Education Working Papers, No. 195, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- 14. Grenestam, E., & Nordin, M. (2019). High-speed broadband and academic achievement in teenagers: Evidence from Sweden. Working Paper 2017:17, Lund University, Department of Economics.
- 15. Heckman, J. J. (2006). Skill formation and the economics of investing in disadvantaged children. *Science*, *312*(5782), 1900-1902.
- 16. Kearney, M. S., & Levine, P. B. (2015). Early childhood education by MOOC: Lessons from Sesame Street (No. w21229). National Bureau of Economic Research.

Parallel Sessions V, Stream A: Infant Health and Child Development

- 17. Kostyrka-Allchorne, K., Cooper, N. R., & Simpson, A. (2017). The relationship between television exposure and children's cognition and behaviour: A systematic review. *Developmental Review*, 44, 19-58.
- 18. Kühhirt, M., & Klein, M. (2020). Parental education, television exposure, and children's early cognitive, language and behavioral development. *Social science research*, *86*, 102391.
- 19. McDool, E., Powell, P., Roberts, J., & Taylor, K. (2020). The internet and children's psychological wellbeing. *Journal of health economics*, 69, 102274.
- 20. Rideout, V., Saphir, M., Tsang, V., & Bozdech, B. (2013). Zero to eight children's media use in America. Common Sense Media.

CAN EARLY UNIVERSAL PRESCHOOL REDUCE CHILD DEVELOPMENT INEQUALITIES? THE ROLES OF INTENSITY AND LENGTH OF EXPOSURE IN FRANCE USING ELFE FRENCH CHILD COHORT

Lawrence Berger¹

University of Wisconsin, Madison, US

Lidia Panico²

INED, Paris, France

Anne Solaz³

INED, Paris, France

MOTIVATION

Early years are particularly important for the children's cognitive and non-cognitive skills. High quality early childhood education and care programs can foster this development, but it is not easy to establish a causal link. Most evidence from the US, where settings much more heterogeneous than in Europe, and heterogeneity linked to SES. Most studies have focused on estimating overall program influences on child development; but not on what aspects of preschool programs (age at entry, intensity, and duration) matter most.

RESEARCH QUESTION

Does universal public pre-school promote child development? Does length of exposure matter? What about other program features such as intensity? Is there heterogeneity in effects by family socioeconomic status?

METHODOLOGY

We estimate the effect of attending a universal free preschool program (école maternelle), using nationally representative French Elfe birth cohort. We use two indicators of child development: the cognitive British Ability Scale and an overall test based on 44 questions in different domains (socialization, autonomy, language,

¹ E-mail address: lmberger@wisc.edu ² E-mail address: lidia.panico@ined.fr

³ E-mail address: solaz@ined.fr

Parallel Sessions V, Stream A: Infant Health and Child Development

motor skills) filled by parents. Both tests were assessed at the same age (3.5 years), irrespective of the time spent in school allowing us to measure school effects.

RESULTS

Our results provide plausibly causal evidence that universal preschool programs have the potential to both foster children's early cognitive skills and reduce early socio-economic inequalities. Length of exposure matters for improved cognitive skills and overall skills, while intensity of preschool hours appears to be less important. Children from more disadvantaged backgrounds appear to reap particularly large cognitive benefits from a longer duration in preschool.

CONTRIBUTION

Our results provide plausibly causal evidence that universal preschool programs (as exemplified by the French école maternelle program) have the potential to both foster children's early cognitive skills and reduce early socio-economic inequalities.

KEY WORDS

Child development, preschool, inequalities, BAS, early childhood

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J13 J18 I24

Parallel Sessions V, Stream A: Infant Health and Child Development

MATERNAL AND NEWBORN'S HEALTH CONSEQUENCES OF MATERNITY UNITS CLOSURE: EVIDENCE FROM A FRENCH ADMINISTRATIVE DATABASE

Léa Ambroise¹

INED, Paris, France

MOTIVATION

Over the course of 40 years, the number of maternity unit in France has been divided by 2.8. Even though it is argued that closures are primarily for safety reasons, it raises two questions: does the closure of maternity units create inequalities in terms of access to perinatal care? What effects does it have on infants' and mothers' health? Closure could make access to care more difficult for expecting mothers because it increases time and/or distance needed to reach them.

RESEARCH QUESTION

This phenomenon could both reduce incentives for women to follow prenatal care checkups and make reaching maternity units for deliveries harder. As a consequence, the number of out-of-hospital deliveries in unsafe conditions or the number of planned deliveries could increase. Therefore, my research question is twofold: do maternity unit closures have an impact on the health of mothers and infants? If so, is it due to the increased time/distance needed for women to reach maternity units?

METHODOLOGY

I use an administrative database on health facilities to identify every maternity units in France and their time of closure if so. From this, I compute time variation to reach the (x) closest maternity unit(s), by year. To measure the effects of closure on perinatal health indicators (measured at the maternity level), I choose as a

¹ E-mail address: lea.ambroise@ined.fr

treatment group the x closest maternity units to a maternity unit y that closed and measure the effects of that closure y on their perinatal health indicators.

RESULTS

Results are still preliminary. Being closest to a maternity unit that closed increase the number of deliveries the following years, as well as the numbers of cesarean section deliveries. Both results are statistically significant at conventional levels. Next results will be on perinatal health indicators as outcomes of interest such as birthweight, premature status, rate of urgent cesarean section deliveries... I plan to use the number of beds available as an additional variation of treatment.

CONTRIBUTION

My contribution to this literature is first using comprehensive and yearly administrative data on health facilities, which allows me to identify maternity units, as well as their equipment (number of beds) and medical staff between 2000 and 2018. Perinatal health indicators are yearly and comprehensive, albeit restricted to 2013 to 2018 for now. To compute time and distance, I use a software that take into account both the intensity of road-traffic and the actual road-map.

KEY WORDS

Perinatal care, spatial inequality, demography, France, health services

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J130, I140

- 1. Blondel, B., Drewniak, N., Pilkington, H., & Zeitlin, J. (2011). Out-of-hospital births and the supply of maternity units in France. *Health & Place*, *17*(5), 1170–1173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.06.002
- Combier, E., Charreire, H., Le Vaillant, M., Michaut, F., Ferdynus, C., Amat-Roze, J.-M., Gouyon, J.-B., Quantin, C., & Zeitlin, J. (2013). Perinatal health inequalities and accessibility of maternity services in a rural French region: Closing maternity units in Burgundy. Health & Place, 24, 225–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2013.09.006
- 3. Grytten, J., Monkerud, L., Skau, I., & Sørensen, R. (2014). Regionalization and Local Hospital Closure in Norwegian Maternity Care—The Effect on Neonatal and Infant

Parallel Sessions V, Stream A: Infant Health and Child Development

- Mortality. *Health Services Research*, 49(4), 1184–1204. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12153
- 4. Kildea, S., McGhie, A. C., Gao, Y., Rumbold, A., & Rolfe, M. (2015). Babies born before arrival to hospital and maternity unit closures in Queensland and Australia. *Women and Birth*, *28*(3), 236–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2015.03.003
- Pilkington, H., Blondel, B., Carayol, M., Breart, G., & Zeitlin, J. (2008). Impact of maternity unit closures on access to obstetrical care: The French experience between 1998 and 2003. Social Science & Medicine, 67(10), 1521–1529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.07.021
- Pilkington, H., Blondel, B., Drewniak, N., & Zeitlin, J. (2014). Where does distance matter? Distance to the closest maternity unit and risk of foetal and neonatal mortality in France. *European Journal of Public Health*, 24(6), 905–910. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckt207

Parallel Sessions V, Stream A: Infant Health and Child Development

COMMUNICATION BARRIERS AND INFANT HEALTH: INTERGENERATIONAL EFFECTS OF RANDOMLY ALLOCATING REFUGEES ACROSS LANGUAGE REGIONS

Daniel Auer¹

University of Mannheim and WZB WZB Berlin Social Science Center, Germany

Johannes Kunz²

Centre for Health Economics, Monash University, Monash City, Australia

MOTIVATION

Language proficiency is widely regarded as the most important component of immigrants' human capital for a successful participation in the host society. In this study, we demonstrate that an exogenous attribution of local communication skills affects child health at birth of the immigrants' children.

RESEARCH QUESTION

How do exogenously assigned communication skills to recent immigrants affect their children's health at birth?

METHODOLOGY

We leverage the refugee allocation policy in Switzerland, which randomly assigns newly arriving asylum seeker proportionally to one of the country's 26 cantons and, therewith, to one of three distinct language regions (German, French, Italian). The interaction of the refugee mother's country of origin language with the language at destination define the language match indicator that allows us to estimate the causal effect of a familiar language environment on the descendants' health.

RESULTS

Children born to mothers who were exogenously allocated to an environment that matched their heritage language are on average 72 grams (2.2%) heavier than those born to mothers who were allocated to an unfamiliar language environment. The

¹ E-mail address: daniel.auer@uni-mannheim.de

² E-mail address: johannes.kunz@monash.edu

differences are due to growth rather than gestation and manifest in a 2.9 percentage point difference in low birth weight incidence. We find substantial dose-responses in terms of language exposure in both the origin country and the destination region.

CONTRIBUTION

We provide causal evidence for the importance of language skills, where identification is inherently challenging due to the endogeneity of (language) skill. Our findings provide strong evidence that the intergenerational transmission of inequality already takes place during pregnancy, thereby highlighting the importance of early policy intervention to counter systematic disadvantages of vulnerable groups.

KEY WORDS

Infant health, language proficiency, refugee allocation, networks

JEL CLASSIFICATION

F22, I12, J13, J24, J61, J62

- 1. Ginsburgh, V., & Weber, S. (2020). The Economics of Language. *Journal of Economic* Literature, *58*(2), 348-404.
- Lazear, E. P. (1999). Culture and Language. *Journal of Political Economy*, 107(S6), S95-S126.
- 3. McCrary, J., & Royer, H. (2011). The Effect of Female Education on Fertility and Infant Health: Evidence from School Entry Policies Using Exact Date of Birth. *American Economic Review*, 101(1), 158-95.

THE IMPACT OF UNEMPLOYMENT FLOWS ON HEALTH: A PANEL EVENT STUDY

Athina Raftopoulou¹

Department of Economics, University of Patras, Patras, Greece

Nicholas Giannakopoulos²

Department of Economics, University of Patras, Patras, Greece

MOTIVATION

The relationship between unemployment and health has been examined extensively but the direction of this association has yet to be determined. Several cross-sectional studies report a negative correlation between health and unemployment (Urbanos-Garrido & Lopez-Valcarcel, 2015; Farre et al., 2018), while the empirical evidence drawn from longitudinal data conclude that the causal impact of unemployment on health cannot be established (Schmitz, 2011).

RESEARCH QUESTION

We aim to assess the relationship between unemployment and health outcomes (self-assessed health, chronic conditions and health limitations) in Greece during the period 2003-2020, covering diverse stages of the business cycle. The main objective of the paper is to identify whether a labor market shock (unemployment inflow) at the individual level causally affects health outcomes.

METHODOLOGY

Since the timing of the arrival of any labor market shock differs between individuals, the estimation of the causal impact of an unemployment shock on health becomes

¹ E-mail address: athraf@upatras.gr

² E-mail address: ngias@upatras.gr

Parallel Sessions V, Stream B: Health and Labour 2

challenging. We apply a panel event study approach that resolves the issue of the heterogeneous treatment effects over time since it allows for the unemployment events to occur at any point in time during the period of analysis.

RESULTS

According to our results the health outcomes of those individuals who enter unemployment, at any time during a course of 4-years, do not change their health status after this type of labor market shock. This finding is robust for the entire period under examination but also for a sub-period of rising unemployment rates. The same conclusions are reached when the heterogenous impact of this shock has been examined across gender, age, education and region.

CONTRIBUTION

Our contribution lies in the model specification that allows for a well-structured construction of unemployment inflows and eliminates selection bias towards causal inference (Böckerman & Ilmakunnas, 2009; Schmitz, 2011; Gebel & Voßemer, 2014).

KEY WORDS

Labor market flows, self-assessed health, Greece

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J01, J64, I10

- 1. Böckerman, P., & Ilmakunnas, P. (2009). Unemployment and self-assessed health: evidence from panel data. *Health Economics*, 18(2), 161–179.
- 2. Farré, L., Fasani, F., & Mueller, H. (2018). Feeling useless: the effect of unemployment on mental health in the Great Recession. *IZA Journal of Labor Economics*, 7(1), 1-34.
- 3. Gebel M., & Voßemer, J. (2014). The impact of employment transitions on health in Germany. A difference-in-differences propensity score matching approach. *Social Science & Medicine*, *108*, 128-136.
- 4. Schmitz, H. (2011). Why are the unemployed in worse health? the causal effect of unemployment on health. *Labor Economics*, *18*(1), 71-78.
- 5. Urbanos-Garrido, R. M., & Lopez-Valcarcel, B. G. (2015). The influence of the economic crisis on the association between unemployment and health: an empirical analysis for Spain. *European Journal of Health Economics*, 16(2), 175–184.

THE EFFECTS OF UNEMPLOYMENT ON HEALTH, HOSPITALIZATIONS, AND MORTALITY – EVIDENCE FROM ADMINISTRATIVE DATA

Matija Vodopivec¹

University of Primorska, Faculty of Management, Koper, Slovenia

Suzana Laporšek²

University of Primorska, Faculty of Management, Koper, Slovenia

Janez Stare³

University of Ljubljana, Department of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, Ljubljana, Slovenia

Milan Vodopivec4

University of Primorska, Faculty of Management, Koper, Slovenia IZA, Bonn, Germany

MOTIVATION

Linking health to employment history of entire Slovenian workforce, the paper employs three innovative features: it addresses the reverse causality by tracking only healthy individuals and relying on mass layoffs to provide an additional layer of exogeneity to unemployment; it uses data on drug prescriptions to infer information about the health status of individuals; and it treats the health effects of unemployment as part of a dose—response relationship.

RESEARCH QUESTION

We study how unemployment affects the hazard of cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and mental disorders, as well as of hospitalizations caused by these diseases, over a 15-year horizon. We also study how unemployment affects mortality due to the studied groups of diseases.

¹ E-mail address: matija.vodopivec@gmail.com

² E-mail address: suzana.laporsek@gmail.com

³ E-mail address: janez.stare@mf.uni-lj.si

⁴ E-mail address: milan.vodopivec@gmail.com

METHODOLOGY

Our empirical strategy of estimating the health effects of unemployment consists of estimating hazard rate models. In these models, we include exposure to various labor market states – in our case, unemployment being of key interest – in the preceding 15 years as the key explanatory variables (we include separate variables for exposure in the past 5 years, in the past 6–10 years, and in the past 11–15 years). We measure labor market exposure as share of time spent in a certain state.

RESULTS

The paper finds that, in comparison to employed persons with permanent contracts, persons experiencing unemployment face an increased hazard of all three studied groups of diseases – cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and mental disorders – as well as of hospitalizations caused by these diseases, over a 15-year horizon. The results also show that unemployment significantly increases the probability of death due to cardiovascular diseases and mental disorders, as well as death of any cause.

CONTRIBUTION

To our knowledge, our paper is the first one that uses drug prescription data to study the causal effects of unemployment on the health status of individuals. Such data allows us to track individuals over long periods, thus enabling the estimation of long-term effects. It also allows for a new, powerful way of controlling for reverse causality, particularly when combined with a standard approach in the literature using worker displacement as the source of unemployment.

KEY WORDS

Unemployment, mortality, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, mental disorders

JEL CLASSIFICATION

J64, I12, C23

Parallel Sessions V, Stream B: Health and Labour 2

- 1. Ardito, C., Leombruni, R., Mosca, M., Giraudo, M., & d'Errico, A. (2017). Scar on My Heart: Effects of Unemployment Experiences on Coronary Heart Disease. *International Journal of Manpower*, *38*(1), 62–92.
- 2. Black, S. E., Devereux, P. J., & Salvanes, K. G. (2015). Losing heart? The effect of job displacement on health. *ILR Review*, 68(4), 833-861.
- 3. Bloemen, H., Hochguertel, S., & Zweerink, J. (2018). Job loss, firm-level heterogeneity and mortality: Evidence from administrative data. *Journal of Health Economics*, *59*, 78-90.
- 4. Browning, M., & Heinesen, E. (2012). Effect of job loss due to plant closure on mortality and hospitalization. *Journal of health economics*, *31*(4), 599-616.
- 5. Browning, M., Moller Dano, A., & Heinesen, E. (2006). Job displacement and stress-related health outcomes. *Health economics*, *15*(10), 1061-1075.
- 6. Dackehag, M., Ellegård, L. M., Gerdtham, U. G., & Nilsson, T. (2020). Social assistance and mental health: evidence from longitudinal administrative data on pharmaceutical consumption. *Applied Economics*, *52*(20), 2165-2177.
- 7. d'Errico, A., Piccinelli, C., Sebastiani, G., Ricceri, F., Sciannameo, V., Demaria, M., ... & Costa, G. (2021). Unemployment and mortality in a large Italian cohort. *Journal of Public Health*, *43*(2), 361-369.
- 8. Eliason, M. (2011). Income after job loss: the role of the family and the welfare state. *Applied Economics*, *43*(5), 603-618.
- 9. Eliason, M., & Storrie, D. (2009a). Job loss is bad for your health—Swedish evidence on cause-specific hospitalization following involuntary job loss. *Social science & medicine*, *68*(8), 1396-1406.
- 10. Eliason, M., & Storrie, D. (2009b). Does job loss shorten life?. *Journal of Human Resources*, 44(2), 277-302.
- 11. Eliason, M., & Storrie, D. (2010). Inpatient psychiatric hospitalization following involuntary job loss. *International Journal of Mental Health*, *39*(2), 32-55.
- 12. Kuhn, A., Lalive, R., & Zweimüller, J. (2009). The public health costs of job loss. *Journal of health economics*, 28(6), 1099-1115.
- 13. Michaud, P. C., Crimmins, E. M., & Hurd, M. D. (2016). The effect of job loss on health: Evidence from biomarkers. *Labour economics*, *41*, 194-203.
- 14. Salm, M. (2009). Does job loss cause ill health?. Health Economics, 18(9), 1075-1089.
- 15. Schmitz, H. (2011). Why are the unemployed in worse health? The causal effect of unemployment on health. *Labour economics*, *18*(1), 71-78.
- 16. Sullivan, D., & Von Wachter, T. (2009). Job displacement and mortality: an analysis using administrative data. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 124(3), 1265-1306.

NURSES AS HUMAN VACCINATION REMINDERS

Jonas C. Hirani⁵

The Danish Center for Social Science Research, Denmark, Copenhagen

Miriam Wüst⁶

University of Copenhagen, Denmark

MOTIVATION

A large literature documents the importance of early childhood circumstances for later-life outcomes. While a growing part of this literature focuses on the importance of public policies and parental health investments, most existing empirical studies consider each in isolation. We still know little about the importance of the timing, sequence and interaction of public and private investments. Evidence on these interactions is instrumental for the design of policies aiming to support child development.

RESEARCH QUESTION

This paper contributes to the research agenda of understanding the ways in which public and private investments in child health interact. Specifically, we examine whether early-life public health policies impact private health behaviors, in our case parental uptake of infant vaccinations in Denmark.

METHODOLOGY

To study how nurse visits impact parental uptake of infant vaccinations, we need credibly exogenous variation in the exact timing of nurse visits. In the absence of random assignment, we focus on children from families, who have nurse visits in a relatively narrow time window: We compare the outcomes of children in a treated group of families, who receive a nurse visit in the two weeks leading up to the recommended age of a given vaccination, to the outcomes of children in a control group of families.

⁵ E-mail address: jjh@vive.dk

⁶ E-mail address: miriam.w@econ.ku.dk

RESULTS

Our results demonstrate that timely nurse visits have short run effects on parental vaccination uptake: Treated parents have a higher probability of timely uptake of the three and five months vaccinations compared to control parents. Examining the longer-run behavior of parents, who received a nurse visit prior to the first vaccination, we find that those parents also are more likely to adhere with future vaccinations in a timely manner.

CONTRIBUTION

Our paper makes three distinct contributions to the existing literature: First, we examine how public policies impact parental health behaviors by focusing on the causal impact of the timing of nurse visits on parental decisions about uptake of vaccinations. Second, by providing evidence from a universal public health intervention, we complement research on targeted programs. Third, we contribute to an established literature on the determinants of vaccination uptake.

KEY WORDS

Vaccination adherence, health behavior, nurse home visiting, event study, Denmark, administrative data

JEL CLASSIFICATION

11

- 1. Abrevaya, J., & Mulligan, K. (2011). Effectiveness of state-level vaccination mandates: evidence from the varicella vaccine. *Journal of health economics*, *30*(5), 966–976.
- 2. Almond, D., Currie, J., & Duque, V. (2018). Childhood circumstances and adult outcomes: Act ii. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *56*(4), 1360–1446.
- 3. Baskin, E. (2018). Increasing influenza vaccination rates via low cost messaging interventions. *PloS One*, *13*(2), 1–9.
- 4. Biroli, P., Boneva, T., Raja, A., & Rauh, C. (2020). Parental beliefs about returns to child health investments. Journal of Econometrics. *29*.
- 5. Brilli, Y., Lucifora, C., Russo, A., & Tonello, M. (2020). Vaccination take-up and health: Evidence from a flu vaccination program for the elderly. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, *179*, 323–341.

Parallel Sessions V, Stream B: Health and Labour 2

- 6. Bronchetti, E. T., Huffman, D. B., & Magenheim, E. (2015). Attention, intentions, and follow-through in preventive health behavior: Field experimental evidence on flu vaccination. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 116, 270–291.
- 7. Chang, L. V. (2018). Information, education, and health behaviors: Evidence from the mmr vaccine autism controversy. *Health Economics*, *27*(7), 1043–1062.
- 8. Currie, J., & Almond, D. (2011). Human capital development before age five. In Handbook of labor economics, Volume 4, 1315–1486.
- 9. Fadlon, I., & Nielsen, T. H. (2019). Family health behaviors. *American Economic Review*, 109(9), 3162–91.
- 10. Geoffard, P.Y., & T. Philipson (1997). Disease eradication: Private versus public vaccination. *American Economic Review*, *87*(1), 222–230.
- 11. Hansen, P. R., & Schmidtblaicher, M. (2019). A dynamic model of vaccine compliance: How fake news undermined the danish hpv vaccine program. *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics*, *0*(0), 1–21.
- 12. Hirani, J. L.J. (2021). Inattention or reluctance? parental responses to vaccination reminder letters. *Journal of Health Economics*, *76*, 102439.
- 13. Oster, E. (2018). Does disease cause vaccination? Disease outbreaks and vaccination response. *Journal of Health Economics*, *57*, 90–101.
- 14. Philipson, T. (1996). Private vaccination and public health: An empirical examination for us measles. *Journal of Human Resources*, *31*(3), 611–630.
- 15. Sadaf, A., Richards, J. L., Glanz, J., Salmon, D. A., & Omer, S. B. (2013). A systematic review of interventions for reducing parental vaccine refusal and vaccine hesitancy. *Vaccine*, *31*(40), 4293–4304.
- 16. Tickner, S., Leman, P. J., & Woodcock, A. (2006). Factors underlying suboptimal childhood immunisation. *Vaccine*, *24*(49-50), 7030–7036.

OFFICE VISITS PREVENTING EMERGENCY ROOM VISITS: EVIDENCE FROM THE FLINT WATER SWITCH

Shooshan Danagoulian¹

Wayne State University, Detroit, U.S.A.

Daniel Grossman²

West Virginia University, Morgantown, U.S.A.

David Slusky³

University of Kansas, Lawrence, U.S.A.

MOTIVATION

Emergency departments (ED) are an expensive alternative to primary care. For those who lack access to primary care, however, they are often the only option (Grumbach et al., 1993). While expanded access to Medicaid (the U.S. government health insurance for the poor) increases ED usage (Taubman et al., 2014; Nikpay et al., 2017), no study has been able to isolate the causal link between increased primary care and ED usage for those who are already eligible for Medicaid.

RESEARCH QUESTION

In September 2015, Flint issued a lead advisory, alerting residents of increased lead levels in drinking water from the switch in water source from Lake Huron to the Flint River. We treat this advisory and the accompanying national news as an information shock. We establish whether knowledge of the problems affected healthcare receipt. We then examine whether a change in primary care use causes a reduction in ED visits, including those that are treatable or preventable with primary care.

METHODOLOGY

Through an agreement with the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, we link vital records for all children born in Michigan in 2013–2015 with

¹ E-mail address: fr4523@wayne.edu

² E-mail address: daniel.grossman@mail.wvu.edu

³ E-mail address: david.slusky@ku.edu

Parallel Sessions V, Stream B: Health and Labour 2

Medicaid claims files. We classify all claims for care provided in the ED using the New York University Emergency Department visit severity algorithm (Billings et al. 2000). This research allows us to track the use of medical services by children born in Flint and compare them to similarly aged children born elsewhere in Michigan.

RESULTS

We find that the advisory increased lead tests by 49%, increased office visits immediately, and reduced preventable, non-emergent, and primary-care-treatable ED visits per 1000 eligible children by 8.3%. Comparing the office visit and avoidable ED visits across several common conditions, we see a negative linear relationship between the two, with a greater increase in the share of children having any office visits causing a greater reduction in avoidable ED visits per capita.

CONTRIBUTION

Local fiscal policy matters and decisions about water supply have far reaching consequences. Proper testing, public comment periods, elected local control, and transparency in testing all play substantial roles in the population health of communities. Second, primary care is important and is underutilized, even for those on Medicaid. Policies that further encourage parents to ensure that their children are up-to-date on their well visits could help keep those children out of the ED.

KEY WORDS

Medicaid, lead, environmental regulation, emergency

JEL CLASSIFICATION

H75, I12, I18, J13, Q53, Q58

- 1. Billings, J., Parikh, N., & Mijanovish, T. (2000). Emergency Room Use: The New York Story. *The Commonwealth Fund Issue Brief*, 1–11.
- 2. Grumbach, K., Keane, D., & Bindman, A. (1993). Primary Care and Public Emergency Department Overcrowding. *American Journal of Public Health*, *83*(3), 372–378.
- Nikpay, S., Freedman, S., Levy, H., & Buchmueller, T. (2017). Effect of the Affordable Care Act Medicaid Expansion on Emergency Department Visits: Evidence from State-Level Emergency Department Databases. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 70(2), 215– 225.

Parallel Sessions V, Stream B: Health and Labour 2

4. Taubman, S. L., Allen, H. L., Wright, B. J., Baicker, K., & Finkelstein, A.N. (2014). Medicaid Increases Emergency-Department Use: Evidence from Oregon's Health Insurance Experiment. *Science*, *343*(6186), 263–268.

Stream C: Health and Inequality in the Western Balkans

PROBLEM GAMBLING AND TYPE OF GAMBLING IN SERBIA: THE ROLE OF DEMOGRAPHIC AND PSYCHOSOCIAL FACTORS

Biljana Kilibarda¹

Institute of Public Health of Serbia Dr Milan Jovanović Batut, Belgrade, Serbia

Boban Nedeljković²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Jovan Zubović³

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

Problem gambling has been recognized worldwide as an emergent public health issue. Previous studies have shown that problem gambling is associated with psychological, social and financial consequences, which are not only restricted to the individuals, but also extend to their families and the community as a whole.

RESEARCH QUESTION

Although many studies were conducted on the prevalence of problematic gambling, there is a lack of research focused on the role of demographic and psychosocial factors in explaining the risk for potentially harmful gambling. Besides, specific types of gambling (such as lottery, sports betting, casino games, slot machines) haven't received enough attention, despite the well-known differences in their addictive potential. Therefore, our aim was to explore the role of

¹ E-mail address: kilibarda b@batut.org.rs

² E-mail address: boban.nedeljkovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ E-mail address: jovan.zubovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

demographic and psychosocial factors in predicting both the problem gambling and the lifetime participation in specific type of gambling.

METHODOLOGY

We used the data from two cross-sectional designed national surveys on lifestyles in Serbia adult population conducted in 2014 (N=5385) and 2018 (N=2000). The questionnaire used, developed on the basis of the EMCDDA European Model Questionnaire, consisted of 158 items related to socio-demographic variables, gambling (Lie/Bet screen; type of gambling), tobacco and illicit drugs use, alcohol issues (RAPS) and psychological distress (Kessler-6). Logistic regression was used in the analyses.

RESULTS

The results showed that male sex, any drug lifetime use, risky drinking, unemployment and smoking $40 \ge \text{cigarettes}$ per day are predictors of problem gambling, where the highest contributor is drug use. Lottery playing is best predicted for persons of age 45 to 54, high school education and mild to moderate level of distress. Being male, younger than 55, not married, high school educated with poor material status, mild to moderate level of distress, risky alcohol use and the use of any drug is a predictor of sports betting. Male sex, age 25 to 34, mild to moderate level of distress, smoking $40 \ge \text{cigarettes}$ per day and the use of any drug are predictors of lifetime participation in casino games. Similarly, being male, aged 25 to 44, with the lifetime use of any drug is predictive of participation in slot machines.

CONTRIBUTION

The most prominent finding is that lifetime use of any drug is a consistent predictor of problem gambling and the lifetime participation in casino games and slot machines. Even though the results are not pointing to the direction of influence, they provide a valuable insight on relation between public health concerns and thus can be seen as the input for development of evidence-based policies. The future studies should include longitudinal design in order to clarify the pathways of influence.

KEY WORDS

Problem gambling, casino games, slot machines, drug use

JEL CLASSIFICATION

I12, J10

- Christensen, D. R., Dowling, N. A., Jackson, A. C., & Thomas, S. A. (2015). Gambling participation and problem gambling severity in a stratified random survey: Findings from the second social and economic impact study of gambling in Tasmania. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 31(4), 1317-1335.
- 2. Håkansson, A., Kostevski, A., & Ekblad, S. (2019). Gambling habits, gambling norms, and problem gambling in foreign born and native populations in Denmark—A general population survey. *Addictive behaviors reports*, *9*, 100183.
- 3. Howe, P. D., Vargas-Sáenz, A., Hulbert, C. A., & Boldero, J. M. (2019). Predictors of gambling and problem gambling in Victoria, Australia. *PloS one*, *14*(1), e0209277.
- 4. Kim, H. S., Salmon, M., Wohl, M. J., & Young, M. (2016). A dangerous cocktail: Alcohol consumption increases suicidal ideations among problem gamblers in the general population. *Addictive behaviors*, *55*, 50-55.
- 5. Mazar, A., Williams, R. J., Stanek, E. J., Zorn, M., & Volberg, R. A. (2018). The importance of friends and family to recreational gambling, at-risk gambling, and problem gambling. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 1-14.
- 6. Scalese, M., Bastiani, L., Salvadori, S., Gori, M., Lewis, I., Jarre, P., & Molinaro, S. (2016). Association of problem gambling with type of gambling among Italian general population. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *32*(3), 1017-1026.
- 7. Scholes-Balog, K. E., Hemphill, S. A., Toumbourou, J. W., & Dowling, N. A. (2015). Problem gambling and internalising symptoms: A longitudinal analysis of common and specific social environmental protective factors. *Addictive Behaviors*, *46*, 86-93.
- 8. Terzic-Supic, Z., Jelic, M., Santric-Milicevic, M., Kilibarda, B., Mirkovic, M., Bankovic-Lazarevic, D., & Todorovic, J. (2019). National survey on lifestyles and gambling in Serbia: Gambling participation and problem gambling in adult population. *International Gambling Studies*, 19(2), 265-281.
- 9. Wardle, H., Reith, G., Langham, E., & Rogers, R. D. (2019). Gambling and public health: we need policy action to prevent harm. *BMJ*, 365.
- 10. Welte, J. W., Barnes, G. M., Tidwell, M. C. O., & Hoffman, J. H. (2011). Gambling and problem gambling across the lifespan. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *27*(1), 49-61.
- 11. Welte, J. W., Barnes, G. M., Tidwell, M. C. O., & Hoffman, J. H. (2009). Association between problem gambling and conduct disorder in a national survey of adolescents and young adults in the United States. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 45(4), 396-401.
- 12. Williams, R. J., Hann, R. G., Schopflocher, D. P., West, B. L., McLaughlin, P., White, N., King. K., & Flexhaug, T. (2015). *Quinte longitudinal study of gambling and problem gambling*. Ontario Problem Gambling Research Centre.

HOW DO PRICES OF MANUFACTURED CIGARETTES AND ROLL-YOUR-OWN TOBACCO AFFECT DEMAND FOR THESE PRODUCTS? TOBACCO PRICE ELASTICITY IN WESTERN BALKAN COUNTRIES

Marko Vladisavljević4

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Mihajlo Djukić⁵

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Olivera Jovanović⁶

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Jovan Zubović⁷

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

Western Balkan (WB) region is characterised by high levels of tobacco consumption if compared to the EU (EC, 2021). High tobacco prevalence, which ranges from 32 percent in Albania to 46 percent in Kosovo (Zubovic, Vladisavljevic, et al., 2019), imposes significant economic and health burden for the WB societies. This research analyses tobacco price elasticity in six WB countries aiming to provide arguments for developing more effective taxation policies in the region which could result in lower demand for tobacco products.

RESEARCH QUESTION

Research aims to estimate price elasticities of the two most frequently used tobacco products in the WB countries - manufactured cigarettes (MC) and roll-your-own (RYO) tobacco. Additionally, it examines cross-price elasticities trying to detect

⁴ E-mail address: marko.vladisavljevic@ien.bg.ac.rs

⁵ E-mail address: mihajlo.djukic@ien.bg.ac.rs

⁶ E-mail address: olivera.jovanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

⁷ E-mail address: jovan.zubovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

whether higher prices of MC results in lower consumption of RYO and vice versa (Huang et al., 2018; US NCI, 2016; Kostova et al., 2010).

METHODOLOGY

We estimated own and cross- price elasticities of MC and roll RYO tobacco by using the methodological framework of the two-part model (Belotti et al. 2015; Manning et al. 1998; Mullahy et al. 2001), regional variation in prices, and 2019 Survey on Tobacco Consumption (STC-SEE) in SEE countries. STC-SEE data provide a nationally representative sample of adults (18-85 years old) for each country. The sample size was 7,000 respondents in total (2,000 respondents were interviewed in Serbia and 1,000 per each of 5 other countries).

RESULTS

Results suggest that higher prices of MC are associated with lower prevalence of MC use, while higher prices of RYO are associated with lower intensity of RYO use. Furthermore, regions with higher MC prices have a higher likelihood of using RYO over MC, suggesting that RYO is used as a cheaper alternative to MC. Lower smoking prevalence and intensity are associated with more smoking restrictions and support for tobacco price increases.

CONTRIBUTION

This research is the first to analyse cross-price elasticity of the two most frequently used tobacco products in the WB – MC and RYO. It confirms that the main reason behind high tobacco prevalence refers to inadequate taxation policy. Aiming to decrease smoking prevalence and intensity, governments should increase excises on tobacco products, taking into account that excise increases are harmonized in order to avoid risks of downward substitution.

KEY WORDS

Tobacco, price elasticity, prevalence, taxation, Western Balkan

JEL CLASSIFICATION

118, P36, H21

- 1. Belotti, F., Deb, P., Manning, W. G., & Norton, E. C. (2015). twopm: Two-part models. *The Stata Journal*, 15(1), 3-20.
- European Commission (EC), Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety (DG SANTE), Smoking prevalence by sex, % of population aged 15 or over, 2021. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/SDG_03_30/default/table; Accessed at: July 21, 2021.
- 3. Huang, J., Gwarnicki, C., Xu, X., Caraballo, R. S., Wada, R., & Chaloupka, F. J. (2018). A comprehensive examination of own-and cross-price elasticities of tobacco and nicotine replacement products in the US. *Preventive medicine*, *117*, 107-114.
- 4. Kostova, D., Ross, H., Blecher, E., & Markowitz, S. (2010). Prices and cigarette demand: evidence from youth tobacco use in developing countries (No. w15781). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- 5. Manning, W. G., & J. Mullahy. (2001). Estimating Log Models: To Transform or Not to Transform?. *Journal of Health Economics*, 20(4), 461–494.
- 6. Mullahy, J. (1998). Much ado about two: reconsidering retransformation and the two-part model in health econometrics. *Journal of health economics*, 17(3), 247-281.
- 7. U.S. National Cancer Institute and World Health Organization. (2016). The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control. National Cancer Institute Tobacco Control Monograph 21. NIH Publication No. 16-CA-8029A. Bethesda, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute; and Geneva, CH: World Health Organization.
- 8. Zubovic J., & Vladisavljevic, M. (eds.). (2014). Impacts of Tobacco Excise Increases on Cigarette Consumption and Government Revenues in Southeastern European Countries. Regional study. Research and policy report, Institute of Economic Sciences. Available at: http://tobaccotaxation.org/cms_upload/pages/files/Regional-report-2019.pdf; Accessed at: July 21, 2021

CITIES IN THE PROCESS OF CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION: EVIDENCE FROM SERBIA

Dejan Molnar8

University of Belgrade – Faculty of Economics, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

Cities are a key player in the fight against climate change. About half of the world's population now lives in cities and it is expected that the share of the urban population in the total will become even higher in the future, and that by 2030 it will reach about 2/3. Everyday life and functioning of the city imply the use of a large amount of energy. As a result, cities emit approximately 70% of a country's greenhouse gas (GHG).

RESEARCH QUESTION

The growing importance that cities are gaining in the process of climate change mitigation is a consequence of the fact that cities are more flexible and practical than nation states. Cities have transformed from a "passive implementer" to an "active co-decision maker" in the context of climate change management at EU level. The aim of this research is to examine the presence of public policies in Serbian cities in the field of climate change mitigation.

METHODOLOGY

The Index of local climate protection (ILCP) was used to assess the prevalence of measures to combat climate change in local public policies in Serbian cities. Index examines the extent to which city administrations are engaged in 5 key areas for climate change mitigation. The questionnaire sent to the cities' administrations, with which we obtained the necessary information, contains a total of 38 questions. Based on the obtained answers, the value of ILCP for Serbia in 2021 was calculated.

_

⁸ E-mail address: dejan.molnar@ekof.bg.ac.rs

RESULTS

Based on the results from the questionnaire, it was concluded that ILCP in Serbia is very low, i.e., that at the local (city) level in Serbia, measures to mitigate climate change are poorly represented. Weak use was identified in all 5 analyzed dimensions: implementation and evaluation of local climate protection activities, energy consumption in the domain of local government, urban planning and private real estate, city traffic and transport and "soft" management regimes.

CONTRIBUTION

The main contribution of the paper is that, to our knowledge, for the first time, measures for climate change mitigation at the level of cities in Serbia are comprehensively and systematically analyzed. The obtained results represent a good basis for further research in this area, but also a guideline for policy makers at the city level, in order to focus their future efforts in those areas where there is the greatest room for progress in combating with climate change challenges.

KEY WORDS

Climate change, cities, energy efficiency, GHG, Serbia

JEL CLASSIFICATION

P28, Q54, Q58, R11

- 1. Allam, Z., Jones, D., & Thondoo, M. (2020). *Cities and climate change: Climate policy, economic resilience and urban sustainability*. Springer Nature.
- 2. Alvarez-Risco, A., Del-Aguila-Arcentales, S., & Rosen, M. A. (2020). Climate Change and Cities. In *Building Sustainable Cities* (pp. 231-248). Springer, Cham.
- 3. https://www.c40.org/ (access: 20.03.2021.).
- 4. https://www.climatesummitlocalleaders.paris/ (access: 20.03.2021.).
- 5. Johnson, C. A. (2017). *The power of cities in global climate politics: Saviours, supplicants or agents of change?*. Springer.
- Kemmerzell, J. (2018). Innovations in European climate governance and their impact on local climate policy: An analysis of German major cities. In *Climate Change in Cities* (pp. 39-57). Springer, Cham.

- 7. Kern, K., & Mol, A. P. (2013). 12. Cities and Global Climate Governance: From Passive Implementers to Active Co-Decision-Makers. In *The Quest for Security* (pp. 288-306). Columbia University Press.
- 8. Kern, K., & Bulkeley, H. (2009). Cities, Europeanization and multi-level governance: governing climate change through transnational municipal networks. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 47(2), 309-332.
- 9. Khare, A., & Beckman, T. (Eds.). (2013). *Mitigating climate change: the emerging face of modern cities*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- 10. Lenhart, J., Bouteligier, S., Mol, A. P., & Kern, K. (2014). Cities as learning organisations in climate policy: the case of Malmö. *International Journal of Urban Sustainable Development*, *6*(1), 89-106.
- 11. Lin, J. (2018). *Governing climate change: global cities and transnational lawmaking*. Cambridge University Press.
- 12. UN-Habitat. (2011). Cities and Climate Change. London: Earthscan.
- 13. UN-Habitat. (2016). *Urbanization and Development: Emerging Futures: World Cities Report 2016*. Nairobi: United Nations.
- 14. Vračarević, B. (2019). Održivi urbani razvoj i determinante potrošnje energije u saobraćaju gradova: teorijsko empirijska analiza (doctoral dissertation).
- 15. World Meteorological Organization, https://public.wmo.int/en/ourmandate/climate/cop25 (access: 18.03.2021.).

ANALYSIS OF THE CORRELATION BETWEEN INEQUALITY AND HEALTH: THE SPIRIT LEVEL IN POST-SOCIALIST SERBIA?

Giulia Russo¹

University of Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Dejana Pavlović²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

MOTIVATION

Income and wealth inequality is a challenge that will be faced throughout the course of XXI century (Milanovic 2019). Paper seeks to investigate correlations in increased income inequality and decreases in the standard of living in Serbia, in a transitional and post-socialist economy.

Following Wilkinson and Pickett (2010), paper aims at filling a gap in the current literature regarding the lack of empirical studies that address the impact of inequality on health and social problems in middle-income economy countries (World Development Indicators)³. Countries in the category of Medium Income were systematically excluded in Wilkinson and Pickett (2010) analysis due to relationship between life expectancy and differences in Gross National Income per head (GNIpc). Thanks to normalised indicators, the aim of this paper is to provide an argument in favour of this claim thanks to the case-study of Serbia.

RESEARCH QUESTION

The research will primarily deal with the largely-accepted thesis that the deeper is the social class gradient of health and social problems, the more strongly they are related to inequality.

In an attempt to answer to the following Research Questions:

¹ E-mail address: giuliarusso1995@gmail.com

² E-mail address: dejana.pavlovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ World Bank Country and Lending Groups – World Bank Data Help Desk. (2021). The World Bank. https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-country-and-lending-groups. (Last access: 22/07/2021).

RQ (1): To what extent may a correlation between rising income inequality and health and social problems be identified in post-socialist and transitional Serbia?

RQ (2): Which suggestions may be drawn from the implementation of Wilkinson and Pickett's analysis of the Spirit Level in a middle-income economy?

METHODOLOGY

Applying a comparative approach, an Index of Health and Social Problems for Serbia will be constructed, based on several indicators that aim to point the overall wellness of Serbian society. We use normalised and log-transformed indicators to construct the Index, with internationally comparable data. Measures are provided by official agencies rather than by our owns' calculations, in order to be consistent with Wilkinson and Pickett's method (2010).

The final list of indicators includes health problems such as: Life Expectancy at Birth; Infant-Mortality Rate (per 1,000 Life Births); Prevalence of Obesity (%) and Teenage Mothers Rate (%) (World Bank, 2020). In addition, some social problems will be taken into account, namely: Mean Trust Level Rate (Eurobarometer, 2021; European Bank of Reconstruction and Development, 2016); Average Children Educational Performance (OECD, 2018); Intentional Homicides (per 100,000 People) (World Bank, 2020); Incarceration Rate (Per 100,000 Inhabitants) (Statista, 2021); and finally, the Social Mobility Index (World Economic Forum, 2020). 4

The so-designed index will be analysed in comparison with income inequality in order to detect any linear correlations thereof in relation to The Spirit Level (2010).

RESULTS

The research shows consistent results to Wilkinson and Pickett's (2010) analysis and that greater equality is beneficial at level of Medium Income, too.

In particular, the paper provides an argument in favour of claiming the existence of a deep social gradient for health and social problems within a middle-income society and in favour of a positive correlation with income and wealth inequality.

⁴ Compared to the original Wilkinson and Pickett's analysis (2010), one indicator only will be excluded from the construction of the Index, namely: Mental Illness Rate (%) due to the impossibility to have reliable data for Serbia (WHO, 2017).

ORIGINALITY VALUE

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first paper that presents that there is a relationship between inequality and rising health and social issues for the abovementioned group of countries (namely, middle-income economies).

CONTRIBUTION

Given that Serbian income and wealth inequality has been constantly rising since its shift to a free-market economy, this paper aims to contribute to examining how wealth and income inequality may lead to further social inequality and inequality in health outcomes.

Another contribution appears in terms of originality: the analysis of The Spirit Level (2010) applies to industrialised and rich countries, while transitional, developing and post-socialist societies are rarely addressed from this perspective.

KEY WORDS

Social and health issues, income inequality, welfare, well-being, Serbia

JEL CLASSIFICATION

D63, I14, I31

- Arandarenko, M., Krstić, G., & ŽArković Rakić, J. (2017, November). Executive Summary: Analysing Income Inequality in Serbia. From Data to Policy. Friedrich Ebert Stiftung Belgrade.
- Bartlett, W. (2009). Economic development in the European super-periphery: Evidence from the Western Balkans. *Ekonomski Anali*, 54(181), 21–44. https://doi.org/10.2298/eka0981021b
- 3. Bogićević, B., Krstić, G., Mijatović, B., & Milanović, B. (2003). *Poverty and Reform of Financial Support to the Poor*. Belgrade, Serbia: Center for Liberal-Democratic Studies and Ministry of Social Affairs of the Republic of Serbia.
- 4. Center for Social Policy. (2018, August). Human Development Paper on Income Inequality in the Republic of Serbia: Reduced inequality as part of the SDG agenda. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) Serbia Office.
- 5. Friedrich Ebert Stiftung. (2018, May). *Inequality in South-East Europe*. Dialogue Southeast Europe.
- 6. Ivančev, O., Jovičić, M., & Milojević, T. (2010). *Income Inequality and Social Policy in Serbia*. Working Papers, 86, The Wiiw Balkan Observatory.

- 7. Jakovljevic, M., Groot, W., & Souliotis, K. (2016). Editorial: Health Care Financing and Affordability in the Emerging Global Markets. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00002
- 8. Milanovic, B. (2019). *Capitalism, Alone: The Future of the System That Rules the World*. Belknap Press: An Imprint of Harvard University Press.
- 9. Muntaner, C., Rai, N., Ng, E., & Chung, H. (2012). Social Class, Politics, and the Spirit Level: Why Income Inequality Remains Unexplained and Unsolved. *International Journal of Health Services*, 42(3), 369–381. https://doi.org/10.2190/hs.42.3.a
- 10. Piketty, T., & Goldhammer, A. (2017). *Capital in the Twenty-First Century* (Reprint ed.). Belknap Press: An Imprint of Harvard University Press.
- 11. Piketty, T., & Goldhammer, A. (2020). *Capital and Ideology*. Belknap Press: An Imprint of Harvard University Press.
- 12. Savage, M. (2021). *The Return of Inequality: Social Change and the Weight of the Past.* Harvard University Press.
- 13. Stiglitz, J. E. (2013). *The Price of Inequality: How Today's Divided Society Endangers Our Future* (Reprint ed.). W. W. Norton & Company.
- 14. Wilkinson, R., & Pickett, K. (2011). *The Spirit Level: Why Greater Equality Makes Societies Stronger* (Revised, Updated ed.). Bloomsbury Publishing.
- 15. World Bank Country and Lending Groups World Bank Data Help Desk. (2021). The World Bank. https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-country-and-lending-groups.
- 16. WHO. (2017). Mental Health Atlas 2017. World Health Organisation.
- 17. Zarkovic-Rakic, J., Krstic, G., Oruc, N., & Bartlett, W. (2019). Income inequality in transition economies: A comparative analysis of Croatia, Serbia and Slovenia. *Ekonomski Anali*, 64(223), 39–60. https://doi.org/10.2298/eka1923039z

СІР - Каталогизација у публикацији Народна библиотека Србије, Београд

331.5(048) 37(048) 614(048) 364.658(048)

INTERNATIONAL scientific conference Applied economics conference: labour, health, education and welfare (2021; Beograd)

Book of abstracts / International scientific conference Applied economics conference: labour, health, education and welfare, october 28-29, 2021 Belgrade; editors Lara Lebedinski, Dejana Pavlović, Sunčica Vujić. - Beograd: Institute of economic sciences, 2021 (Beograd: Donat graf). - 178 str.; 24 cm

Tiraž 80.

ISBN 978-86-89465-59-4

а) Тржиште рада -- Апстракти б) Образовање -- Апстракти в) Здравство -- Апстракти г) Благостање -- Апстракти

COBISS.SR-ID 49069577





